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DEDICATORY LETTER
\ TO
SIR DONALD A. SMITH, K.C.M.G,

Governor of The Hudson’s Bay Company,

Ete., Ete., Ete.

Sir,—I well remember the deep anxiety and dread which
pervaded all classes in the Red River Settlement prior to your
arrival at Fort Garry, in December, 1869, as Special Com-
missioner from Canada. I also have a very distinet recollec-
tion of the feeling of relief experienced by the community
when it was learned that you had come with full authority to

bring about a settlement of the misunderstanding then exist-

ing between the people of the country and the government of ,

the Dominion.

The following pages will show that yours was no easy task,
and, but for the skill and judgment displayed by you at that
trying time, the hopes raised in our breasts of a speedy ending
to our terrible suspense would not ],,,(..'M}N.‘.n realized. To

you more than anyone else the ])ny:{niun is indebted for a

peaceful solution of the questions thén agitating the minds of

the people in the North-West, and the wise and soothing in-
fluence exercised by you in bringing together, and uniting the
various contending parties in the settlement, is due the fact
that bloodshed was avoided, and the horrors of an Indian war
averted. Only those who were on the spot and knew the

difficulties you had to contend against can realize the herculean
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task you were entrusted with, or the great service rendered to

Canada at that time.

From the dayswhen, through your advice and co-operation,,

a convention of all the various conflicting parties was brought
about, and a bill of rights framed for presentation to the
Dominion Government, the North-West gradually assumed a
peaceful attitude, until by the passing of the Manitoba Act all

cause for discontent or discord was removed.

The march of civilization in the North-West then began, and
to-day, instead of being a vast hunting ground and wilderness,
it is the home of thousands of thrifty settlers, and with its
great transcontinental railway from ocean to ocean, places
Canada in the proud position of being one of the brightest
jewels in the British Crown.

I look upon the successful carrying out of your very impor-
tant mission to the North-West in 1869 and 1870 as the
turning point in the history of the Dominion, because from it
sprang all the subsequent vast undertakings which to-day
place Canada in the foremost rank as one of the most impor-
tant links in the chain (i»fs Imperial unity. And in these un-
dertakings I may say, without detracting frgm the value of
their services, that without your aid and cgunsel your truly
eminent colleagues would have found it/ difficult if not im-

possible to accomplish what has been dofie.

The Dominion as a whole, and the North-West in particular,

owe much to you, and in the furtherance of science, art, liter-

"ature, and in the alleviation of the sufferings of mankind, your
hand, as the hand of the benefactor, is seen in many places.
For my own part, undeserving though I be, you have been to

me always kind and considerate.
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I wish, then, as an <}{P\Q-nhlu token of my great respect for you

and the deep gratitude I feel for all your goodness to me and

mine, to'dedicate to you my work, whigh I fear is but a poor

attempt to chronicle events relating to so great a country:.
I remain, Sir,
Your obedient servant,

ALEXANDER BEGG.
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HISTORY OF THE NORTH-WEST.

PRE-COLUMBIAN DISCOVERIES.,

-

A History of the North-West would be incomplete if it

did not contain an account of the early discoveries in North

America. \'ari{)us nations claim the right to be considered as

discoverers prim\*m' the time of Columbus, but the historical
evidence in most cases is based on documentary proofs of
a disputable character, and the details are not so precise as
to be convincing. Priority in the discovery of America is
claimed by the Basques, the Normans, the Welsh, the Irish,
the Scandinavians, and among the races of eastern Asia, the
Siberian, Tartar, Chinese, Japanese and Malay:.

According to the Icelandic historian, the discovery and set-
tlement of Iceland led to the opening of America to Europe,
The distance to the eastern shore of Gréenland is only forty-
five mgiles, and it is not surprising to hear that some of the
ships when sailing to Iceland, and driven out of their course
by storins, caught sight of the coast of Greenland, although
it was long after this that Erik the Red landed on its shores,
The consistent and natural proof of any occupation of Amer-
ica by the Norsemen, south of Davis Straits, is certainly lack-
ing, but there is ‘beyond this what is perhaps, after all, the

.




14 HISTORY OF THE NORTH-WEST.

most satisfactory way of solving the problem—a dependence
on the geographical and ethnical probabilities of the case.
The Norsemen have passed into credible history . as the most
hardy and ventursome of races. Thair colonization of Ice-
land and Greenland is indisputable, and it is hardly couceiv-
able that they should have stopped short at this point. There
was not a long stretch of open sea between Greenland and

Labrador, a voyage for which their ships and crews were not

Lo . \J .
unfitted, and it is, therefore not unlikely that some vessels

may have been blown westerly out of their course in the
same way as Greeniand was first discovered, and the main-
land coast once found, to follow it to the south would have
been the most consistent action on the part of the discoverers,
The weight of probability is therefore in favor of the Norse-
man descent upon the coast of the mainland somewhere to
the south of Greenland, but the evidence cannot be classed as
well established historical records.

[t is more than probable that succBssive emigrations took
place from eastern Asia to the American shores centuries be-
fore the Columbian discoveries, and there is hardly a stronger
demonstration of such a connection than the physical resem-
blances of the peoples now living on opposite sides of the
Pacific Ocean in the upper latitudes. It is quite conceivable
that the great northern current setting east athwart the
Pacific should have carried vessels to the shores of California.
and further north. It is certainly possible that in this way
the Chinese or Japanese may have helped I;()I)lll&tc the west-
ern slopes of the American continent.

The probabilities being then in favor of the Pre-Columbian
discoveries, it will be well to take a glance at them in chrono-

logical order. As far back as 340 B.C. we find it claimed
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PRE-COLUMBIAN DISCOVERIES,

that Pythias, the Greek philosopher, discovered Iceland, but
theresgeems to be no record or note of any further discovery
until the sixth century, when King Arthur is said to have
sailed for that northern land. In the Saga of Thorfin Karl-
sefne, a portion of America, including that part which is now
known as North and South Carolina, Georgia, and East
Florida, is called “Irland edh Mykla,” that is, “Great Ire-
land,” which arose, it is said, from the land being colonized
by the Irish, probably in the year A.D. 800.

In the year 795 it is claimed that a number of Irish priests
visited Iceland and formed a settlement there, for in 875,
when Ingolf, a jarl, of Norway, went there with Norse settlers,
they found the Irish in possession. The latter, however,
refused to consort with the newecomers, and the result was
that the Irish finally abandoned the country to the settlers
from Norway. Previous to Ingolf’s visit, the celebrated
Norse viking Naddod, in 860 discovered Iceland, naming
it Snowland, and in 864 he was followed by Gardar, of
Swedish extraction, who named the land “Gardar’s Holm.”
In 870 it was visited by two Norsemen, Ingolfr and Leif
(Hjoerleifr), by whom it was called Iceland, which name it has
retained ever since, and from this time there were successive

emigrations of Norse, until, within half a centary, a little

republic of nearly seventy thousand inhabitants was establish-

ed. In 876 a sea-rover named Gambiorn, while making for
Iceland, was driven in his ship out of his course in a westerly
direction and sighted a strange land, but his reported discov:
ery remained unconfirmed for over one hundred years, until
“Erik the Red,” in 984, sailed for the new land and found it.
It appears that Erik was of a lawless character, and having

to flee from Norway for killing a man in a brawl, he took
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refuge in Iceland, where, on again outraging the laws, he was
sent a second time into banishment. It was then that he set
sail for the land which Gambiorn had reported, and when he
discovered it, he returned to Iceland with the tidings. In
the following year Erik sailed again for Greenland with a
fleet of thirty-five ships, only fourteen of which, however,
reached land, and it was on this visit thht he gave the name
of “Greenland” to his discovery, in order, it is said, to attract
settlers, who would be favorably impressed with so pleasing a
name. A flourishing colony of Icelanders and Norsemen was

thus established, and maintained its connection with the

mother countries for 400 years.

The discovery of the mainland of America, is said to have
happened in this way. In 986, “Erik the Red” took up his
residence in Greenland, and accompanying him was an Ice-
lander, named Herjulf. The son of the latter, named Bjarno
Herjulfson, was in Norway when his father left Ieeland with
Erik, and on his return he at once set out for Greenland, but -
during the voyage, the ship being driven out of its course, he
sighted land, which was flat and covered with trees, altogether
different from what he expgcted to see. Bjarno knew that
he was not looking upon Greenland, and therefore did not
attempt to land, but continued on his voyage, and there is
reason to believe, from the course of the winds, the direction
of the currents, and other circumstances, that the point first
sighted by Bjarno was one degree south of where Boston now
stands, and that he afterwards saw the shores of Nova Scotia
and Newfoundland. Thus it is claimed that Bjarno Herjulf-
son, although he did not make a landing, was the first Norse-
man who beheld any part of the American continent.

It is related that when Leif Erikson, the son of “Erik the
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Red,” heard the descriptions given by Bjarno of the land
he had seen, he resolved to go in search of it. Accordingly he
bought Bjarno’s ship, and, with a crew of ‘thirty-five men, set
sail and found the lands to the south-west of Greenland,
which he named Heln, and which aré now known as New-
foundland and Nova Scotia. He then proceeded to make
further discoveries, and after sailing two days landed at or
near where Fall River is, in Massachusetts, which he called
Markland, but a German who had accompanied the expedition,
having found grapes growing, the country afterwards received
the name of Vinland. Leif then returned to Norway, and,
finding that King Olaf Tryggvesson had embraced Christian-
ity, he accepted the new faith, and when he was ready to
return to Greenland, a priest was assigned to accompany him.
In this way it is declared Christianity was introduced into
Greenland, and churches were built, the ruins of one of which
stand to this day.

In 1002, Thorwald Erikson, the brother of Leif, resolved to
make further explorations in the new country of Vinland, and
for that purpose set sail from Greenland with an expedition.
But, at the end of three years, Thorwald was killed by the
natives and buried in Vinland, and in 1831 a skeleton in
armor was found near Fall River, Massachusetts, which was
thought by some to be. his remains. No regular settlement
took place in Vinland, however, until the year 1007, when
Thorfin Karlsefne, with a party of one hundred and fifty-one
men and seven women, landed in the country and remained in

it for several years, until hostilities between them and the

natives compelled them to abandon their (:(hnny. During the
residence of those people in Vinland, it is said that a child was
borne in 1008 to Thorfin Karlesfne and Gudrid, his wife, and
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was named Snowe Thorfinnson, this being the first white child
born in America, from whom, it is claimed, Thorwaldsen the
Danish sculptor was descended.

There were several expeditions by the Norsemen to Vinland
after 1010, notably in 1011 under Freydis, and in 1121, when

Bishop Erik Upsi went as a missionary to that country. In

1347, however, the Black Plague, which raged thmughoui

Europe until 1351, and reached even Iceland, Greenland and
Vinland, put a stop to further attempts at exploration or col-
onization on the part of the Norsemen.

So much for those hardy mariners. Now for other nation-
alities. As a result of the voyages made by them, it is said
their fame having reached the ears of the Welsh Prince
Madoe, son of Owen Gwynedd, a seafaring man, he resolved to
lead a colony to the new western lands, and in 1170 sailed in
their direction and succeeded in establishing a settlement in a
fertile land, presumably America. He then returned to Wales
and fitted out a larger expedition, ¢onsisting of ten ships, with
which he sailed, but was never heard of again. In support of
this account it is claimed that traces of the Welsh tongue ap-
pear in the language of some of the American Indian tribes.

The identification of the native Americans with the stock of
the lost tribes of Israel was a favorite doctrine with the lead-
ing New England divines of early days. William Penn be-
lieved in it, and the subject has been frequently discussed pro
and con. It is held by certain historians that a crew of Arabs
about the eleventh or twel{th century reached land, possibly
the Azores, although some are inclined to the theory that they
succeeded in landing upon the shores of America. And so ore
natiorality after another claim the right to be considered the

first discoverers. According to a bock printed in Venice in
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1558, two brothers belonging to that city, by the name of
Nicols and Antoine Zeno, while on a voyage were wrecked
upon an island in the North Atlantic where they lived for
several years, and while there, they fell in with a sailor who
gave a wonderful acecount of a’/cuuntr_\' called Estotiland, and
also a region on the mainland ecalled Droges. The Zeno bro-
thers conveyed this information to Venice where it was after-
wards published in book form, and the subject has since caused
much discussion and difference of opinion as to its verity.
The presence of the Basques on the coasts of North America
is often asserted, and it is even said that it was a Basque mar-
iner who, having been on the banks of Newfoundland, gave
Columbus some premonitions of the New World. Several
Portuguese writers assert that Ioas Vaz Cortereal, afterwards
hereditary governor of the Island of Terseira, discovered a
land supposed to be Newfoundland, thirty years before Col-
umbus made his first voyage.

In 1477, Columbus visited Iceland, and it is not improbable
that he received information then of the discoveries of Green-
land and Vinland, made from 1000 to 1347 by the Norsemen.
There is also every reason to believe that information relating
to Vinland was in possession of the Vatican as early as 1100,
or thereabouts, because in 1112 Pope Paschal II. appointed
Erik Upsi Bishop of Iceland, Greenland and Vinland, and, in
1121, Erik Upsi is said to have paid a visit to the latter coun-
try. Columbus, doubtless, was able to avail himself of the in-
formation possessed by the Vatican, and possibly took advan-

tage of it. Washington Irving says: “ When Columbus had

formed his theory, it became fixed in his mind with singular

firmness. He never spoke in doubt or hesitation, but with as

much certainty as if his eyes had already beheld the promised
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land.” Such a state of mind as thus deseribed could hardly
have resulted from mere inspiration, as some claim, but rather
from certain information in his possession, which probably he
partly obtained during his visit to Iceland in 1477,

Some historians are inclined to repudiate altogether the
claims of the Norsemen as discoverers of America, and Ban-
croft styles them as “mythological in form and obscure in
meaning ; ancient, yet not contemporary.” It is held that the
stories of the voyages and privations of the Norsemen : the
discoveries they made : the colonies they formed, and the very
names and dates given in connection with their early efforts
are all the outcome of imagination on the part of the Icelandic
historian. But against this, it does not seem improbable that
those hardy navigators, having established themselves on Ice-
land and Greenland, should in the course of their many voy-
ages have sighted and even landed upon the mainland of
America, which was not far distant. Washington Irving, in
his “Columbus, 1828,” dismisses the accounts of the Norse-
men discoveries as untrustworthy, but later, under the influ-
ence of Rafn and Wheaton, two writers who studied the sub-
jeet very closely, he modified his views, so as to consider them
of possible importance, and finally admitted that he thought
the facts to be established to the convietion of most minds,
Henry Wheaton, who was. United States Minister at Copen-
hagen, wrote a history of the Northmen, strongly supporting
the theory of their diseoveries, and Carl Christian Rafn was

considered the chief apostle of the Norseman belief. But the

opinions of those two writers did not- affect Bancroft, who to

the last expressed his unbelief in the Norseman discovery of
Vinland. He admitted, however, that Scandinavians may

have reached the shores of Labrador, although the =oil of the
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United States had not, he declared, one vestige of their pre-

sence. Professor Daniel Wilson, of '|’or01/1‘t()ﬁays: “With all

reasonable doubts as to the accuracy of details, there is the
strongest probability in favor of the authenticity of tl

"

American Vinland




CHAPTER IL
EARLY DISCOVERIES IN NORTH AMERICA. (

WHATEVER may be said pro or con in regard to the so-called
Pre-Columbian discoveries, it is to the untiring energy, zeal,
and perseverance of Christopher Columbus, that the world is
indebted for the opening up” and settlement of the continent
of America by Europeans. Even allowing that he had fore-
runners in the work of discovery, and that his expeditions
may have been prompted by what had been done by others
before his time, it does not in the least dim the glory of the
great service he rendered to mankind.

In 1419, the Portuguese discovered Madeira ; in 1448, the
Azores ; in 1449, the Cape de Verde Islands, and in 1486, the
Cape of Good Hope, the latter being so named because of their
expectation of finding a passage that way to the Indies. It is
probable that the fame of these expeditions led Columbus to
undertake the finding of a passage by ‘a more northerly and

direct route, which resulted in his discovery of America. In

—

>
1474 he had some correspondence with Toscaneli;the Jtalian

savant, regarding the discovery of land westward, which at that
time had become in the mind of Columbus a well established
theory. By reading the ancients, by conferring with wise
men, by close research, and by questioning mariners returned
from westerly voyages, he had suffered the thought of a direct

western passage to India to germinate in his mind for years.
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In 1484, he urged his views upon the Portuguese King, and
that Monarch dispatched a vessel secretly to “discover, if
possible the passage. The vessel returned, however, without
accomplishing anything,.and Coluinbus, when he found out
the deceit put upon himj left the Portuguese court in disgust.

He then negotiated through-his brother Bartholomew with

‘Henry VII. of England, but without result, and finally laid his

proposals before Ferdinand and Isabella of Spain. For seven
years Columbus experienced every vexation attendant upon de-
lay, and at last, wearied and disappointed, he turned his back
upon the cowtt of Spain. He sought the Grandees, but without
success, and finally turned to the convent of Santa Maria de la
Rabida, where he made a favorable impression upon the Prior
Marchena, by whose interposition he was summoned to appear
before Isakella the Queen. The surrender of Granada at the
time, and the successes of the Spaniards against the Moors,
left the sovereigns of Spain more at liberty to listen to his
proposals, and Columbus was in a fair way to meet with a
favorable reception. But while the negotiations were being
carried on, he demanded recognition as viceroy, and a tenth
share of all income from the territories to be discovered, which
so displeased Ferdinand and Isabella that all came to an end,

and Columbus 1fiounting his mule in anger, started for France.

A
Two ministers of Spain, however, named Santangel and Quin-

tanilla being much impressed with the proposals of the navi-
gator, induced Isabella to send and overtake him before. he
had proceeded far.

An agreement was then signed on April 17th, 1492, making
Columbus viceroy, and giving him an ecighth, instead of a
tenth, of the profits from discoveries. This being satisfactorily

arranged, the work of fitting out the vessels for the expedition
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was commenced, and after some difficulty and delay in supply-
ing and manning the ships, Columbus with his small fleet con-
sisting of the Santa Muria, Pinta, and Nin«, sailed out of the
harbor of Palos, on the 3rd August. On the 12th October, a
low sandy shore was seen, and a landing being effected, the
country was taken possession of in the name of Ferdinand
and Isabella of Spain. Columbus then continued his voyage
of discovery, during which one of his vessels, the Santa Maria,
was lost, whereupon he returned to Spain, reaching Palos on
the 14th March, 1493, having been gone a little over seven
months. He was royally received by the court and people,
and on the following/25th September, set sail with seventeen
vessels on his second voyage of discovery.

Columbus was a great navigator, but as an administrator of
affairs in the new land he did not prove to be a competent
governor. At least serious charges and complaints were laid
against him before the court of Spain, while he was absent on
his second expedition, which resulted in his returning in 1496
to defend himself, and this he appears to have done suc-
cessfully, for, we find that in 1498 he undertook a third voy-
age to America. On this occasion, however, his enemies seem
to have been powerful, and so active in their persecution that
an emissary was sent out to supersede him, and Columbus was
brought back to Spain, bound in irons, only to regain once
more, soon after his arrival, the favor of his sovereigns, and
on the 9th May, 1502, he set sail on his fourth and last voy-
age, which in many respects proved to be a disastrous one.

It isgcertain that Columbus entertained the idea that the

land he discovered was part of India, and hence the name

“Indians,” which was given to the natives. He died in the

belief that he had discovered the short pnssugt- and stood
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upon Indian soil, for on his last voyage, during the attack of
fever which overtook him, his strong faith eried to him, “Why
dost thou falter in thy trust in God? He gave thee India!”
But the conviction did not long outlive its author: the dis-
covery of the Pacific soon made it clear that a new world and
another sea lay beyond the discovered land of Columbus. The
.&mgmphical mistake was found out about 1517, but the ap-
]u\-“ution, “Indians,” given to the natives, had become estab-

lished, and it has been retained to the present day:.

The disasters and the sickngss which overcame him during

his fourth voyage proved to be too much for even the iron
frame and will of Columbus, and when he returned to Spain
in 1504 he was prostrated with weakness and disease. In
this’ state he lingered, deserted by his sovereign Ferdinand,
(Isabella beihg dead), until on the 20th May, 1506, the great
navigator breathed his last. During his lifetime the services
of Columbus to his sovereign and the whole world were not
adequately recompensed, and even after death posterity re-
mained unmindful of him and his work until Washington
Irving made a record of the navigator’s eventful life-—a bril-
liant effort and a just tribute to the magnanimity of Colum-
bus’ character.

In 1495, John Cabot laid proposals before Henry VII. to
make a voyage of discovery to the west, and he and his sons
were granted patents for any discoveries they might make.
In May, 1497, therefore, Cabot set sail from Bristol in a small
vessel with eighteen persons, and on the 24th June he discov-
ered land upon which he planted a large cross, and the flags
of England and St. Mark, thus taking possession in the name
of the English King. On this voyage Cabot discovered New-
foundland, saw Labrador, and entered the Gulf of St. Law-
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rence, which appeared to him to be the North-West passage
to the East Indies or China, and under this impression, with-
out penetrating further, he returned to England and was
knighted for his services. His discoveries gave the crown of
England a claim to the sovereignty of North America, and
laid the foundation of the extensive commerce and naval
power of Great Britain. Henry VII. now grapted Cabot
second letters patent top undertake another voyage, but for
some reason he did not take command, but handed it over to
Sebastian who was with himm on the first expedition. As to
the exact time when Cabot made his discovery, an ancient
map, drawn by Sebastian, has the following words written on
it by him in Latin: “In the year of Our Lord, 1497, John
Cabot, a Venetian, and his son Sebastian, discovered that
country which no one before his time had ventured to
approach, on the 24th day of June, about five o'clock in the

morning.”

»
In the summer of 1498, Sebastian Cabot having taken his

father'’s place, sailed from England with two ships, but on
refiching America the severity of the cold in the extreme
north, and other reasons, prineipally a desire to explore the
country, induced him to turn southward, and having proceed-
ed for some distance, want of pm\'isi(;ns obliged him to return
to England.

Gaspard Cortereal made the next voyage to America in 1500,
starting from Lisbon with two vessels and touching at Green-
land, or, as he named it, “Terra Verde,”/but the expedition
was altogether barren of results. On the 15th May, 1501,
Cortereal sailed a second time from Portugal, and having gone
a distance of two thousand miles from Lisbon, he discovered

an unknown land and coasted along its shores. The number
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of large rivers encountered encouraged the belief that it was
no island and Cortereal concluded that it must be connected
with the e ry discovered to the north the year before,
which at that time could not be reached on account of the ice.
They found the land very populous and brought away a num-
ber of the natives to be sold as slaves in Portugal, and while
making their explorations, they came across a broken sword
and two silver ear-rings, evidently of Italian make, which
were probably relics of the visit of Cabot to the country three
years earlier. Two'of Cortereal’s ships, one having fifty slaves
on board, reached Lisbon safely on their return voyage, but
the vessel containing Gaspard Cortereal himself was never
heard from, and must have foundered at sea.

The next year, on the 10th May, Miguel Cortereal started

with three ships, having obtained the king’s permission to go

and search for Gaspard. The expedition reached the Ameri-

can coast, and finding so many rivers and havens, the ships
divided in order to pursue the search more effectually and
agreed to meet at a certain rendezvous within a given time.
Two ships met at the appointed place and date, but the one
with Miguel Cortereal was mever heard of, and the theory
is that both he as well as Gaspard were killed by the
natives while trying to kidnap them for slayes. A year later
an expedition was sent out at the expense of the king in
search of them, but returned without finding any trace of
either -brother, and when Vasqueanes Cortereal, the governor
of Terseira, proposed to undertake another expedition in per-
son, the king refused to give the necessary permission.

The next discoverer we hear of is Amerigo Vespueei, who is

said to have made two voyages to America by order of

Ferdinand of Spain, one of which was in 1497, only five years
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after Columbus’ first expedition, and the other in 1499, Ves-
pucei also claims to have made two subsequent voyages in the
service of King Emanuel, of Portugal, in 1501 and 1503, but
as the only accounts written of these were by Vespucei him-
self, there is grave doubt if they ever took place. Vespucei is
generally looked upon as an imposter.

About this time, the fishermen of the ports of Brittany are
known to have reached the banks of Newfoundland, and in
1506, Jean Denys from Honfleur is said to have visited the
Gulf of St. Lawrence and to have made a chart of it. In
1508, Thomas Aubert, a Dieppe mariner, undertook a voyage
and brought home with him to France the first specimens of
the American natives ever seen there.

In 1517, Henry VIIL fitted out a small squadron for the
discovery of a North-West passage to the Indies, and Sebas-
tian Cabot went with it, but unfortunately Sir Thomas Pert,
Vice-Admiral of England, was placed in supreme command,
and when during the voyage a mutiny of the sailors occurred
Sir Thomas became faint-hearted, and Cabot, perceiving his
cowardice, resolved to return home. The records of this ex-
pedition, however, according to Sir Humphrey Gilbert, show
very clearly that during the voyage Sebastian Cabot actu-
ally entered Hudson’s Bay ninety years before Hudson
discovered it. In a letter written by Sebastian Cabot to
the Pope’s Legate in Spain, he says that it was from the con-
sideration of the structure of the globe that he formed the

design of sailing to the Indies by a North-West course. He

must have had some idea afterwards of finding a passage by

the south, for he made a voyage to Brazil and was soon after
drawn into the Spanish service. He then was employed to

conduct a squadron through the straights of Magellan to the

/J

Ea
set
the
mo
wa
pas
|

in
sail
age
nec
fron
Flo
('nl‘
starx

by
Dan
Nor
of a
men
ente
owi
to h
of n
it o
A
mad
fate,
Ame
was
smal
state



Ves-
the
but

\im-

¢l 18

are
1 in
the
In
rage
s of

the
bas-
dert,
and,
rred
* his
) eX-
how
ctu-
1son
t to
con-
the
He
e by
fter
d to
1 the

EARLY DISCOVERIES IN NORTH AMERICA. . 29

East Indies, but instead of doing this he landed and formed a
settlement in Paraguay, and remained there five years, at
the end of which time he left the Spanish serviece, and once
more joined that of England, but he was not known after-
wards to encourage further expeditions to find a North-West
passage until 1553, shortly before his death.

The next explorer of note was Giovanni da Verrazano, who,
in 1521, begins to appear in Spanish history as a French cor-
sair, which brought him to the notice of Francis I. His voy-
age of discovery, which was commenced in 1523, was con-
nected with one of those predatory cruises, because we learn

from Spanish sources, that in that year Verrazano, or Juan

Florin, as he was known, captured the treasure sent home by

Cortes to the Emperor, and brought it into Rochelle. He
started with four vessels, but three of them becoming disabled
by storms, he proceeded in the remaining one, named the
Dawphine, and in 1524 reached the shores of what is now
North Carolina, where he found the land inhabited by people
of a simple and kind disposition, who received him and his
men in a friendly manner. It seems certain that Verrazano
entered the harbor of New York, but only partly explored it,
owing to the prevalence of storms at the time, and he is said
to have also discovered Newport, and to have sailed a distance
of more than seven hundred leagues along the coast, exploring
it carefully as he went. It is stated that subsequently he
made two more voyages, and there is much doubt about his
fate, one account being that he was killed by the natives of
America during an expedition in 1527, and another that he
was captured at sea by the Spanish, and hung as a pirate at a
small village between Salamanca and Toledo. It is further

stated that he gave a map to Henry VIIL of England,
B
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although he does not appear to have been employed by that
monarch.

About the same time as Verrazano made his first voyage,
Estevan Gomerz, a Portuguese employed by Spain, sailed
from Corunna, and made an attempt to discover a North-
West passage, but only reached as far as Labrador. . It is said
that on his honieward voyage going south, he landed at the
island of Cuba, and failing to obtain the rich cargo of spices
he expected to bring home, loaded his vessel with kid-
napped savages of both sexes, and reached Corunna in No-
vember, 1525.

In 1527, Henry VIIL sent out an expedition consisting of
two ships under command of John Rut, but this navigator, in
his efforts to proceed westward of Labrador coast, became beset
with ice, and, one of his ships having foundered, the voyage
was an unsuccessful one. It was not until 1536 that the next
expedition left England, when a number of gentlemen in Lon-
don undertook to send one to the west, the chief promoter of
the enterprise being an individual named Hore, who was skilled
in cosmography. The crews of the ships on this occasion suf-
fered great privation during the voyage, and but for the timely
appearance of a French vessel they would have all perished
miserably.

But the French fishermen were even then actively engaged
on the banks of Newfoundland, and the value of their industry

soon attracted the attention of Chabot, an admiral of France,

who induced Francis I. to once more send an exploring expe- -

dition to America. On this occasion, Jacques Cartier was
selected and placed in command, who, on 20th April, 1534, left

St. Malo with two ships on his first voyage of discovery, and

in twenty days he was upon the banks of Ncwf’\(‘umllund. and
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soon afterwards entered the great gulf of St. Lawrence, being

the first white man to do so. He advanced inland only a

short distance, and while anchored in a bay, named it Baye du

Chaleur, on account of the intense heat experienced there.
Thus Cartier discovered the Gulf of St. Lawrence, and to
commemorate it, he set up a large cross at Gaspé, with a
shield attached having the words “ Vive le Roi de France ” on
it, after which he returned home on the 25th July.

The main object of Cartier’s first voyage proved a failure,
and the route to the Indies remained undiscovered, but the
brave navigator determiried to persevere, and his represen-
tations having the desired effect, Admiral Chabot one® more
persuaded Francis 1. to sign a commission in his favor.
Three vessels, the Great Hermina, 120 tons ; the Little Her-
mina, 60 tons, and a small galley, the Emerilon, were fur-
nished by the king for the voyage, and on Easter Sun-
day, 1535, the expedition sailed. On this voyage, Cartier
gave the name of L’Assomption to the island which is now
known as Anticosti ; he discovered and explored the Sague-
nay, called the Island of Orleans “Bacchus Island,” from
the number of grapes growing on it, and gave names to sev-
eral islands and points on the lower St. Lawrence. At Stada-
cona (Quebec), Cartier met the Indian chief Donnacona, and
was received with great rejoicing by the natives, but when he
proposed to ascend the river, Donnacona opposed it. Cartier,
however, persisted in going, and, leaving his ships behind,
ascended in boats to Hochelaga, where he was weleomed by
the Indians, who peinted with pride to their cultivated fields
and to their town, which was composed of substantially
built houses, and fortified, having one gate, with a gallery

extending along the top of the wall, the ammunition consis t-
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ing of pehbles and stones. Cartier was regarded as a superior
being by the Indians, who honored him as such, and asked him
to heal their sick. He read to them from the gospel of St.
John, and all the Passion of Christ word by word, after
which he distributed presents midst a flourish of trumpets.
He then ascended the Mount, which he named Mont Royal,
to view the surrounding country, and was astonished at the
evidences of thrift and prosperity which he saw among the
Indians. Yet in less than seventy years after this, when
Champlain reached the site of ancient Hochelaga, the forti-
fied town and its inhabitants had disappeared—the Hoche-

lagans were extinct.

. g e :
When Cartier returned to Stadacona finding that his

people had erected a fort and mounted artillery, he decided
to stay during the winter at the harbor of Holy Cross (Que-
bee), and made his preparations accordingly. Securvy, how-
ever, attacked his men, causing much distress and loss of life,
during his stay, until the natives found a remedy in a decoc-
tion made from a tree called “Ameda.” In May, 1536, he
set up a cross and the arms of France, and having entrapped
the chief Donnacona carried him on board ship and prepared
to sail for France, but the natives being most unwilling to
lose their king, protested, and were only pacified when Cartier
promised to return the following year with Donnacona.

The voyage home was a tempestuous one, and it was not till
July 1st, that Cartier once more anchored in the harbor of St.
Malo. It is said by some writers that he now discouraged fur-
ther efforts to explore America, but this is not borne out, it
being much more likely that the king and people of France
were dissatisfied with the results of the two voyages made by

him, especially as he had lost a number of his men and left
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one of his ships behind him. Certainly the interest in ex-
peditions to America appears to have ceased for a time, and
five years elapsed before another one was fitted out. 1\1nnng
those attracted by the reports of Cartier concerning the riches
of the new land was Jean Francois de la Roche, lord of
Roberval, who, in the year 1540, induced Franeis I. to grant
him a commission, creating him Lieutenant and Governor
of Canada and Hochelaga, with Cartier as his assistant.
The apparent object of the proposed expedition was stated as
“undertaken to discovge more than was done before in some
voyages, and attain, if possible, to a knowledge of the country
¢ the Saguenay, whereof the people brought by Cartier de-
clared to the king that there were great riches and very good
lands.” Roberval was commissioned January 15th, 1540, but
Cartier was not appointed until the following Oectober, when

he set sail with three ships on the 23rd May, 1541, Rober-

val not having completed his arrangements to accompany

him, and on the 22nd August the expedition arrived at the
harbor of Holy Cross. In the meantime Donnacona had died
in France, or such was the excuse given by Cartier for not
bringing him back as promised to his people, at which the
[ndians, although apparently satisfied with the explanation,
were not pleased, and the chiefs plotted against the

to obtain revenge.

Cartier now built a fort called Charlesbourg Royal, where
he left his fleet, and ascending the St. Lawrence in boats
passed Hochelaga and attempted to ascend the rapids, two of
which, it is said, he actually stemmed. He then returned to
Charlesbourg Royal where he wintered, but saw Tithe of the
natives,who kept aloof from him, and in the spring, having

collected some quartz crystals which he mistook for diamonds,




34 HISTORY OF THE NORTH-WEST.

and some thin scales of metal supposed to be gold, he sailed
for France. It is said that he met Roberval at St. Johns,
Newfoundland, on his way out to Carada, but declined to re-
turn with him, pleading his inability to stand against the
savages with so small a number of men. It is also said that
he stole away from his chief in the night, but this is disputed.
Cartier, however, undoubtedly returned to France, and his
chief proceeded to the St. Lawrence without him. It is pos-
sible that Roberval reached his winter quarters in 1541, but it
was not till July, 1542, that he began to fortify France Royal
below Quebee, during which he had ‘a great deal of trouble
with his mea, and also with the Indians, who were unfriendly
to the French from the time that Cartier stole their king, so
that extreme measures had to be used on several occasions to
assert the authority of the governor. The whole expedition
of 1541 and 1542 was a failure, and some time in 1543 Car-
tier visited the St. Lawrence and brought Roberval home to
France. In reviewing the expeditions of Cartier and Roberval
it has been said that they did not bear much fruit, but if we
may judge from the activity that prevailed in the maritime
towns of France during 1540 and subsequent years, and the
number of private expeditions fitted out to go to America, it
would seem as if the work of the explorers had been produec-
tive of good by exciting interest in the new land. From 1541
to 1545 this ardor was sustained, and private enterprise con-
tinued to be engaged in trading to Canada until 1597, when
official colonization was taken up. Cartier, after bringing
Roberval home in 1543, retired without having derived

any material financial benefit from his great undertakings,

#nd dwelt as Seigneur of Linoilon in his plain manor-house

at St. Malo, where he died, greatly honored and respect-
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ed, about the year 1555. As for Roberval, he soon passed
from sight, although, according to Charlevoix, he made another
attempt in 1549 to colonize' Canada. Thevet says he was
murdered in Paris, while others state that he perished at sea.
In 1553, an expedition, of which the then aged Sebastian
Cabot was the chief promoter, sailed under command of Sir
Hugh Willoughby and Richard Chancellor, but it ended in dis-
aster, as the three ships comprising the fleet in following an
easterly course were overtaken by winter, and Willoughby and-
all his men perished by famine and cold. Three years later,
another vessel, commanded by Stephen Burroughs, was sent
out in a north-easterly direction, and in midsummer the ship
was beset on all sides by masses ,of ice, and was in danger of
being annihilated so that all etforts to proceed were unavailing.
On the death of Sebastian Cabot, Martin Frobisher under-
took a voyage of discovery to the North, and sailed from
Blackwall on June 5th, 1557, but returned in October of the
same year without having accomplished any important results,
He is said to have brought home some mica which he mistook
for gold, and he evidently gave glowing accounts of the new
land, for in May, 1577, a second expedition was fitted out
which proved as barren of results as the first one, yet
Queen Elizabeth was so pleased with reports of the western
world furnished by him that she sent him out a third
time in 1578. Nothing of much importance came of the
voyages about this time until, in 1585, John Davis sailed from
.Dartmouth, about the month of June, and discovered the
straits that bear his name. Subsequently he undertook two
other expeditions, one in 1586, and the last one in 1587, when
he reported very favorably of the possibilities of a North-West

passage, but for eleven years after this, nothing was done
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until the Marquis de la Roche, a Catholic nobleman of Brit-
tany, undertook the colonization of New France under the
auspices of Henry IV, an expedition which resulted only in
disaster and loss of life.

In 1599 and 1600, M. Chauvin and M. Pontegravé made
voyages together to the St. Lawrence, and descended to Lake
St. Peter, formed a post at Tadousae, but,\otherwise, ac-
complished little. Pontegravé, however, became identified
with the fur trade of the country, and De Monts, who ac-
companied the expedition and  afterwards went back to
France, was induced by what he had seen, to return to Canada
and take an active part in its colonization. About the same
tine that Chauvin and Pontegravé undertook their expedition,
James Lancaster sailed to America, and soon after George Way-
mouth was sent out with two ships by some patriotic mer-
chants of London and by the Muscovy Company. He made
for Greenland, but after reaching a high latitude encountered
such obstructions from ice and fogs that the crew mutinied,
and the expedition was obliged to return without making fur-
ther discoveries. Yet it is said that Henry Hudson was
guided principally by the reports of Davis and Waymouth in
making his discovery.

In 1605, the King of Denmark despatched three vessels un-
der John Cunningham, who reached latitude 66° 30°, when his
seamen refused to go any further, and the expedition accom-
plished nothing of note. Thirteen years after this, Christian
IV. sent out two well equipped ships, commanded by Jens
Munk, who traversed Davis Strait, but, failing to find the de-
sired opening to the west, struck southward to Hudson’s
Strait and Hudson’s Bay. He wintered at Chesterfield Inles,

where the ¢rew endured such hardships that on the return of\,
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summer only three survived out of sixty-five souls to make a
perilous voyage homeward.

p»
The account of these several expeditions to America, hrings

us down to the time when Champlain, the “ father of (%ilnd»i,"
made his first voyage, and as his explorations are of special
interest in connection with the history of the North-West, we
will devote the following chapter to them and the expeditions
to explore the interior which were the outcome of his enter-
prise and activity.




CHAPTER IIL

CHAMPLAIN IN CANADA, AND OVERLAND EXPLORATIONS IN
THE NORTH-WEST.

A¥FTER Roberval’s unfortunate expedition, the French appear
to have taken no interest in Canada for a period of over half
a century, until in 1603, Amyar de Chastes, the governor of
Dieppe, conceived the idea of renewing the attempt to colonize
the new world, and for this purpose invited Samuel de Cham-
plain to accompany an expedition to America. The consent
of Henry IV. having been obtained, Champlain g}!rvwl to go,
and on the 15th March, 1603, set sail from Hoafleur with
twd_ vessels, one of which was commanded by' Pontgravé,
andthe other by Sieur Prevert. The expedition reached the

St. Lawrence ing safety, and at Tadousac Champlain found

about a thousand Algonquin Indians assembled,” engaged in

celebrating a victory over their enemies, the Iroquois, whom
they had just succeeded in defeating, and the wars between
these two tribes, in which he was forced to take part, were
destined in after years to interfere greatly with Champlain’s
efforts at colonization.

Immediately after this, the first survey of the Saguenay
was made, and then, proceeding in boats, Champlain ascended
the St. Lawrence to Hochelaga, and endeavored to stem the
current of the rapids, but having to abandon the attempt, the

explorers continued on foot along the shore for several miles,
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obtaining much information about. the country from the

Indians, after which they returned to Tadousac. ~ Champlain

next explored the southern coast of the Gulf of St. Lawrence,

and collected a valuable cargo of furs with which he returned
to France, arriving at Havre de Grace on the 20th September,
1603, and a book deseribing this voyage being published
attracted so much attention that commercial enterprise in the
direction of the new world was greatly stimulated by it.
About two months after this, Amyar de Chastes having died,
a commission was granted by the King to Sieur de Monts
who had succeeded in forming an association of merchants for
the purpose of prosecuting the fur trade. About November,
1603, therefore, De Monts with two vessels, one commanded
by himself and the other by Pontgravé, set sail accompanied
by Champlain, but on reaching the coast of America the oper-
ations of the expedition were confined to Nova Scotia and New
Brunswick, and in the following summer, they extended their
operations to the more southern shores of America along the
New England coast.

In 1607, the monopoly of De Monts in the fur trade was
abolished owing to the remonstrances of French merchants,
and the colony which he had established on the Island of St.
Croix was broken up the colonists returning to France in Sep-
tember of that year. But Henry IV. was not altogether un-
mindful of the merits of De Monts .when he heard the report
of Champlain and the colonists, sho®ing all that had been
done, and he granted a renewal of the monopoly for one year.

De Monts then fitted out another expedition, at the‘same
time appointing Champlain Lieutenant-Governor, and on 13th
April, 1608, it left Honfleur, nrriﬁng at Tadousac on 3rd June,

where Champlain found Pontgravé, who had preceded him
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in serious trouple with some traders and fishermen, a difficulty
which requifed all his characteristic prudence to settle
amicably. He succeeded, however, in bringing about peace,
after which, having constructed a small vessel of fourteen
tons, he proceeded up the St. Lawrence.

On the 3rd July, 1608, Champlain laid the foundation of the
City of Quebec, and the erection of buildings and establish-

ment of his colony consumed so ma y months, that he and

his men suffered much from want of supplies. As a result of

this, a mutiny broke out among his colonists, and a plot to
assassinate him being discovered, the ringleader, one Duval,
was tried and hung, which had the effect of preventing any
further insubordination on the part of his people. During the
following winter, Champlain on learning from the Indiazs of
a large lake and beautiful islands in the interior, determined,
when the snow had melted, to explore the country thus de-
seribed.

On the 18th June, 1609, therefore, he set out on this ex-
pedition, accompanied by about sixty warriors of the Algon-
quin tribe, and after a battle with the Iroquois, during which
the firearms of Champlain experienced by these Indians for
the first time did good service in obtaining a victory over
them, he proceeded on his journey, and as he passed up the
St. Lawrence it was observed that the Hochelagans existed
no longer although the ruins of their town remained. Stada-
cona was no more, and it seemed to Champlain as if the native
populations of Cartier's day had ceased to possess the country.
On this expedition he explored the river Richelieu and the
lake which bears his name, after which he returned to Quebec,
and soon afterwards set sail for France, arriving at Honfleur
on the 13th October.
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De Monts’ monopoly had now expired, yet he continued his
efforts in the new world, and in 1610 Champlain was again
sent out with two vessels and a commission, authorizing him
to seize any vessel he should find trafficking in furs between
Quebec and the sources of the St. Lawrence. Armed with
this arbitrary power, it was his integfjon to foster and
develop the commercial affairs of t.hctzg colony. He pur-
posed exploring the Saguenay and up the Ottawa to Lake
Superior, and even had some idea of penetrating as far as
Hudson’s Bay, the great inland sea which he had heard some-
thing of from the Indians, but war between his allies the
Algonquins and the Iroquois, in which he was obliged to take
part, prevented him. Again the firearms of the French pre-
vailed, the Iroquois being defeated, and about this time the
Hurons, who were then a powerful tribe, appeared upon thv‘,\’
the secene, with whom Champlain made a treaty of alliance
and trade, and having thus secured strong allies among the

Indian tribes, he returned once more to France in the interest

of his colony. But before his departure he inaugurated a

plan for obtaining interpreters, which.not only proved of
great service to him inkhis subsequent enterprises, but also led
the way to future exploration and settlement in the North-
West. He began the practice of placing one of his young
men with the Indians to live with them and learn their
language and customs, at the same time sending one of the
latter to France to be educated, and in this way he formed a
staff of interpreters, whose services became invaluable to him.

The assassination of Henry IV. caused Champlain to again
visit France in 1610, when, having powerful friends at court,
he succeeded in securing a renewal of his commission, with

which he returned to Quebec, and during 1611 gave most of
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his attention to the management of the fur trade. It was at
this time that Champlain established a post on the site, now
occupied by the city of Montreal, which he named Place
Royal, but which was afterwards changed to Pointe 4 Calliers.

The fur trade, owing to excessive competition, now became
so unprofitable that De Monts and his associates were com-
pelled to abandon it, and on their retirement Champlain,
while in France, formed a new company with the Count de
Soissons at its head, who, however, died soon after this,
and was succeeded by the Prince de Condé. The formation
of this company occupied the whole of 1612, and in 1613
Champlain returned to the St. Lawrence, arriving at Quebec
on the 7th May, when he undertook an expedition up the
Ottawa and beyond. It was on this expedition that one
Nicolas du Vignan asserted to him that in the winter of 1612

he had visited Hudson’s Bay by an overland route from the

sources of the Ottawa, but it was afterwards proved that.

Vignan was an impostor, and that having heard accounts of

the great inland sea from Indians he had endeavored to im-

pose a falsehood upon Champlain. The latter, at the time this

story was told him, was at Isle des Allumettes, on the Ottawa,
and only about three hundred miles from Hudson’s Bay.
Champlain now paid another visit to France, where he re-
mained during the whole of the year 1614, returning to Que-
bec in 1615, and bringing with him three missionary priests
and a lay brother Recollet of the St. Franciscan order. He
then undertook a most important expedition to explore the
great interior of which he had heard so much. Ascending
the Ottawa, he entered the Matawan, and by other waters
reached Lake Nipissing, which he crossed, and following

French river entered Lake Huron and Georgian Bay. Prc-
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ceeding on by rivers and lakes and frequent portages, he man-
aged to reach Lake Ontario and passed over to the New York
side, where he and his Indian allies had a battle with the
Iroquois, in which he was wounded, which caused him to
spend the winter with the Hurons, among whom, through
the exertions of Joseph la Caron, one of the Recollets who
accompanied him, the foundation of Indian missionary work
was then laid.

It.will be observed that Champlain made frequent visits to
his native land, which he did for ‘the purpose of obtaining
aid to better the condition of the colonists. In the winter of
1616 he once more went to France accompanied by two of the

Recollets, for the purpose of stimulating interest in the colony

and the missions which were struggling for existence on the

banks of the St. Lawrence. But at this time extreme indif-
ference was shown by the French court and people regarding
the colonizing efforts in America, and Champlain did not re-
turn to Quebec until July, 1620, when Madame Champlain,
then only- twenty-two years of age, accompanied him and

remained in Canada for upwards of four years. About this

time the foundation of the first convent was laid by the Re-

collets, who, though few in number, were active and zealous in
the spread of Christianity. A rival fur company was also or-
ganized, headed by William de Caeen, but its competition did
not last long, for in 1622 it became amalgamated with the old
association established by Pontgravé, and the two carried on
business under the name of the “ Company of Montmorency,”
the charter granted by the King of France to this company
being for twenty-two years, and with provision in it for
securing Champlain’s authority as Governor and the main-

tenance of missions. A treaty of peace was also effected
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between the French, the Hurons and Algonquins on one
side, and the Iroqueis on the other, but unfortunately it only
lasted for a short time.

Champlain’s path during the whole of his career in Canada,
was beset with difficulties against which he strove with
untiring zeal, the greatest obstacle to the success of the colony
being lack of substantial support from home. For four years
Madame Champlain labored with him, and endeared herself to
the colonists, but the strain upon one so delicately reared, and
the privations she necessarily had to endure, were more than she

could bear, and on ths, 15th August, 1624, she returned with

Champlain to France, carrying with her the love and esteem of

the people by whom her absence was afterwards deeply regret-
ted. “The object of Champlain’s visit to France was the usual one
to secure more generous support for the colony, and during

his absence in 1624 he appointed De Caeen to act as governor

for him.

The following year the vice-royalty of the colony was
transferred from “ Montmorency ” to the “Dtie de Ventadour,”
a nobleman who was much interested in the extension of the
missions, and who afterwards contributed from his private
resources for the support of the Jesuits in Canada. When,
therefore, Le Caron and Sagard, the Recollet fathers, applied
about this time to the Jesuits for assistance to carry on the
missions in Canada, the Duc de Ventadour approved of it, and
in June, 1625, five Jesuit priests and one additional Recol-
let sailed from France for Quebec. Those were the first Jesuits
to land in Canada, and on their arrival, owing to reports
circulated to their ulismlvhntage, they were coolly received by
the colonists, and if it had not been for the Recollet fathers
who extended to them their kind offices and hospitality, they
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)

would have gone back to France. The presence of the Jesuits
and Calvinists in Quebec led afterwards to dissensions which
gave Champlain a great deal of trouble, and led him finally to
appeal to Richelieu to support his authority.
From 1625 to 1627 the colonists suffered much from a
dearth of provisions, and had to endure the rigors of winter on
short allowance, while the company in France received con-
siderable profits from the traffic of the St. Lawrence. This,
however, did not induce more liberal treatment of the colon-
ists, thus showing that the prosecution of the fur trade, the
principal business of the country, was not eonducive to colon-
ization purposes. The progress of the colony, therefore, was
not satisfactory to Champlain or to the Council of State in
France, and in 1627, Cardinal de Richelieu dissolved the old
fur company and instituted a new one called “La compagnie
de la Nouvelle France,” consisting of a hundred members com-
monly known as the “ Hundred Associates.” Richelieu, him-
self, was at the head of this company, and its authority was
to extend over the whole of New France and Florida. Its
capital was three hundred thousand livres; and it proposed to
send to Quebec in 1628 from two to three hundred artisans of
all classes, and to transport within the space of fifteen years

four thousand colonists to New France, the settlers to be

each one of them was to be assigned as much land as he could

wholly supported by the company for three years, after whia\

cultivate.  Only natives of France and exclusively of the

Roman Catholic faith were to be allowed to enter the country,

and the company was to have exclusive control of trade, ete.

It seemed as if a determined effort to colonize Canada was

about to be made by the French, and in the spring of 1628

four armed vessels, convoying a fleet of eighteen transports,
C
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laden with emigrants and stores, together with one hundred
and thirty-five pieces of ordnance, left France for Quebee.
But the expedition was destined never to reach the St. Law-
rence, for the English and French being then at war, a fleet of
the former under Admiral Kirke captured the transports and
convoy of the “ Hundred Associates,” and carried them. to
England. Kirke then sailed to Quebec and summoned Cham-
plain to surrender the fort and town, which the latter refused
to do, but the English, who were prosecuting the war with
vigor, were resolved to take possession of the French settle-
ments in North America. Admiral Kirke, therefore, again
appeared before Quebec and summoned Champlain a second
time to surrender, and the latter being weakened in force and
short of provisions finally capitulated in July, 1629, and the
forts which he had taken so much trouble to build and
strengthen passed into the hands of the English. Champlain
was taken to England and held prisoner there for about a
month, when he was liberated. Canada, however, did not long

remain in the possession of England, for the treaty which was

signed in 1632 gave France all her North American possessions,
)

and Emery de Caeen received a monopoly of the fur trade im-
mediately afterwards for one year, in order to permit him to
recover his losses, after which the company of the “ Hundred
Associates " was reinstated, with Champlain once more in com-
mand.

With the restoration of Champlain to power, in 1633, the
missions in the country were carried on by the Jesuits alone,
the Recollets never having resumed the work after the occu-
pation of New France by the English, and in 1633, when Cham-
plain returned to Quebeec, he' was accompanied by, the Jesuit

fathers, Enemond Masse and Jean de Brebeuf,ithe latter being
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no stranger in the country, having been a missionary among
the Indians prior to the taking of Quebec by Admiral Kirke.
[t was about this time, also, that the annual reports, called the
“Jesuit Relations,” began to be regularly transmitted from
Canada to the Order in France, and, up to 1672, they followed
in regular succession, forming a series of valuable documents,
from which much that is known of the early history of Can-
ada is derived.

We now come to an epoch in the history of Canada, when
an event of much importance to the North-West occurred, in
the sending of John Nicolet on an exploring expedition into
the interior. We have already mentioned the plan inaugurat-
ed by Champlain for the purpose of obtaining a staff of inter-
preters, and now we have to chronicle some of the good results
of his efforts in that direction. John Nicolet was born in
Cherbourg, and at an early age went to Quebec where he was
detailed by Champlain for work among the Indians. For two
years he was with the Algonquins, to be trained as an inter-
preter, and during that time suffered much hardship, but suc-
ceeded in learning the language. He next lived with the
Nipissings for eight or nine years, until he was recognized as
one of that nation, and in 1628, he is said to have paid a short
visit to the St. Lawrence, but it was not till 1633 that he
finally returned to civilization, fully competent to act as an In-
dian interpreter.

[t was because of his knowledge of the Algonquin, Huron

and Iroquois tongues, and his long experience while living

with the‘tribes, that Champlain recalled Nicolet to Quebee, for
the purpose of sending him on a most important mission,
Champlain, at that time, although he had visited Lakes Hurou

and Ontario, knew comparatively little about the great inland
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lakes. He heard reports of their magnitude, saw specimens of
copper from Superior, and learned of great tribes of Indians
living far in the interior, but he wished for more definite
information. He imagined, from the descriptions given him
of the tribes, that they came from China and Japan, and that
the great lakes formed the waterway leading to Asia. Those
far-off Indians were named the People of the Sea, and Cham-
plain hoped that by gaining more information about them and
the great inland waters he would discover a new highway to
the East. So he chose Nicolet and sent him on a journey of
exploration to the far west.

In the summer of 1634, therefore, Nicolet, accompanied by
several Jesuit priests, who were on their way to labor in the
Huron country, left Quebec and proceeded as far as Three
Rivers, where he built a fort. In July he resumed his
journey to visit the Winnebagoes, and as he and his party
travelled up the Ottawa they endured great hardships until
they reached Isle des Allumettes, where Nicolet, parting with
the Jesuit fathers, turned towards the Hurons, entrusted, it is
said, with authority to make peace between them and the
Winnebagoes, whom he was on his way to meet. From the
Huron country he proceeded in a birch bark canoe along the
northern shore of Lake Huron on to Sault Sainte Marie,
thence up Green Bay toward the land of the Winnebagoes,
and on the way several tribes of Indians were encountered
and presents distributed among them.

Nicolet was the first white man, so far as known, to look
upon or traverse the waters of Lake Michigan, and from there
he proceeded up Green Bay until he reached the Menomonee

River, where he rested with a tribe of that name, while mes-

sengers were sent ahead to notify th)e Winnebagoes of his
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coming. They, hearing of his proposed visit, dispatched some
of their people to, meet him, and on his arrival feasted and
honored him. He was looked upon as a Manitou, owing to his
firearms, which he displayed by firing off, although his mis-
sion was one of peace, and he succeeded in impressing the
Winnebagoes so favorably that he resolved to proceed farther
and visit other tribes. He travelled along the Fox River
until he came to Winnebago Lake, which he passed through, -
and, once more entering the river, journeyed to the country of
the Mascoutins. From there he turned his steps southward,
and, leaving the course of the Fox, visited the prairies of

Wisconsin and Illinois, after which he returned to the land of
the Winnebagoes.

In the spring of 1635, Nicolet set out on his return to
Quebee by way of the Mackinaw, along the south shore of the
Great Manitoulin Island, thence to the country of the Hurons,
and from there to the mouth of the French River, up that
stream to Lake Nipissing, and down the Mattawa and Ottawa
to the St. Lawrence, thus ending an expedition which was the
means of unlocking the door to the far west.

At the beginning of 1634, the whole French population on
the St. Lawrence was hardly one hundred and fifty souls,

mostly engaged in the fur trade for the company of the

Hundred Associates,” and but little was known of the interior

of the continent. A few English and other strangers were

also engaged in trading with the Indians, but Champlain was

not long in power until he managed to regain the friendship
and allegiance of all the Indian tribes, and the French then

reigned supreme, to almost the entire exclusion of other trad-
ing nationalities.

Champlain, after Nicolet’s return from his expedition to the
¢
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far west, was not permitted to follow up the work of explor-.
ing the great interior. In October, 1635, while attending to
his duties, he was laid prostrate by a stroke of paralysis, and
from that moment never rose from his bed. After a lingering
illness of two and a half months duration, the great explorer
and founder of Quebee breathed his last, thus closing a career
of wonderful activity and enterprise, during which he laid
the foundations of prosperity and happiness for future gener-
ations. During his last illness he was attended by Charles
Lalement, who wrote the Relations of 1626, and this worthy
priest officiated at the funeral ceremonies. It is a strange
fact, in connection with Champlain, that there has not been
found in Quebee, so far as known, a single doecument signed by
him, and even the resting-place of his remains—the Father of
Néw France—is a mystery at the present day.

In 1641, two Jesuit fathers, named Isaac Joques and Charles

Raymbault, passed along the shores of Lake Huron, north-

ward, and reached Sault Sainte Marie, where they met an
assemblage of 2,000 Algonquins. The missionary priests were
among the most active explorers of early days in Canada and
the North-West, and we only mention the case of Fathers
Joques and Raymbault, in the present instance, as a link in
the chain of overland explorations we are now deseribing, it
being our intention to devote a whole chapter to the work of
the missionaries.

In 1654, a treaty of peace was effected between the French
and the Iroquois, and traders penetrated the regions of the
upper lakes, returning laden with peltries and telling wonder-
ful stories of what they saw. No complete record is to be
found of the journeyings of those hardy men, but stray nar-

ratives of their exploits indicate that they were in reality the
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forerunners of the missionaries and the early explorers. It is
generally admitted that the “ Coureurs des Bois,” the name
by which those traders and trappers were known, preceded all
others in the overland exploration of the North-West.

In 1649, Medard Chouart, known as Sieur des Groseillier,
and Pierre d’ Esprit, or Sieur Radisson, pushed their way be-
yond Lake Superior, and while journeying with the Hurons
heard much of the deep, wide and beautiful river (the Miss-
issippi).  So impressed were they with the accounts they
received that they resolved to penetrate farginland with the
idea of reaching this river and exploring the country tributary
to it. They therefore proceeded a long distance into the in-
terior, trading with the Sioux Indians who inhabited the
country between the St. Croix and Mississippi rivers, and
after an absence of about a year returned to Montreal with
three hundred Indians and sixty canoes laden with a wealth |
of skins.  So successful had been this expedition that, although
De Groseillier only returned on the 19th August, he at once
collected together a fresh outfit of goods for trading purposes,
and left Montreal on the 28th of the same month on his re-
turn to the far west. On this occasion he was &CC()IIll)tl,lli('thl
by an aged missionary, named René Menard, and his servant
Guerin, who, becoming discourage | at the indifference of the
Indians to the cause of religion, 1&ft De Groseillier on the

southern shore of Lake Superior, and went to live with the

4
Hurons, in what is now the State of Wisconsin, where the

worthy priest afterwards perished.

De Groseillier and Radisson returned from this second trip
with information, gathered from the Indians, of a great inland
sea to the north, and a firm determination to go and explore

it. Accordingly, on the 2nd May, 1662, they set out, and be-
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ing guided by the Indians succeeded in reaching Hudson's
Bay. The result of this journey and subsequent expeditions
of De Groseillier, to the north, was, as we will show hereafter,
the formation of the Hudson’s Bay Company in 1670.

In 1669, Louis Joliet and one Peré went as far as Sault
Sainte Marie, and from there, in company with another
Frenchman, proceeded through the valley of the Grand River

to Lake Ontario, where they wintered, returning to Montreal

in the spring. In 1670, Nicholas Perrot, a leading spirit

among the “Courewrs des Bois” visited Quebec and was
invited by Talon to act as guide and interpreter to his deputy,
Simon Francois Daumont, the Sieur Sainte Lusson, who was
commissioned to go to Lake Superior to search for copper
mines and confer with the tribes. In Oectober, therefore,
Saint Lusson and Perrot left Montreal and travelled as far as
Lakes Huron and Superior, where they took posséssion in the
name of Louis XIV.

In 1678, Daniel Greysolon du Luth started from Quebec for
the purpose of exploring the land of the Dacotahs and Assini-
boines, and in 1679 he visited parts of the Dacotah country,
where no white man had ever been. He also succeeded in
bringing about peace between the various tribes in that part
of the North-West, and, it has been claimed, extended his explor-
ations as far as Rainy Lake, but this is a matter open to doubt.

In 1717, Lieutenant Robertal de Lanoue constructed a fort
at Kaministique, and in 1731, Verendrye arrived there on his
way to Lake Superior. Fo Verendrye belongs the credit of

being the first explorer to cross the plains of the great North-

West, although it is claimed by some that ‘hc Coureurs des

Bois preceded him in his great journey to the Saskatchewan,

an account of which appears in a later chapter of this history.
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CHAPTER 1V,

THE EARLY MISSIONARIES.

CANADA, and especially the North-West, owes much to the
undaunted zeal and energy of the early missionaries. Their
trials and privations would themselves form the subject for

a good-sized volume, and, therefore, in the limited space at

command, although as complete a record as possible will be
given concerning their great work, many interesting details
will have to be omitted.

In 1614, Champlain brought with him from France three
missionary priests, named Denis Jamay, Jean D’olbeau, Joseph
Le Caron, and a lay brother, Pacifique du Plessis, all of whom
were Recollets of the Franciscan Order. Joseph Le Cardn was
sent into the interior and travelled a distance of seven hundred
miles to Lake Huron, and on his arrival at what is now the
north-western part of Simeoe county, the Huron Indians built
a wigwam for him, where he offered his first mass. For six
months, this great Franciscan missionary, amid hardships and
peril, continued to study the language of the tribes, and on
the 20th May, 1616, returned to Three Rivers for the purpose
of gaining helpmates in the work he had undertaken. It was
not, however, until the spring of 1623 that he again visited
the Huron country, and when he did, he was accompanied by
Father Nicholas Viel and Brother Gabriel Sagard. The

Hurons received the three missionaries with open arms, and
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built a chapel for them, after which Le Caron returned to
Quebee, leaving Father Viel to continue the mission alone.
The latter, by patience and perseverance, managed to acquire
a fair knowledge of the Huron language, but his success in
instructing and converting the Indians was so disappointing
that he wrote to Le Caron for more help, which resulted in an
application to the Jesuits to assist in the missionary work of
New France.

In 1625, the Franciscans had a number of missions in the
country, and, besides those in New Brunswick and Nova
Scotia, had others at Tadousae, Quebee, Three Rivers, among
the Nipissings and in the land of the Hurons. Finding the
work, therefore, so promising, they were desirous of engaging
more priests in it, but in this apparently they found some dif-
ficulty until the Order of Recollets in Paris invited the Jesuits
to assist them. At that time, the Duc de Ventadour was vice-
roy of New France, and, being much interested in the exten-
sion of the missions, gave his approval to the employment of

the Jesuits in the work. Accordingly, Enemond Masse, Charles

Lalement, who became afterwards a great favorite with Cham-

plain, and John de Brebeuf, came over to Quebec. At first
their reception by the colonists was not of a friendly nature,
and it is said that if the Recollets had not come forward and
opened their doors to them, the Jesuits would have returned
to Puance. They remained, however, and having command of
resources from influential friends, they began to build, and
brought over men to swell the settlement and cultivate the
ground. :

It was on the 19th Jane, 1625, that Fathers Lalement,
Masse and Brebeuf arrived at Quebeec, and with them came a

Franciscan priest of noble family, named Joseph de la Roche
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Dallion. Lalement remained at Quebee, and in 1626 wrote the
first letter of the now famous “Relations of the Jesuits,” while
Jean de Brebeuf, being selected for the Huron mission, passed
several months among the Indians, to prepare for the work
before him. Father Le Caron never returned to the Hurons,
but about the time Brebeuf started to labor among that tribe
he departed for France, and died there in March, 1632..
Father Viel, whilé'returning to Quebee, in 1625, was treacher-
ously murdered by a Huron guide, at a spot on the bank of
the rapids, near Montreal, which still bears the name of Sault
au Recollet. And thus the Franciscans gradually gave way
to the Jesuits.

The record of the Jesuit missionaries in North America is a
chapter of history full of personal devotedness, energy, cour-
age and perseverance. Men of intelligence and education,
they gave up all that civilized life could offer, to share the
precarious life of wandering savages, and were the first to
reveal the character of the interior of the country, its soils and
products, the life and ideas of the natives, and the system of
American languages.

In July, 1626, Brebeuf, in company with Father de Noue,
who had just arrived from France, and Joseph de la Roche
Dallion, started for the shores of Lake Huron. A man of
broad frame and giant strength, this great Jesuit priest com-
manded the respect of the Indians with whom he travelled, by

his tireless endurance, as stroke for stroke, with the strongest

of the Hurons, he dipped. his paddle from morning to night,

and, to the amazement of his savage companions, showed no
signs of fatigue. De Noue, who was comparatively aged, was
unable sometimes to bear the fatigues of the journey, and

weakened under his load, execiting thus the ridicule of the
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Indians. Then Brebeuf would hasten to his companion’s
assistance, and, relieving him of his burden, would carry his
double load for hours, much to the astonishment of all. When
they reached the mission of St. Joseph, they found Father
Viel's bark chapel still standing, and there Brebeuf and de
Noue remained, while Father Dallion went to open a mission
in another part.of the country.

Father Dallion remained but a short time among the Hu-
rons, for being summoned to Quebec he went there in 1627
and never returned to the mission, while Father De Noye,
unable to master the Huron language, and suffering from ill
health, departed also in the spring of 1627, and John de Bre-
beuf was left alone with the Hurons. This wonderful man
took up his position fearlessly and with a determination to
fight the battle of Christianity, no matter how powerful the
foe. Accustoming himself to the hardships of life in an
Indian camp, he set to work to win the souls of the savages,

and succeeded in endearing himself to them, even making

sonngcnn\'«rw, although, on the whole, he may be said to

have failed in creating much impression on their hardened
hearts. When he spoke to them of the doctrines of the
church, they would say, “ Echon,” you want us to love the
Iroquois, to take only one wife and to love her for all time:
you say that we must not eat the flesh of our enemies, and
ask us to give up our medicine feasts and many other things.
We tell you, you ‘are asking something we cannot do, unless
your God will change us from what we are. Brebeuf replied
that his God was all powerful.

In 1628, he was summoned to Quebee, and a short time
after his arrival there the city surrendered to the English,

under Admiral ‘Kirke, who carried the Franciscan and Jesuit
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priests to England, from whence they sailed for France, in
October, 1629.

About this time the court of France seems to have consider-
ed that both the Recollets and Jesuits had failed to acquire the
lungu.nggs of the Indians sufficiently to suit the work of God
and His Majesty the King. So each Order hastened to.put in
print evidences of its proficiency, the Recollets publishing a
Huren. dictionary, and the Jesuits a translation of the cate-
chism into Huron, with the Lord’s Prayer and other devotions
into Montaguais. But Cardinal Richelieu seemed to favor
neither Order, and when England yielded up her Canadian
conquest to France, on the 29th March, 1632, he offered the
mission to his favorite Order, the Capuchins, and only when
they declined it did he permit the Jesuits to return. With |
the restoration of Canada to France by the treaty of St. Ger- |

main, the great Jesuit missions may be said to have begun, as
the Recollets did not return to take up the work.

On the 13th July, 1632, Emery de Caeen entered upon pos-
session of Quebee, by right of his charter granted for the space
of one year by the King of France, and when he sailed for
Canada, Fathers Paul le Jeune and De Noue accompanied him,
to look after the missions. In the following year, Fathers
Brebeuf and Masse arrived with Champlain, and the hopes of
the missionaries were once more directed to the Huron coun-
try. But the Algonquins of the Ottawa refused them passage
through their country until Champlain finally purchased the
right of way, and in July, 1633, Fathers Daniel, Davost and
Brebeuf embarked with a party of Hurons, and, after much
hardship, being deserted by their Indian guides, arrived at
their destination. When Brebeuf reached the spot where he
had previously established the mission, he found his chapel
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destroyed and the village in ruins, but, taking up a trail, he
succeeded in finding his old Indian friends, who received him
with every manifestation of joy.

For nearly two years, these three priests worked together,
and in 1635 Fathers Daniel and Davost returned to Quebec.
While on their way back, they met Fathers Garnier and
Chastelain travelling to the northern mission, and at Three
Rivers they found Father Joques about ready to follow, the
latter having only arrived from France. So Fathers Daniel
and Davost knew that Brebeuf would not be alone many
days.

Father Joques arrived at the mission in September, 1636,

in time to see the missionaries undergo a terrible ordeal. It.

seems that the summer being dry, the drought had extended
far and near, and the medicine men of the tribe had blamed
the black cross in front of the mission for it. Brebeuf painted
the cross white, and still the drought continued. Then the
Fathers called a council and prayed for rain, and that evening
copious showers fell. The effect was greater than all the ser-
mons the Fathers had preached. Next, a disease broke out
among the Indians, carrying off many, and again the mission-
aries were blamed and their lives threatened on several occa-
sions. But Brebeuf was bold and brave, and, although he
had a narrow escape, he and his fellow priests being marked
for death, the Hurons, for some unaccountable reason, laid
down the murderous hatchet, and the mission was spared.

['he missionaries, who now numbered nine persons—Fathers

Brebeuf, Le Mercier, Chastelain, Garnier, Joques, Ragueneuu,

Duperon, Le Moyne and Jerome Lalemant, who acted as Su-
perior, had many such escapes and suffered many sore trials

at the hands of the fickle Hurons. They had two missions,
s
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one called Conception, and the other St. Joseph, but they
resolved that a permanent and central residence, isolated from
the Huron towns, which would serve as their headquarters,
was a necessity, and the result of this was that a chain of
buildings, including a large chapel, was erected and named
Sainte Marie.

In 1639, Fathers Joques and Garnier visited the Petun

tribe without meeting with any success, although the follow-

ing year Father Garnier was more fortunate, and established
himself in their midst. In 1641, some of the Ottawas, repre-
senting the great Algonquin tribe, visited the mission, and on
their return were accompanied by Fathers Raymbault and
Joques to Sault Sainte Marie, those two priests being the first
Europeans that ever passed through the Sault and stood on
the shores of the great Northern lake.

In 1640-41, Fathers Brebeuf and Chaumonot paid a visit
to a tribe known as the Neutrals, who lived on the peninsular
land stretching between Lakes Erie and Ontario, then, as
now, a most delightful ecountry. But the Neutrals would not
receive the priests, who, disappointed but not disheartened,
returned to Sainte Marie on 19th March, 1641. Several
Christian Hurons afterwards went to the Neutrals on mis-
sionary service, and in 1645 a band of the latter, numbering
about one hundred, visited the Huron village, but before any
good could result from the efforts of the priests and their
Huron converts, the Neutrals were almost wiped out of exist-
ence by the Iroquois.

In 1642, Phthers Claude Pijart and Charles Raymbault
opened a u{l)s:?on on the northern shores of Lake Nipissing,
and again, in 1645, Fathers: Pijart and Garreau labored
amongst the tribes in that part of the country. But they
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‘met with very little encouragement, and the sufferings they
endured and the insults heaped upon them would have dis-
heartened any other men. These unselfish, patient, enduring
priests, however, ‘ﬁnully succeeded in opening a mission with
the Nipissings, making many converts among them, and if the
tribe had not been dispersed in 1650 by the Iroquois, there is
reason to suppose that they would have been won eventually
to Christianity.

And now comes a l;erio«l of disaster to the brave mission-
aries. In 1648, the Iroquois, who were the most warlike and
ruthless among the American Indians, attacked the Hurons
and destroyed their villages. Father Daniel was shot dead in
his chapel while ministering to his people, and Fathers Bre-
beuf and Lalemant were put to death after enduring the most
horrible tortures. So complete was the destruction of the
Huron tribe that the fathers resolved to burn their mission
houses at Sainte Marie, and remove to an Island on Lake
Huron, to which they gave the name of Isle St. Joseph. The
Iroquois next attacked the Petuns, where Father Garnier had
a mission, who fell a victim to their ferocity, and about the
same time Father Chabanel, left behind by his companions, the
Hurons, who were fleeing from the Iroquois, was never seen
again, but it afterwards transpired that a treacherous Huron,
named Louis Honareenhax, an apostate Indian, met and killed
him. As a result of these disasters, arising from the assaults
of the Iroquois, the Jesuit missionaries were finally obliged,
in 1650, to abandon the Huron country, and descended to
Quebec with a number of Huron Indians, who afterwards
located at Lorette.

In 1655, the undaunted: missionaries resolved to make an-

other attempt to christianize the Iroquois,and Pére Chaumont
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and Claude Dablon succeeded in preaching the truths of

(‘hristianity to them. About the same time, Fathers Gabriel

Druillettes and Leonard Garreau started on a mission to the
Sioux, but on their way were captured by a band of Mohawks
and forced to return. In 1661, these two priests opened the
mission of St. Francois Xavier among the Crees of the North-
West, and this, and the missions attempted among the Sioux,
heyond the Mississippi, mark the western limit of the old
Jesuit efforts to convert the native tribes.

About this time, the Jesuits resigned the parishes on the
St. Lawrence, which they directed, and confined themselves to
their college and the Indian missions, and a collision having
taken place between them and the Governor, in regard to the
sale of liquor to the Indians, the Government of France sent
back the Recollets to labor in Canada. The latter, however,
did not undertaké any important missions among the tribes,
leaving that field to the Jesuits.

In 1663, the first missionary priest visited Hudson's Bay

in the person of Father La Couture, who went there by order

of the Governor of Canada, and this brings us to the time
when other orders of priests were permitted to enter the field
of Indian missions. In 1667, in addition to the Jesuit mis-
sionaries, two Sulpician priests began to labor among the
savages, Bishop Laval having relaxed his rule, which con-
fined the Indian missin‘s, under his jurisdiction, solely to the
Jesuit Fathers.

In a narrative such as the present one, with the small
amount of space at command, it is impossible to mention all
the names of the worthy missionaries engaged during those
early days in extending the Christian religion in the direc-

tion of the North-West; or their many acta of devotion :; but
D
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sufficient has been mentioned to show the heroism aud resig-
nation, under the most trying difficulties, of those noble men.
We must not forget, however, the lion-hearted Claude Allouez,
who gave the name of Sainte Marie to the waters dividing

Lakes Huron and Superior, and who for thirty years preached

the gospel to the Indians, and established missions among no
A ]

less than twenty different nations.

In 1671, Father Charles Albanel was the first white man
who made the overland journey by the Saguenay to Hudson's
Bay. Thus the missionaries gradually extended their sphere
of operations in the direction of the North-West, and while
the missions were being enlarged and extended in .the region
of the great inland lakes, and priests were known to pay
visits to the northern seas, it was not until 1731 that a mis-
sionary entered the vast prairie region of the north. It was
in that year that Pére Messager accompanied the Sieur
Varennes de la Verandrye on his expedition west of Lake
Superior, and was the first Christian priest who ever visited
what was known as Rupert’s Land. In 1736, a party of
voyageurs, under the command of one of the sons of M. de la
Verandrye, was accompanied by a Jesuit priest named Pére
Arneau, and this party, while camped on an island in a lake
named the Lac de la Croix, a short distance west of ‘Lake
Superior, was attacked by a band of Sioux, who massacred
them, the priest being among the number killed. From that
time until 1818 no serious attempt was made by the Church
of Rome to establish itself in the far North-West, when
Fathers Josepi\ Norbert Provencher and Sévere Dumoulin
arrived at Red River.

In closing this chapter, it may be well to give the following
ev:nts connected with the early missionaries in chronological
order :—

&
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Father Joseph le Caron discovered Lake Nipissing,

and was the first European that stoad on the
shores of Lake Huron.
Father John Dolbeau met the Esquimax.
Fathers Brebeuf and Chaumonot discovered Lake
Erie.
Fathers Joques and Raymbault discovered Lake
Supergior.
Futhvl‘fanues was the first white man that ever
saw Lake George.
Father Du Quen discovered Lake St. John.
Father Poncet was the first white man that sailed
down the St. Lawrence from Lake Ontario.
The Jesuits traced a map showing Lake Superior.
Father La Couture visited Hudson'’s Bay.
Father Allouez confirmed the report of the existence
of copper on the islands of Lake Superior.
Father Allouez discovered Lake Nipegon.

Father Charles Albanel was the first white man that

made_the overland journey by the Saguenay to

r was the first missionary to enter
the great prairie region of the North-West,
\
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CHAPTER V. /

EXPLORATIONS IN HUDSON'S BAY, AND CONFLICTS BETWEEN pos
THE ENGLISH AND FRENCH. mel

: - . ‘ i diry

AvLTHOUGH Sebastian Cabot is eredited with having entered
coal

Hudson’s Bay, the first explorer of its shores was, undoubted-
. nor
ly, Henry Hudson. Several attempts to find a northwest pas- I
J ut

Huq

dise

sage in the direction of the bay were made, prior to Hudson’s
expeditions, but none of them succeeded in penetrating farther

than Davis’ Straits. In 1605, James Hall and John Knight, l
1€\

two navigators of note, the former in the employ of the Danes ok
ar

and the latter in the service of England, made voyages to the by
3 >

northern seas. In 1606, Hall undertook another voyage, and ]'
e v

in the year following, he and Knight each undertook expedi- il
wi

tions in search of a short passage to India. In 1612, Hall bl
avi

O

pmlil

made his fourth and last voyage, which was fitted out by mer-
chant adventurers in London, but he was mortally wounded

in an encounter with the Emlu\imaux on the coast of Labrador, ol
and the vessels returned to England without making any new \\:;v
discoveries. None of ‘these expeditions succeeded in reaching - 'N
Hudson’s Bay, and it was left to Henry Hudson to make the m.l 3
discovery and explore the shores of that great inland sea. &W”]
It is a matter of regret that the names of the merchants of LR

In 1
the

London, who employed Henry Hudson, and supported by
their means his work of exploration, have not been preserved.

They were actuated more by public and p?tri()tic motives than

!
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to satisfy their own private ends, and they spared no expense
to accomplish the object they had in view, which was the dis-
covery of a shorter passage to the East Indies, by the north,
the north-east, or the north-west, it being said that Hudson
searched all these directions during the time he was employed

by them.

The tirst voyage undertaken by Henry Hudson for the pur-

pose of discovering a ppssage to the East Indies, was com-
menced on 1st May, 1607, when he left Gravesend, and sailed
directly north. On the 13th June he sighted land on the east
coast of Greenland, and again on the 2l1st, and as he sailed
northward the weather grew more temperate and pleasant
but, on the 2nd July, it became very cold. On the 14th July,
Hudson sent a boat ashore, but nothing worthy of note was
discovered, and he continued his voyage, until in latitude 82°
he was hindered by the ice, and found it impossible to proceed
farther. It was his intention to have sailed round Greenland,
by the north-west, so as to return home by Davis’ Straits, but
he was unable to do this, and made his way back to England
without attempting any further exploration, the whole voyage
having lasted about tive months.

On the 22nd April, 1608, Hudson started on his second ex-
pedition, but on arriving in the northern sea, found himself
again prevented by the ice in his several attempts to force a
way through. He endeavoured to tind a North-West passage
by entering Lumley’s Inlet, but, baffled in all directions, turn-
ed south, and finding the river, which still bears his name, he
ascended and explored it, erecting, at the same time, a fort,
near the present site of Albany, which he called St. George.
In 1609, he undertook his third voyage, and landing on
the coast of Newfoundland, traded some time with the
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Indians. From there he sailed in a southerly direction to
Virginfa, and~carried on an extensive trade along the shores,
for u~ purpose, it is thought, of lessening the losses entailed

\

upon| his employers by his various expeditions, as, so far, he

| ) . . s o .
had ;{unml nothing in the way of finding a short passage to

the Indies, which was the main object of his explorations.

On the 17th April, 1610, he sailed on his fourth and last
voyage, taking his departure from Blackwall, and his employ-
ers, on that oceasion, appointed a Mr. Colburne to act as his
assistant, which was evidently resented by Hl}«ls«)n as indicat-
ing a lack of confidence in him.  This appears to be the case,
because, after leaving port, and while yet in the river, he sent
Colburne back in a‘boat with a letter to the merchants, and
proceeded on his voyage without him. In May, he reached
Ieeland, and landing there, was hospitably entertained by the
people, but his erew, even at this early stage of the expedition,
showed signs of mutinous conduct, which he had some diffi-
culty in quelling.

In June, he left Iceland, and about the 9th of the month,
was off Frobisher's Straits: on the 15th, he saw the land
which Capt. Davis had named Desolation, and soon after this-
enterd the Straits which have since borne his name. The 3rd
August saw him in the Bay, and as he sailed along the shores
he gave names to the various islands and capes which he
passed. He thoroughly explored the west shore until the
month of September, when he once more had difflculty with
his men, which caused him to remove his mate, Robert Ivett,
for mutinous conduet, and although his stock of provisions was
getting low, he resolved upon wintering in the Bay, and in
November found a place suitable for the purpose. During the
winter, Hudson and his men suffered much from hunger and
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ion to hardships arising from the cold, and in the spring, when
shores, preparations were being made to return home, the expedition

ntailed was in a sore plight and the men ripe for open mutiny. Then

far, he a man named Henry Green, a protegé of Hudson's and a most
age to ungrateful scamp, conspired with Robert Ivett, the deposed
8. mate, and, with the assistance of a majority of the crew,
i last turned Hudson adrift in a boat, with his son and six more, in-

nploy- cluding a Mr. Woodhouse, who had aeconmgpanied the expedi-
as his tion for scientific purposes. With little provisions to sustain
dicat- life, the navigator and his companions must either have
e case, perished from hunger or been killed by the savages, as they

\e sent were never heard of again, while the mutineers themselves

ts, and suffered greatly during the voyage home, Green being killed in
sached fight with the Indians and Ivett dying during the passage.
by the . When the survivors reached home, one of them, named
ll‘itinn. Albacuc Priekett, wrote an account of the mutiny, in which

o diffi- he endeavoured to screen himself from blame, and from some
of the particulars he gave, the company of merchants decided
nonth, to send out another expedition in the double hope of saving
y land Hudson and finding the desired passage.
sr this- Captain Thomas Button, an able navigator and accomplished
he 8rd in other respects, was chosen to take command, and in May,
shotes 1612, he sailed with two vessels, the Resolution and Discovery.
ch ‘he Although it is known that Capt. Button kept a carefully
il the written journal of his voyage, he, for some reason, concealed
with much of the information it contained, and the public gained
Ivett, little by his explorations. It was learned, however, that he
8 Was entered Hudson’s Straits, and crossed the bay to the southern
nd in point of Southampton Island, which he named Carey’s Swans’
1z the Nest. He next kept on toward the western side, to which he
ir and gave the significant name of “ Hope's Check,” and, coasting

J
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along the shore, he f(is('m'c-rwl the important river, which he

called Port .\'c-]:um, after the waster of his ship, whom he
buried there, but which has since been known as Nelson
River. Here he wintered, and, according to Fox, kept three
fires burning continually, and although supplied with great
store of partridges and other fowl, he lost many men. On the
breaking up of the ice he made a thorough exploration of the
Bay, and of Southampton Island, and finally, in the autumn
returned to England. There is every reason to believe, as
Button was accompanied by a number of experienced men of
ability, that he collected a great deal of valuable information,
but he refused to publish it, even the exact date of his return
to England being unknown.

Owing to the death of his master, Prince Henry, Captain
Button did not make a second voyage, and the company of
merchants therefore sent out Capt. Gibbons, in 1614, who
sailed in the ship Discovery, but, missing the Straits, and get-
ting eaught in the ice, returned to England without accomp-
lishing anything.

These repeated disappointments, however, did not deter the
company of merchants from earrying on the expeditions, and
in 1615 they again fitted out the Discovery for another voyage.
On April 6th, Robert Bylot and William Baffin embarked on
this vessel upon the first of the two voyages commonly as-
sociated with their names. They sailed from the Secilly
Islands, and \Bylut, who had served under Hudson Button and
Gibbons, being. well qualified for the position, took the com-
mand, and, foll«)tvirg a course familiar to him, the two
navigators passed through Hudson’s Straits and ascended
what is now known as Fox Channel. Here, and at the
western end of Hudson's Straits, they spent about three weeks

and then sailed for home.
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Bylot returned to England, quite kiscouraged from looking
further in Hudson’s Bay for a passage, and proposed to his em-
ployers to try Davis Straits. This, they agreed to, and he ac-
cordingly sailed once more in the Discovery early in 1616, on a
voyage which was 'destined to be of far greater interest and
importance than the previous one, and to rank among the most
famous of the Artic voyages. Leaving Gravesend on the 26th
March, with a company numbering in all seventeen persons,
Bylot and Baffin coasted along Greenland, which had been
named “ Meta Incognita,” and explored its shores thoroughly.
They then passed through Davis Straits, and examined both
shores of the great sea, which has ever since been known as
Baffin’'s Bay, where they discovered and named Lancaster
Sound and Jones Sound, besides numerous smaller bodies of
water and many Islands. The crew of the Dixcovery heing
now attacked with scurvy, the navigators sailed for home, ar-
riving at Dover on the 30th August, and in the report which
Bylot wrote of the voyage, he gave most valuable information
about the fisheries, although he was not favorable to the idea
of being able to find a passage to the Indies.

After this Captain Hawkridge and Captain Jones made
voyages, and entered Hudson’s Bay, but no further expeditions

were undertaken to discover a north-west passage until 1631,

With these two exceptions, a period of fifteen years elapsed

after Bylot and Baflin’s last voyage before explorations in Hud-
son’s Bay were renewed, when Captain Luke Fox, a Yorkshire-
man of keen sense and great perseverance, sucoeeded in interest-
ing the merchants of London once more. Fox was a skilled
navigator, and, having given much study and attention to
north-western explorations, was most sanguine of success. On
the 5th of May, 1631, therefore, he sailed from l)eptfurd, in the
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Charles, a pinnace of seventy tons, vietualled for eighteen
months, He searched the western part of Hudson's Bay, dis-
covered the strait and shore known as “ Sir Thomas Roe’s Wel-
come,” sailed up Fox Channel to a point within the Artic cirele,
and satisfied himself of the existence of the long sought pas-
sage, by a careful observation of the tides, but failed to dis-
cover it. He then sailed for England, and cast anchor in the

Downs, on the 31st October. )

At the same time that Captain Fox (succeeded in interesting

the London merchants, the mewpchants of Bristol became inter-
ested in the same direction, and the two companies came to an
understanding to share the honor and profit of any discovery
made. The Bristol merchants sent out a Captain James, who,
on the same day that Fox began his voyage, sailed in a new
ship of seventy tons, named the Maria, manned by twenty-two
persons, and victualled also for eighteen months. Captaj
James confined his explorations chiefly to the waters of H
son’s Bay, more particularly to its south-eastern shore, al
wintered upon Charlton Island, where he built a house, in
which the ship’s company lived from December until June, en-
during all the horrors of an Aretic ywinter on an island only a
little north of the latitude of London.  On the 2nd July, they
again set sail, but were so hampered by ice that their progress
was very slow, and in the latter part of August, James, with
the unanimous concurrence of his officers, determined to return
home. He arrived at Bristol, on the 22nd October, having
added almost nothing to the knowledge gained by Fox in a
third of the time, although a part of Hudson’s Bay is named
after him to this day. The account given by James, of the
hardships he and his crew endured, combined with his asser-
tion that there was no passage, had a dampening effect, and

~d

for

land

('Ul()]
com
and
De (
said
the
exple
push
Rive
Win
to th
dison
journ
inlan
India
out t
throu
tryme
credu
merch
sentat
explor
where
at thi
Grosei



ighteen
ay, dis-
’'s Wel-
s circle,
‘ht pas-

to dis-

rin the

westing
e inter-
e to an
&(‘()Vt‘l‘.\‘
s, who,

1 4 new

yuse, in
e, en-
| only a
y, they
Irogress
a8, with
) return
having
'ox in a
i named
, of the
8 asser-
pet, and

wd

EXPLORATIONS IN HUDSON'S BAY. 71
(4

for over thirty years, no further efforts were wade by Eng-
land™ at discovery irf the north.

In 1656, however, the l“n-nc_h in Canada sent Jean Bour-
don to Hudson’s Bay, who made treaties with the Indians
there, and found the trade in furs very profitable. It is also
on record that about six years afterwards the New England
colonists took u]f the work of exploration, and that a ship,
commanded by Captain Shapley, was sent by them to the Bay,
and about the same time, the bold and enterprising explorer,
De Groseillier, pushed his way overland to its shores. It is
said that the trading operations of the “ Coure rs des Boix” in
the interior, and the information received from those hardy
explorers, led De Groseillier and Raddison, his companion, to
push their way through Lake Superior up the Kaministiquia
River, then through the Lake of the Woods, and along the
Winnipeg River into Winnipeg Lake, thence by Nelson River
to the shores of Hudson’s Bay. De' Groseillier and Rad-
dison were conducted by the Assiniboine Indians on their
Journey to the north,and after they had looked upon the great

inland sea they returned to Quebec, being still guided by their

Indian friends. The sagacity of those two explorers pointed

out to them the advantages of carrying on the ‘fur trade
through the Bay, and they endeavored to interest their coun-
trymen in Canada in the scheme, but without success. In-
credulity, want of means, and other causes, led the French
merchants in Quebec to turn a deaf ear to the glowing repre-
sentations of De Groseillier and Raddison, and the two
explorers, disgusted with their treatment, left for France,
where, however, they met with no better success. It was
at this time that the Duke of Montague, hearing of De
Groseillier and Raddison’s explorations, sent for them, and
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became so favorably impressed with their scheme that he
gave them letters to Prince Rupert in England, who was then
a patron and admirer of such enterprises.

Prince Rupert immediately took an interest in the matter,
and, in 1668, he, with some others, fitted out the Ketch “ Non-
such ” or “ Nompareil,” under command of Captain Zachariah
Gillam, and sent De Groseillier in it to Hudson’s Bay. One
account says that this was the second voyage of De Groseillier
to the Bay, the other being in a ship fitted out by the Quebec
merchants, and it is further stated that on this occasion six
Englishmen were discovered at Port Nelson, in a hut, almost
starved, and in a very weak condition; their story being that
they hailed from Boston, and had been left on shore through
their ship being driven out of the Bay by the ice. There is
some doubt about this expedition from Quebec, and the story
connected with it, but there is no question about the voyage
in the “ Nonpareil,” as the expedition wintered in the Bay,
and erected a small stone fort which Capt. Gillam called “Fort
Charles.”

Possession of Hudson’s Bay, therefore, passed into the hands
of the English, and on the 2nd May, 1670, as a result of Capt.
Gillam’s voyage, a charter was granted to Prince Rupert and
his associates by King Charles, the Preamble to which reads
as follows :— ;

That, whereas our dear, entirely beloved cousin, Prince

Rupert, ete., have, at their own cost and charges, undertaken

an expedition for Hudson’s Bay, in the north-west parts of
America, for the discovery of a new passage into the South
sea, and for the finding of some trade for furs, minerals and
other considerable commodities, and by such, their undertak-

ing, have already made such discoveries as do encourage them
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to procead farther in pursuance of their said design, by means

whereof there may probably arise great advantage to us and
our Kingdoms, ete., ete.

. In 1673, a Jesuit missionary, named Father Charles Albanel,
was sent overland with letters to De Groseillier in Hudson's
Bay, and the Governor of the company, suspecting that a plot
was being hatched in favor of a French occupation, dismissed
De Groseillier and Raddison from the service. The latter then
openly tendered their services to the French, which were ac-
cepted, and an expedition fitted out by them for the Bay : but
in the meantime the English resolved to possess Nelson River,
and for that purpose built a fort at its mouth, appointing
John Radigar, Governor. About this time, De Groseillier and
Raddison arrived with the French, and a fight ensued, which
resulted in the defeat of the English at Nelson River, Radigar
and Captain Gillam being taken prisoners, and conveyed to
the St. Lawrence by De Groseillier, who left his son, Chouart,
in charge of the Fort.

De Groseillier, however, did not long remain in friendly
relations with the French, and on his return handed over the
fort at Nelson River to the English. He then, while in the
service of the latter, established factories on Rupert, Moose
and Albany Rivers; but in 1678, France, having sent out M.
Colbert to contest with the English for possession, De Groseil-
lier, who appears to have been somewhat of a fickle tempera-
ment, was induced to take part once more on the side of his
countrymen, and the result was that all the forts built by him
passed out of the hands of the English. Not long after this,
Lord Preston, the English ambassadors in Paris, persuaded
Raddison, who was then in France, to go to London and there
surrender the forts in Hudson's Bay, which, at the time, were
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in command of his nephew, Chouart De Groseillier. The
French, not being aware of this action on the part of Raddison,
sent out two ships, in command of Montegnie, who, on reach-
ing St. Theresa, was surprised to find it in possession of the
English. Montegnie was obliged to winter on some small
river in the n«ighlxn‘l{m)«l, and r¢turned the following year to
France, with a poor showin pin-the way of trade. It is said

that the company who.sen§ Montegnie out lost heavily by the

hpwlitinn, and that Theres Conthey, the head thereof, peti-

tioned the French King for redress, who, on the 20th May,
1684, gave them, by charter, possession of certain portions of
Hudson's Bay. '

In 1685, the Hudson’s Bay Company possessed the five
flourishing factories of Albany, Moose, Rupert, Nelson and
Sm'«;'n‘ but, in 1686, the French, under Chevalier De Troyes,
captured Rupert, Moose and ;Albany, and in 1690, under
Monsieur D'Iberville, they took Fort Severn but an attack
made on Fort Factory the same year having failed, it re-
mained in the hands of the English.

The French now remained in possession of the forts on
James Bay for seven years, when the Hudson’s Bay Cempany,
with the assistance of the Crown, recovered thém. The fol-
1>wing year they were captured once more by the French, and
in 1695, they were retaken by the English, with the aid of the
King's ships of war, Bonaventura and Seaforth.

These constant changes in possession almost destroyed the
trade of the Hudson's Bay Company, and they were busily
engaged in preparing to recover it when D’Iberville, with two
ships, the Poli and Charonte, appeared upon the scene.
Geyer, who had successfully held York Factory against the
French, in 1690, was still in command, but less fortunate in
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1694 : he was compelled by D'Iberville to surrender on the
14th October. The French commander then remained during
the winter, and on the following 20th July took his departure
for France leaving one Forest in charge.

The next year, 1696, York Factory was retaken by the
Engligh, who employed four ships for the purpose, and the
garrison were carried prisoners to England. But D’Iberville

immediately returned from France with a squadron, consisting

of tive vessels, and, in Hudson’s Straits, meeting the English

flect, an engagement ensued. The French ships were, the
Pelican, 50 guns: the Pulmier, 40 guns:; with three smaller
vessels, the Wasp, Profound and Violente, and the English
flect consisted of the H.aumpshire, 56 guns, and two Hudson's
Bay ships, the Deeriny, 36, and the Hudson's Bay, 32 guns.
The engagement resulted without success to either side, and
immediately afterwards the Hudson's Bay and Hamp<hire
were lost, none of the erew of the latter being saved. The
Pelican, which, at the time, fought the three English ships
alone and behaved very pluckily, was afterwards lost, D'Iber-
ville, who was in command, escaping with part of his crew to
the shore. The French commander then, with his three re-
maining ships, took York Factory, and, after wintering there,
returned to France in the Profoun, leaving M. Serigny as
Governor, and M. Jerome, Lieutenant, in his absence.

The next year, 1697, the treaty of Ryswick left the French
in possession of all the forts in Hudson's Bay, except Albany,
and in 1704, a party of French went overland from Canada to
attack it, but were repulsed by Captain Barlow, who was in

charge. The treaty of Utrecht, in 1713, restored to the Hud-

., son's Bay Company possession of the Bay, and sooa after-

wards they built a wooden' fort at Churchill, which they
called Prince of Wales Fort.
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During. all this time, owing to the difficulties of their

position, the Hudson’s Bay (,‘4)1’11»111)’ were unable to give any
attention to the finding of a north-west passage, but in 1719,
Captain Barlow and Mr. Knight, who, it was said, was eighty
years of age at the time, were sent out on an expedition for
this purpose. They never returned, and their fate somewhat
discouraged further attempts, but, in 1722, Capt. Seroggs con-
ducted an expedition, and about 1742 the British Government,
having obtained from the officers of the Hudson’s Bay Com-,
pany information which was regarded as furnishing decisive
proofs of the existence of a north-west passage, despatched
a naval expedition, in command of Captain Middleton, but
it resulted in no important discoveries, although the ships
wintered in Churchill River.

A long and warm dispute now arose between a Mr. Dobbs,
who was a warm advocate in favor of the possibility of a
north-west passage, and Capt. Middleton, in regard to the
explorations of the latter. The result of this was that a com-
pany of influential and public-spirited men formed a company
for the purpose of sending out another expedition. - The
capital was £10,000, divided into 100 shares of £100 each, and
the govcrmﬁcnt of England offered a reward of £20,000 in
case the discovery was made. Two ships were purchased and
fitted out, one of which was named the Dobbs-Galley, under
command of Capt. William Moore, and the other, the California,
commanded by Capt. Francis Smith.

On the 31st May, 1746, these two vessels, in company with

four of the Hudson’s Bay Company ships, set sail from Yar-

In the Parliamentary library, Ottawa, may be seen a map, published in London in 1776, by
Thomas Jeffrey, Geographer to the King, on which is engraved this note: * In latitude 53 'tis
pretended that in 1740 Admiral de Fonte entered and sailed by lakes and rivers till he found a
ship (as is supposed in Hudson's B;y), from Boston, in New England.
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mouth Roads, on the last expedition in search of a North-
West passage through Hudson’s Bay. The vessels were ab-

sent over a year, returning on the 14th Oct., 1747, and an

probabilities of the futurefdiscovery of a passage were fully

interesting account of the \7}'1;;3- was published, in which the

discussed. The report Was written in a spirit of unfriendli-
ness to the Hudson’s Bay Company, whose officers at Ghure-
hill, York, Albany and Moose River, were described as having
shown themselves unfavorable to the success of the expedition.
It admitted that the Company, even in those early days, had

acquired a wonderful influence over the Indian tribes—an in-

/ fluence which they have retained ever since. But the narra-

tive of the Dobbs-Galley expedition was written in a spirit of
prejudice, and several of the accounts published about this
time, by persons who were engaged or interested in the
sending of expeditions in search of a North-West passage,
were t'\'itlclltl)' biased, so far as t}lt-_\' related to the ('mnpn.n_\',
simply because the officers, being mindful of their duties to
their employers, were not likely to always fall in with the
views of explorers.

From 1740 to 1748, instructions of the strictest character
were sent out by the Company to their officers at Hudson’s
Bay to be on’ their guard in dealing with any ship or ships
coming near the forts. As a specimen of these, we give the
following extract from a letter sent to the officer in charge of

Albany fort in 1744,
Loxvoxn, 10th May, 1744.%

To Mvr. Joseph Isbister and Council, at Albany Fort :

The English and French having declared war against each mwr,
and the war with Spain still continuing, we do hereby strictly direct you
to be always on your guard, and to keep a good watch, and that you keep
all your men as near home as possible.

E
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You are to fire point blank upon any ship, sloop or vesscl that slﬁxll
come near the Factory, unless they make the true signal and answer
yours,

This warning was repeated each year until 1848, the words,
in each case being almost identical, and it was addressed to
all the officers at the various forts.

Probably Mr. Dobbs and his party took umbrage because
the Hudson’s Bay Company officials, in their case, carried out
these instructions to the very letter. A persual of the follow-
ing letters, addressed to the commanders of the expedition,
will show, however, that assistance was not refused, but, on the
contrary, was offered to the expedition, although the ships
were prevented from approaching the factories without due
permit.

Acaust, 27TH 1746,
To the commanders of the two ships lying off this river's month :
GENTLEMEN,

We would advise you for your own safety not to proceed any
further with your ships, boats or vessels anywhere near or about this fort,
unless you send one man with a proper authority from the Government or
Company trading into this Bay for so doing; otherwise I shall do my

utmost endeavors to hinder any ship or boat from entering this river.

This is our firm resolution.
James Isuam.
Dated at York Fort,

August 27th, 1746,

The next communication was on the 2nd September follow-

_Jng, and read thus:

The Commander-in-Chief of the Dobbs-Galley and California :
« These :(—
G ENTLEMEN,

According to His Majesty's printed Act of Parliament, 1744, wg
observe that it is therein specified that no ship or ships that are or should
be fitted out to go upon discoveries througfl Hudson's Bay into Wager
River, and so into the South Seas, or otherwise, are to molest or dis-
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turb the Hudson’s Bay Company’s rights and privileges in Hudson's Buy,»’
so far as the said Company’s charter extends in the said Bay, upon any
account whatsoever. And the said Act also specifies, that no person or
persons belonging to such discovery ships are to traffick or trade, directly
or indirectly, with any natives, or any other person or persons within the
limits of the said Company's charter. And we obserye that in His
Majesty's said printed Act of Parliament, it is our ddty to hinder any
ship or ships from entering in or near any of the Company’s territories
in Hudson's Bay, so far as their said charter extends ; therefore, accord-
ing to the aforesaid Act of Parliament, we desire that you would not offer
to bring your ships any higher up this river, but to lay them below what
we call Robison’s Culley, where you may expect what assistance we are
able to give you, so far as our orders are from the Hudson’s Bay Com-
pany, and desire your answer to this before you proceed any further.
Though at same time would advise you, as before, to make the best

of your way to Churchill River, where Yo re seusible the ships may
winter without any damage,

And rest,
Your very/humble servants,
James Ismawm.
CHARLES Bravy.

/
Dated at York Fort, / Ricaarp Forp.

Sept. 2, 1746,

From the above it will be mz'n that the Company’s officers
were only ‘eautious about performing their duty to the letter,
without, however, refusing Any assistance which it was within/
their power to give. ~_/

Indeed, the great services rendered by the officers of the
Hudson'’s Bay Company to explorations at different times in
the History of the North-West, indicate that they were not
unfriendly to such efforts. The various expeditions of officers
themselves, such as Bean, Christopher, Johnston, Duncan,
Hearne, Rae and others, and the aid rendered by the Com-
pany to the British Government in the explorations of Parry,
Franklin, Ross, Beechey, Back, ete., is a conclusive proof of

this.

To return, however, to the immediate subject of this chap-
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ter, we find that in 1742, owing to the encroaches of the
French fur traders in the interior, who were intercepting the
Indians, and preventing them from visiting the shores of
Hudson's Bay, the Company built a fort about 150 miles up
the Albany River, and called it Fort Hurley. From this time
until 1782, the English enjoyed undisputed possession of the
Bay, but in that year, on the 8th August, three French ships,
the Sceptre, 74 guns; the Astarte and the Engageante, each
36 guns, under the command of Monsieur la Perouse, unex-
pectedly appeared before Fort Prince of Wales, which was
under the charge of Samuel Hearne, and the day following, al-
though in a good state to resist a siege, it capitulated, and the
invaders, to the number of four hundred, entered and took
possession.  Another mw says, that although the fort was
well mounted and farnishedjwith plenty of ammunition, there
was only a foree of thirt.\"-nim- men to defend it. Perouse
then went to York Factory, which was also strongly fortified,
but short of men, there being only sixty English and twelve
Indians to resist an attack. On the appearance of the French,
the Governor, without firing a shot, handed over the fort, and
some assert that from the weak state of the enemy, and
his own strong position, he might have defied all efforts at
capture. x

The loss to the Hudson’s Bay Company through this attack

on the part of the French, was a most serious one, the whole

of\their stores, together with great quantities of provisions,
ete., being destroyed. The French themselves, through the
severity of the climate, and their own . inexperience, lost
heavily, and this, without gaining any corresponding advan-
tage, for the English ever afterwards remained in possession

of the Bay.
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CHAPTER VL
THE FUR TRADERS,

From the earliest settlement in Canada, the fur trade was
considered of the first importance, and the profits derived
from it were the main incentive for earrying on explorations in
order to extend its operations among the various Indian tribes.
As the country became settled, the fur-bearing animals de-
creased in number around the settlements, and those who
traded in peltries were obliged to seek more distant fields in
the pursuit of their calling. It was in the prosecution of the
fur trade that men were first induced to penetrate the wilds
of the north-west, to roam over its vast prairies, ascend its
mighty rivers, and explore its mountains. It may therefore
be truly said that the fur traders were the forerunners of
civilization in North America.

The men who dealt dirvectly with the Indians, who followed
them in their journeyings, and visited their far-off camps,
were a bold and hardy set of adventurers, who, in their
wandering mode of life, and their.constant intercourse with
the savages, soon lost all relish for their former habits and
native homes. These men, in the early days of Canada, when
it was known as “ New France,” were called “ Coureurs des
Bois,” and were accustomed to make trading excursions among
the Indians, extending sometimes to twelve or fifteen months,

and even longer. They were given the necessary credit by
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the merchants in the settlements, to permit them to proceed
on their commercial undertakings, and, taking with them the
goods suitable for the wants or fancy of the Indians, they
wowld start on one of their long and arduous journeys. On
their return they would bring back the furs which they had
been able to collect from the red men in exchange for the
goods, and the proceeds of the sale of these furs went to pay

the merchants, the balance, if any over, being spent in riotous

living in the settlementy uptil it became necessary to start

upon another trading trip.

This mode of life tended to make the “ Coureurs des Boiv”
a licentious and dissipated set of men, which brought them
into disrepute, especially with the missionary priests, and

their unserupulous conduet reached such a pitch that - the

French Government in Canada finally decided that trading

with the Indians should be done only by license. It was in-
tended that the permits to trade should be granted to men of
good character, but they were frequently given to persons as
a reward for services, with permissiog to sell them to the
merchants. The latter, however, sold them to whoever chose
to pay for them, so that the licensing system failed to be the
protection against unscrupulous traders, which it was intended
to be. While France was in possession of Canada, the system
continued, and it was used in rewarding officers of the army,
or others of good family connections, not likely to make use
of the permits for trading purposes, but they sold them for
good prices, because, whoever possessed the exclusive trade by
licenseé, of a district, was the only person to whom the Indians
could apply for such articles as they required in exchange for
furs.

That the traders abused the privileges they enjoyed by
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\

license, there is /”{w doubt, and, although the missionaries
watched them closely, they were unable to check them. At
last, the bad contluet of the “Coureurs des Bois” caused the
establishment of military posts to be made at different points
of the country for the purpose of controlling them, after
which, a number of able and respectable men commenced to
trade with the Indians, on a scale larger than the “Coureurs
des Bois " were able to attempt.

About this time, Verandrye, son of the Seignior of Va-

rennes, and who had served in the army in Europe, as well

as in America, conceived the idea of exploring the coun-
try to the north-west. The scheme was approved by Beau-
harnois, the Governor, but the French ministry would not aid
the enterprise by contributing towards the cost of the expe-
dition, so Verandrye formed a trading company in Montreal,
and, in 1731, set out for Lake Superior, taking with him a
priest named Pere Messager. Although no assistance was
rendered to him by the Government, he was expected and em-

" powered to taRe possession, in the name of the French king,

of all the country he should discover. /

Verandrye, however, between the years 1731 and 1733, de-
voted himself more to establishing trade for his company than
making explorations on behalf of the French king, and his
followers being bold, active, and enterprising men, carried
their operations far into the interior. Starting from Kaminis-
tiquia, where a fort had been established in 1717 by Lieuten-
ant Robertal de Lanoue, they passed westward, erecting Fort
St. Peter on the way, and, in 1732, they constructed Fort St.
Charles at the Lake of the Woods,

They then followed the Winnipeg river, and on its banks
erected Fort Maurepas, from which point they continued their
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exploration across Lake Dauphin, Swan Lake, Red Deer

River, and then along the Saskatchewan up to the junction of
the two branches of that mighty river. The Verandryes are
credited with the building of Fort Dauphin at the head of
Lake Manitoba, Fort de la Reine at its foot, Fort Bourbon at
the head of Lake Winnipeg, and Fort. Rouge at the junction
@f the Red and Assiniboine rivers. They are also said to have
penetrated the interior as far as the Yellow Stone River, and
to the foot of the Rocky Mountains. In 1736, Verandrye
lost one of his sons at the hands of the Indians, and the
story of the massacre is pathetically related by him in
his journal. It appears that two’of his sons, with a couple
of men, had been sent to Fort Maurepas to et as a guard,
and to await his arrival, but returned unexpectedly om
4th June, bringing news of the death of his nephew, La Jem-
eraye, and of the scarcity of food. “I had,” says Verandrye,
“many people in the Fort (St. Charles), and no provisions,
which determined me to send in haste three canoes to bring
us assistance and some goods. The Reverend Father (Arneau)
immediately resolved to go to Michillimackinae. He asked
me for. my eldest son, as he hoped the journey would be
speedy. I could not possibly oppose him, he being absolutely
resolved. They embarked on the 8th June, and-were all mas-
sacred by the Sioux at seven leagues “from our fort, by the
greatest of all treasons. I lost my son, the Reverend Father,
and all my Frenchmen : I shall regret it all my life.”

In 1742, one of the sons of Verandrye reached the Missouri,
but, being upable to obtain the necessary guides, returned to
the headquarters of his father. The elder Verandrye sent him
back with another son and two Frenchmen, and the four

made a journey to the foot of the Rocky Mountains, where
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they made a bargain with a tribe of Indians to escort them
to the top of the Rockies, so that they might gaze upon the
great western ocean. But the guides, fearing that in their
absence their enemies would attack their village, refused to

go, and the Verandryes were obliged to abandon the idea of

climbig the mountains.

Until 1742, the Hudson’s Bay Campany had confined their
trading operations to the shores of Hudson’s Bay, but in that
vear they made their first advance inland, by effecting a settle-
ment; as shown in a previous chapter, about 150 miles up the
Albany River. This was done to intm'bvpt the Indians who
were then beginning tp carry their furs to the French in the
interior, rather than to the English on the Bay. In 1749,
Verandrye died, and the next year the work of exploration
was taken up by Le Gardeur St. Pierre, who, by orders of the
Marquis de Lajonquiére, Governor of New France, penetrated
the North-West to discover the Western Sea, and on this ex-
pedition a Jesuit priest, named Father Lamorenerie, accom-
panied it part of the way, but, worn out with the fatigue and,
hardships of the journey, was obliged to return. In his report
of the expedition, this explorer testifies to the great influence
which the Hudson’s Bay Company had, at that time, over the
Indians, and relates the following instance : “The English, an-
noyed at not receiving a large amount of furs at Hudson's
Bay, sent collars to the Indians, forbidding them, under penal-
ty of dying, to carry the furs elsewhere than to them. Not
having Hone so, and about eight hundred of them having died
from eold, they were all seized with fright, and told one an-
other that the Manitou (the devil) had wrecked vengeance on
them, in answer to the prayer of the English.” In another
part, he says, “ All combined, bring me to the conclusion that

P
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it is not possible to penetrate further than I have done, on
account of the war in which all the nations of this continent
are engaged, in which they are encouraged by the English, an
easy matter for them, the Indians being so greatly afraid, that
their threats alone are able to make them.undertake any-
thing.” St. Pierre’s report shows, also, that French traders

had penetrated as far as, or near to, the Rocky Mountains, long

before his expedition took place. “He (M.de Niverville, one

of his party ”), says St. Pierre, “gave me an account of what
he had learned at the settlement he had made near the Rocky
Mountains, that a party of Indians, who were going to war,
met with a nation loaded with beaver, who were going by a
river which jssues from the Rocky Mountains, to trade with
the French, who had their first establishment on an island at
a small distance from the land, where there is a large store-
house, that, when arrived there, they made signals, and people
came to them to trade for their beavers, in exchange for which
they give them knives, a few lances, but no firearms; that
they sell also horses and saddles, which shelter them from
arrows when they go to war. These Indians Ftively assert-
ed that the traders were not English.” Both Veérandrye and
St. Pierre wrote interesting journals of their expeditions.

It was not until 1767 that English traders entered the in-
terior of the North-West. In that year, Mr. Thomas Currie,
having procured guides and interpreters, penetrated the coun-
try as far as Fort Bourbon, one of the French posts at the
west end of Cedar Lake on the Saskatchewan, where he
carried on a most successful trade with the Indians. The fol-
lowing year, a Mr. James Finlay went as far as Nipawee, the
last of the French settlements on the Saskatchewan, where he

engaged successfully in the fur trade for a number of years.
\
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After the British took possession, the *license” system of
the French was done away with in the North-West, and free
trade took its place. The adventurers in the Indian country,
after this, made large profits, which brought about keen com-
petition, resulting disastrously to the Indians, for, instead of
endeavoring to secure trade by offering better or cheaper
goods, the traders made use of a profuse supply of spirituous
liquor as a shorter and more certain method. The ungovern-
able propensity of the Indians for intoxicants is well known,
and the disorders that ensued from this mode of carrying on
trade, may be imagined. The traders were scattered over a
country of vast extent, and so far removed from civil author-

ity, that they believed that they could commit almost any
crime with impunity.

These men were not only engaged in debauching the In-

dians, but they used the natives when under the influence
of liquor, as the means of taking revenge upon their rivals in
trade, and one trader having a grudge against another, instead
of resorting to personal violence himself, would employ or
persuade the Indians to do the deed. - Mr. Henry, in his inter-
esting account of travels and adventures, says, that on arriv-
ing at Grand Portage, Lake Superior, in 1775, he found the
traders in a state of extreme reciprocal hostility, each pursu-
ing his own in such a manner as might most injure his neigh-

bor, and the consequences were very hurtful to the morals of
the Indigns.

]
At this stage, it may be interesting to note some particulars

of the military system carried on by the French Governmeént,
prior to the eession of the country to the English, and which,
although not altogether a prevention of outrages against the
Indians, served as a check upon the traders and was certainly
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better than the system of free trade afterwards followed, and
to which allusion has just been made. Sir Guy Carleton, in
a letter addressed to Lord Shelburne, in 1768, states as
follows : “ The annexed return of the French-posts of troops
for the protection of trade, with the number of canoes sent up
in the year 1754, shews in some measure the extent of trade
and system pursued by the French Government in Indian
affairs ; they did not depend on the number of troops, but on
the diseretion of their officers, who learned the language of
the natives, acted as magistrates, compelled the traders to deal
equitably, and distributed the king's presents: by this conduct
they avoided giving jvalmm‘\',.mnl gained the affections of an
ignorant, eredulous and brave people, whose ruling passions
are independence, gratitude and revenge, with an unconquer-
able love of stmng drink, which must prove destructive to
them and the fur trade, if permitted to be sent among them :
thus managing them by address, where foree could not avail,
they reconciled them to their troops. The country was divid-
ed in certain districts, and the only restraints laid on traders
were, first, not to go beyond the bounds of that district they
obtained passes for, and secondly, not to earry more spirituous
liquors than was necessary for their own use, nor to sell any

of that to the Indians: the king's posts, or rather the in-

tmmlnnt'rm‘wm'v the only ones excepted from this general rule.

Under these regulations, the canogs went first to the post of
the district from whence they had full liberty to go among
the Indians and accompany them to their hunting-grounds:
they likewise called on their return: if any were ill-treated,
they complained to the commandant, who assembled the
chiefs and procured redress. The savages also made com-

plaints and obtained immediate satisfaction—an exact report
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of all of which was sent to the governor. This return may be
depended upon for so much as it contains, but as the King of
France was greatly concerned in all this trade, a corrupt ad-
mini.etmtinn did not think it their interest that all these
matters should appear in a full, clear and lasting manner.”
Sir Guy Carleton then suggests the sending of military men
as explorers, and the extension of explorations to the Pacific
Coast. He says: “1 shall easily ‘find in the troops here
(Quebee) many officers and men_very ready to explore any
part of this continent, who require no other encouragement
than to be told such service will be acceptable to the King,
and if properly executed will recommend them to his favor ;
but as they are unacquainted with the country, the Indian
languages and manners, 'tis necessary to join with them some
Canadians to serve as guides and interpreters. The gentlemen
here are mostly poor and hfive families : in order to induce
them to attach themselve thoroughly to the King's interests,
‘tis necessary they should be assured of their being taken into
his service for life, and in case they perish on these expeditions
that their widows will enjoy their pay, to support and educate
their children. Should His Majesty think proper to allow the
traders to go up to the Western Lakes, as formerly, I think a
party might winter in one of those posts, set out early in spring
for the Pacifiec Ocean, find out a good port, take” itsWatitude,
longitude, and deseribe it so accurately, as to enable m\- ships
from the East Indies to find it out with ease, and then return

the year following. Your Lordship will readily perceive the

advantages of such discoveries, and how difficult ftu-mpts to
1

explore unknown parts must prove to the Englis

, unless we
avail ourselves of the knowledge of the Canadians/ who are

well acquainted with the country, the language and manners

of the natives.”
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But the explorations of the North-West were to be left
chiefly in the hands of the fur traders. - In the spring of 1775,
Mr. Joseph Frobisher with thirty or forty canoes went as far
north as Churchill river, and, intercepting a number of Indians,
on their way to Fort Churchill, succeeded in buying their furs.
In the following year he n-tm'm;«l to the same place, which
was at a point in lat. 554, long. 1034°, and his'second visit was
equally successful with the first. He then sent his brother

further west, who penetrated to the Lake Isle a la Croix in lat.

55°, 26', long. 108",

Meantime the Hudson’s Bay Company had not been idle

or in 1770 they sent
1e North-West. Start-

th December, he follow-

since their first advance inland in 1742
Mr. Hearne to make explorations in
ing from Prince of Wales Fort on the
ed the course of the Churchill River, ahd then discovering the
Coppermine River, followed it to its mouth where”it emptied
into the sea, and where he found the ice unbroken on the 17th
July. Mr. Hearne was absent on his journey a year and seven
months, and althdugh the company did not receive any imme-
diate practical benefit from his trip, it proved of advantage in
several ways, chiefly from a scientific point of view. In 1774,
however, Mr. Hearne, who had been appointed Governor of
Prince of Wales Fort as a reward for his services in 1770,
undertook another expedition to Pine Island Lake, where he
erected a fort now known as (\:umlx-rlasnl House. From this
time the Hudson’s Bay Company, roused from the torpid state
in which they existed on the fr(\)zen shores of the bay, followed
the example set by their more energetic competitors, and in
a little over twenty years had extended their trading posts
from Cumberland House to the Rocky Mountains.

To return to the fur traders, we find that the success which
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attended the Frobishers' efforts, induced others to follow in
their footsteps, and in 1778, a number of traders on the Sas-
katchewan formed themselves into a company, and gave the
management to Mr. Peter Pond. He was instructed to go as
far as Athabasca, if possible, which was then a country un-
known, exeept from Indian report, and in this he may be said
to have succeeded, for he reached the banks of the Elk river.
There he passed the winter of 1778-9, and .carried on a very
successful trade with the Indians. Indeed he secured more
furs than he could carry away, and left some behind, stored in
one :»f his winter huts, where they were found the next season
ini the same state as he had left them.

Mr. Charles Grant, in a letter to Géneral Haldimand, dated
24th April, 1780, gives some interesting particulars relating
to the fur trade as it was carried on about that time. He
says: “ At all times the trade to the upper countries has been

-
considered the staple trade of this Provinee, but of late years
it has been greatly augmented, in so much that it may be
reckoned, one year with another, to have produced an annual

return to Great Britain, in furs, to the amount of £200,000

sterling, which is an object deserving of all the encouragement
and proteetion which Government can, with propriety, give to
that trade. The Indian trade, by every communieation, is
cyrried on at great expense, labor and risk, of both men and
property ; ‘every year furnishes instances of the loss of men
and goods by accident or otherwise. It is not, therefore, to
be expeeted that the traders in general are men of substance :
indeed few of them are able to purchase, with ready wmoney,
such goods as they want for their trade. They are conse-
(quently indebted, from year to year, until a return is made
in furs, to the merchants of Quebec and Montreal, who are
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importers of goods from England, and furnish them.on credit.
[n this manner the upper country trade is chiefly carried on
by men of low circumstances, destitute of every means to pay
their debts, when their trade fails: and if it\shnul:l be under
great restraints, or obstructed a few years, the consequence
would prove ruinous to the commercial part of this Province,
and very hurtful to the merchants of London, shippers of goods
to this country, besides the loss of so valuable a branch of trade
in Great Britain. * * * * Last year the passes for the
Indian goods were given out so late that it was impossible to
forward goods to the places of destination, especially in the
North-West. For that’reason, those concerned in that quarter
joined their stock together, and made one common interest of
the whole (referring to the company of which Mr. Peter Pond
had the management), as it continues at present, in the hands
of the different persons or companies, as mentioned at foot of
this. The canoes for the North-West are commonly the first
sent off, and, indeed, the earlier all the canoes, bound up the
Grand River, go off, the better. The North-West is divided
into sixteen shares, all .of which form but one company at
this time, as follows:

“Todd & McGill, 2 shares; Ben. & Jos. Frobisher, 2 shares :
MeGill &. Paterson, 2 shares; McTavish & Co., 2 shares:
Holmes & Grant, 2 shares : "Wadden & Co., 2 shares; McBeath
& Co., 2 shares ; Ross & Co., 1 share ; Oakes & Co., 1 share.”

This company, of which Mr. Peter Pond was manager, was
the germ from which sprang the great North-West. Company,
that,-in a few years, extended its discoveries and trade to
the Arctic and Pacific Oceans. It seems that_ the same delay
in furnishing passes for the canoes, to which Grant refers in

his letter, occurred again in 1780, and on the 11th May, the
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fur traders presented the following memorial to General
Haldimand. The document is here given in full, because it

shows some of the difficulties under which fur trading was

conducted in the North-West in those days:

To His ExceLLENCY,

Freperick Hatpmmanp, Ete., Ete., Ete.

N

The Memorial of the Merchants and Traders from Montreal to the
Great Carrying Place in-Lake Superior, and the interior country, ¢om-
monly named the North-West.

That your memorialists have, for a number of years past, carried
on an extensive and valuable trade into the parts from whence the ahmual
returns have for some years been esteemed at fifty thousand pounds ster-
ling in furs, which have served to remit to\Great Britain in payment of
the manufactures imported from the Mother country.

That there is usually and actually employed in that country near to
three hundred men, who generally arrive from the interior parts of the
Grand Carrying Place from the 10th June to the 10th July, but from the
length of the voyage and barrenness of the country, added to the small-
ness of the canoes and innumerable carrying places, are reduced from
want of provisions to very great misery and distress, which has constantly
laid your memorialists under the dutiful necessity of sending canoes with
provisions very early from Michilimackinac, in order to meet the canoe
men of the distant posts, without which precaution great part of their
property, after being converted into furs, must have been left and lost to
them, and a more painful circumstance might have happened in the death
of those employed in that adventurous business.

That t‘K:vy are well informed last fall from their correspondence at
Detroit and Michilimackinae, that no provisions of any kind will be allow-
ed to go from thence for supplying the Trade to the North-West, which
heretofore was the case, and, therefore, your Memorialists have taken the
precaution to provide Indian corn, pease, flour, etc., to send from hence
for that purpose.

That the length of the voysage to the Grand Carrying Place is, at
least, four hundred and fifty leagues, and from thence to the distant posts
above six hundred more, which cannot be performed in less time than six
months,and sometimes it happens that winter sets in before your Memor-
ialists can arrive at the Factories where they intend to pass the winter,
: r)ﬂd %hen that unfortunate circumstance takes place, there are instances of
eral having starved, and even so direful have the consequences been as
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to occasion the casting of lots for an unhappy victim to serve as food for
his more unhappy companions.

That your Memorialists have been encouraged to continue in this trade
from constantly B&:ling a facility to carry it on, in the ready zeal of
Government in grafting passes and licenses to that effect, and they had
reason to hope, from the notification which your Excellency was pleased
to give Your Memorialists some time ago that no let or hindrance to
their departure would have taken place this spring, but, notwithstanding
lists of the canoes, goods, and number of men, were immediately given
into Mr. Gray's oftice, to be forwarded to Your Excellency, ' Your
Memorialists have heard nothing more on the subject since that time.

Your Memorialists, from the causes set forth, are under the most
anxious apprehensions for the lives of their people employed in the
trade, and fear greatly that they may suffer very much in a loss of their
property, unless Your Excellency is pleased to grant inmmediate per-
mission for them to send off their canoes with the goods and provisions
intended for the purpose of continuing that extensive and valuable
branch of buriness and they beg leave to assure Your Excellency that
with all the industry that can be’ exerted in collecting thé men who
are hired, from the different parts of the country supposing the pisses
to be here at this hour, it wou d still be the twentieth of this month
before the canoes could be sent off, and it is.against the interest, and
of course the wish, of any North-West traders to remain here so late.

Your Memorialists - cannot have the smallest doubt of Your Excel-
lency’s-good will und zéal to encourage the commercial interest of the

Provinee over which’ ygu preside, and particularly of (that) which lies
at a great distance from the frontiers. of the unnatural rebel States of

America. Therefore, submitting their case to Your Excellency’s con-
sideration, they humbly, and most earnestly, request speedy relief in the
premises, and Your Memorialists, as in duty bound, shall ever pray.

MoNTREAL, 11th May, 1780.

J. PorTEOUS Toop & MoGiLr,
Houmes & GRrANT, Benyg. & Jos. FROBISHER

MeGrun & PATERsON,
ForresT OAKES,
Apam LYMBURNER

Simox McTAavisH,

CHARLES GRANT,

"Gro. McBEATH,
Notwithstanding the success, as reported, of the Pond expe-
dition and others, the position of the traders in the North-

West continued to be very bad: a fact which arose in a great

measure from the evil conduct of some of them, and their
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ol Tox \juarrels with the Indians, resulting in frequent tights. About
this time, a sad occurrence took place which will show the
:;:l"d(} ; state of feeling that existed even amongst the better class of
;y had traders. In 1780, a number of these agreed to send out an
leased expedition on joint account, and a Mr. Wadin and Mr. Pond
‘:::;ix:; were selected to take charge of it,—two men of opposite char-
r given acters, who could not agree. One day, about the beginning of
\Tour - 1781y Mr. Pond and his clerk were invited to dine with Mr.
Z t::,l:; ‘ Wadin, and the latter, during the night following the dinner,
in thtf was shot in the thigh, from which it is said, he bled to death,
:i ﬂll):ir and it was supposed that Mr. Pond and the clerk committed
yvisions the deed. They were afterwards tried in Montreal for the ~
aluable murder, and acquitted, but a strong feeling existed in the <
Lth)n i\l"\,::» mind of the public that they were guilty.
) posses Little trmling was done after this, owing to the continuance
‘““"t‘}; of the smallpox amongst the Indians, until the winter of
:, 1:2 1783-4, when, the prospects having become brighter, a number
Excel- " of merchants of Canada, engaged in thq fur trade, formed a
|i:lfn lel‘s junction of interests under the name of the North-West Com-
tates of pany. The management of this association was placed in the
.\"5_ con- hands of Benjamin and Joseph Frobisher and Simon Me-
T':‘:yt.hv Tayish, an arrangement which was got satisfactory to Mr.
Peter Pond, one of the parties to the formation of the com-
pany. He therefore prevailed upon Mr. Peter Pangman to
JBISHER join him in forming a rival scheme, but, before this was _— L
WON, accomplished, he made terms with the North-West (‘Jn_lpa.ny.' -
i Mr. Pangman, however, and his associates ('.om.imﬂ:l their
opposition until 1787, when the rival concerns were united in
d vexpc- one, and matters went smoothly for over ten years, until in
North- 1798, differences again occurred, ahd a number of the part-
"1 illie“.t ners seceded from the parent assofiation, and formed the XY
d their

) /
Company.
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In 1801, Dominic !{Uusm-uu,'ﬂ)f Montreal, sent a party of
traders under one H&N\'ivr, who, on reaching Lake Superior,
were set upon by scr\‘un&\\()f t:}c North-West Company, and
obliged to return, at considerable loss to the undertaking. In
1806, Mr. Rousseau, in company with a Mr. Delorme, made
another :Mnlpt, but was again driven back, Mr. Delorme
being forced to return to Montreal, leaving all his goods
behind him. * This was the last instance of a private merchant
attempting to send goods from Montreal into the North-West
for the purpose of trading.

To the fur traders, in a large measure, belongs the honor of
having saved Upper Canada from the grasp of the Americans.
The aid they rendered to General Brock is a matter of his-
tory, and, although the North-West Company obtained the
chief credit of having assisted in the capture of Michilimac-
kinac, the work was done principally by traders, independent
of that Company., Among those, may be mentioned Mr.
Robert Dickson and Mr. Jacob Franks, who brought forward
a strong body of Sioux Indians, to assist the Canadians, and
the voyageurs comnfanded by Colonel Crawford, and other

brave officers also did good service to Canada, alternating
their time as canoe men in the fur trade, and volunteers in the
service of Canada.
But from 1798 the fur trade may be said to have passed
from the hands of private individuals into those of companies,

and the fur traders became the servants of the latter.
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CHAPTER VIL
THE FUR COMPANIES,

THE first association for the carrying on of the fur trade, of
which we have any record, was the Beaver Company, estab-
lished in 1628 or 1630, but there is little known of its opera-
tions. In the previous chapter we traced the history of the
fur traders down to the year 1798, when the last attempt at
individual trading-from Montreal was made, and we will now
take a glance at the Far companies, the outcome of that sys-
tem. = When the French lost possession of Canada in 1762,
the “ Coureurs des Bois,” unaccustomed to the ways and man-

ner of doing business of the English, were slow at first to as-

sociate with them, but it was not long until they overcame

this feeling, and grew to be as active in fighting the baktles of
the merchant fur traders, as they had formerly been in their
own quarrels. The Canadian merchants, however, for a long
time experienced strong competition from those doing busi-
ness in the United States, who induced the Indians and the
“Coureurs des Bois” to take service with them on the Amer-
ican side. This, combined with the lawless doings of many of
the fur traders themselves, the prevalence of the smallpox
among the Indians, and the cutting off of supplies by the
Americans, caused a few of the Canadian merchants to unite
together, in 1779, for self protection, and the union of inter-
ests thus brought about led to the formation, in 1782, of the
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North-West Company. A number of merchants in Montreal
formed an association under this title, the leading persons
being Benj. and Jos. Frobisher, and Mr. Simon McTavish, by
whose influence mainly the coalition was brought about, but
in the arrangement of this co-partnership difficulties arose,
and a few withdrew, preferring to carry on a separate trade,

and this state of affairs continued until 1787, when all the

parties united once more under the name of the North-West

Company.

In the meantime, the parties who formed the company in
1783 were active in exploring the country for the purpose of
extending their operations, and in 1784 sent a party consist-
ing of Mr. Edward Umfreville, Mr. Venance St. Germain, and
six Canadians to the north for that purpose. In Octéber of
the same year the Company presented the following memorial

to Governor Haldimand, at Quebec :

To His ExX¢eLLENcy Freperick' Haupmmanp, Erc., Erc.
" The Memapial of the North-West Company humbly sheweth :

““ That the Company from the Boundary described in the late Treaty
“ of Peace, being apprehensive the United States would avail themselves
‘““of every means in their power to dispoésess them of their trade to the
* North-West, from being entitled to/an equal, if not an exclusive, right
“to the Grand Portage on Lake $uperior and the water communication
““to the extent of Lauke du Bois /g‘:n'e, at their own expense and with
‘“ the approbation of Your Exc?’ency, seat-off from the north side 'of Lake
*‘Superior two persons, on whom they can depend, accompanied by six
‘“ Canadians, to attempt the discovery of another passage north of the line
‘“of the Boundary, to the River Ouinipique, and from the information your
* Memorialists have since received from them, they have every reason to
‘“ expect that this passage, so much to be wished for, will be discovered
““and found practicable ; which will effectually secure that valuable
““ branch of the fur trade to this Province.

““That exclusive of this great object, your Memorialists have in view
‘““another discovery of greater magnitude, which is that of exploring, at
‘“ their own expense, between the latitudes 66 and 65, all that tract of
“gountry extending west of the Hudson's Bay to the North Pacific Ocean,
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‘““of which survéys. shall be taken, so far as it may be practicable, and
‘“such surveys, with remarks theretpon, respecting the nature of the
‘‘country, and the rivers which discharge their waters into that sea be-
“““ tween those latitudes together with every other information that can be
‘ collected from the natives, shall be laid before the King's Governor for
*“ this province, to be by him transmitted to His Majesty.

*That the Company’s servants, as before mentioned, are now ac-
‘“tually employed in the first of these discoveries, and the latter which
“ must be considered as an object deserving of every encouragement from
‘“the Government, they are ready to undertake by such of their servants
‘“and other persons who are qualified to carry their intentions into
‘* execution. : )

““ That your Memorialists request Your Excellency will be pleased to
‘‘ represent to His Majesty's Ministers the value and importance of these
‘“ discoveries, and the propriety of granting to the Company an exclusive
‘““right to the passage they may discover from the north side of Lake Su-
““ perior to the River Ouinipique ; and also of the trade to the North-
“ West either by that passage or by the present communication of the
“Grand Portage for ten years only, as a reward for their services and in
‘“ consideration of their making these extensive and valuable discoveries
‘“ at their own expense

*“ Your Memorialists would not presume to ask for this exclusive right
‘“of trade to the North-West, if it could prove injurious to individuals, or
‘“hurtful to this Province in general ; but, on the contrary, they are the

““only persons who have any interest or connection in that country ; eon-

‘‘sequently, no one can be injured by it, while it will give them the
‘“opportunity of making the discoveries they propose, and pursuing the
““most proper measures, suggested by long experience, to supply the
‘“ natives abundantly with every necessary they require, by which only,
‘“and a well regulated system in that long chain of connections, the
‘ North-West business is capable of being extended. )

‘** Your Memorialists therefore request, that until His Majesty’s
‘“ pleasure is known, that Your Excellency will be pleased to suspend the
‘granting of passes for the Grand Portage, or the passage thay are
‘‘attempting to discover from the north side of Lake Superior to the
“River Ouinipique, should they be applied for, and that you will be
‘“ pleased to signify the same to the officer commanding at Michilimakinac,
*“to the end, that no person may have cause to complain, under a pretence
‘*of having property in the eountry, if the Company should obtain for the
‘“ considerations now laid before Your Kxcellency, an exclusive right to
‘“the trade from Lake Superior to the North-West.

** Your Memorialists pray Your Excellency will take the merit of
‘“ their memorial into your consideration, and that you will be pleased to
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‘“‘recommend to His Majesty’s Ministers to grant to the North-West
“Company (of which your Memorialists are directors), an exclusive
‘“ privilege of trade from Lake Superior to that country, for ten years
‘““only, as a reward for discovering a new passage to the River Ouinipique,
‘“and thereby effectually securing to this Province the fur trade to the
“North-West. © And in consideration also of exploring at their own ex-
‘“ pense, between the latitudes 55 and 65, all that tract of country west of
‘“ Hudson’s Bay, to the_North Pacific Ocean, and communicating’ to
‘“Government such surveys and other infowmation respecting that
‘“ country, as it may be in their power to obtain.

‘“ And your Memorialists, as in duty bound, will ever pray, etc., etc.”

Bexy. & Jos. FROBISHER,

Directors of the North-West Company.

Mox~TREAL, 4th October, 1784, 3

In a letter accompanying this Memorial, Messrs. Frobisher
give some particetars of their trading operations, prior to the
formation of the North-West Company, which are interesting.
They say —* The first adventurer went from Michilimakinac,|
in the year 1765. The Indians of Lake La Pluye, having then
been long destitute of goods, stopped and plundered his canoes,
and would.not suffer him to proceed farther. He attempted
it again the followmg year, and met with the same bad for-
tune. Another ntt(-mpt\ was made in the year 1767 ; they left
goods at Lake Pluye, to be traded with the natives, who per-
mitted them to proceed with the remainder, and the canoes
penetrated beyond Lake Ouinipique. From this period, the
trade of that country was attempted by other adventurers,
with various success, and we were among the number, in the
year 1769, when we formed a connection with Messrs. Todd
& McGill, of Montreal, for the purpose of carrying on the
business, but the Indians of Lake La Pluye, still ungovernable
and rapacious, plundered our canoes, and would not suffer any

part of our goods to be sent farther. Before we could be ac-
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ing were at the Grand Portdge, and we were then too far
engaged to hesitate for a moment. A second attempt was
made, in which we were more successful. Our canoes reached
Lake Bourbon, and thenceforward we were determined to
persevere. Taught, however, that separate interests were the
bane of that trade, we lost no time to form, with those gentle-
men and some others, a company, and having men of experience
and abilities to conduct it in the interior country, the Indians
were soon abundant]y supplied, and, being at the same time
well treated, new posts were discovered as early as the year
1774, which, to the French, were "'t,otally unknown ; and, had
we not been interrupted by new adventurers, the public in a
few yearsswould have been well acquainted with the Vithie
and extent of that country, of whichy even at this time, our
knnwle(lé’b is very imperfect. These adventurers, consulting
their own interest only, without the least regard to the man-
agement of the natives, and the genepdl welfare of the trade,
soon occasioned such disorder t}mt those who had the most
substantial prospects lost no timg to withdraw their property,
since fyhjeh, this business, thowgh not altogether neglected,
has been carried on under great ¢ isadvantagep, occasioned by
a variety of interests, sometimes partially, and at other times

]
totally unconnected with each other: insomuch that, at the

latter end of the year 1782, thdse who had persevered were

no more than twelve in number, and being convinced, by long
experience, of the advantages/that would arisefrom a general
connection, not only calculated to sec re and promote their
mutual interests, but also to guard agdinst any encroachments
of the United States on the line of ndary, as ceded to
them by treaty, from Lake Superior Lake du Bois, they
entered upon and concluded articles of agreement under the
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title of the North-West Company, of which we were named
directors, dividing it into sixteen shares, of which each pro-
prietor holds a certain number, proportionate to the interest
he then had in the country.”

The Messrs. Frobisher then point out in their letter that,
having every reason to expect from the line to be drawn, as
explained in the late treaty of peace, that the United States
would become possessed of the Grand Portage at the north-
west extremity of Lake Superior, which, unless another/pass-
age was discovered, would result in the loss to Canada of the
North-West fur trade, as the Grand Portage was the key to
that part of the country, and, that urged by thése reasons,
their company had sent a party to discover, if possible, an-
other route.

In a-subsequent part of the letter, the following interesting
particulars were given, relating to the manner of conveying
goods from Montreal to the North-West :—“ The inland navi-
gation from Montreal, by which the North-West business is
carried on, is perhaps the most extensive of any in the known
world, but it is only practicable for canoes, on account of the
great number of carrying-places. To give Your Excellency
some idea of which, there are upwards of ninety from Mon-
treal to Lake du Bois only, and many of them very long ones.
Two sets of men are employed in this business, making to-
gether upwards of 500, one-half of which are occupied in
the transport of goods from Montreal to the Grand Portage,
in canoes of about four tons burden, navigated by eight to
ten men, and the other half are employed to take such goods
forward to every post in the interior country, to the extent of
1,000 to 2,000 miles and upwards, from Lake Superior, in
canoes of about one ton and a half burden, made expressly
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for the inland service, and navigated by four to five men
ouly, according to the places of their destination. The large
canoes from Montreal always set off early in May, and as the
provisions they take with them are consumed by the time
they reach Michilimakinae, they are necessitated to call there,
merely to take in an additional supply, not only for them-
selves but also for the use of the canoes intended for the in-
terior country, and the consumption of their servants at the
Grand Portage, but as these canoes are not capable of carry-
ing the whole of such provisions, it thence becomes necessary
to have a vessel, or boats, upomLake Superior for that trans-
port only, and the utmost dispatch is required, that every-
thing may be ready in point of time to send off their supplies
for the interior country, for which purpose the goods, pro-
visions, and everything else required for the outfits of the
year, must be at the Grand Portage early in July; for the
carrying-place being at least ten miles in length, fifteen days
are commonly spent in this service, which is performed by the
canoe men, who usually leave the west end from the 15th
July to the 1st August, according to the distances of the
places they are intended for. Their general loading is two-
thirds goods, and one-third provisions, which, not being suf-
ficient for their subsistence until they reach winter quarters,
they must, and always do, depend on the natives they occas-
ionally meet on the road for an additional supply ; ard when

this fails, which is sometimes the case, they are exposed to
every misery that it is possible to survive, and equally so in
returning from the interior country, as in the spring provis-
ions are more scanty. In winter-quarters, however, they are
at ease, and commonly in plenty, which only can reconcile
them to that manner of life, and make them forget their suf-
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erings in their annual voyage to and from the Grand Portage.”

The value of the North-West Company’s trade in 1784 is
shown in the following words: “The property the Company
have already in that country, exclusive of their houses and
stores, and the different posts, as appears by the settlement of
their accounts this present year, amounts to the sum of £25-
303, 3s. 6d. currency ;: and their outfits for the next spring,
which will be sent from Montreal as soon as the navigation is
open, will not fall much short of that sum, so that the Com-
pany will have an interest at the Grand Portage, in July next,
of about £50,000 original cost in furs, to be sent to Montreal
by the return of their canoes, and in goods for the interior
country, from which Your Excellency may judge of what may
be expected from that trade, when in our power, by an exclu-
sive right for ten years, to explore the country and extend it.”

Mr. Peter Pond, the following year, addressed another mem-
orial to Lieut.-Governor Hamilton, at Quebee, on behalf of the
North-West Company, recapitulating in a measure and sap-

porting the arguments of the Frobishers, adding that both

Russia and the United States were muking preparations to

secure the fur trade on the north-west coast of North Amer-
ica. In the same year, Benj. Frobisher suggests that a carry-
ing-place should be established at Toronto, as the settlers from
that vicinity, in the course of a few years, he stated, would be
in a situation to supply the provisions wanted by the traders
for the northern countries. Numerous other suggestions were
also made to the Government about this time, by members of
the North-West Company, with the object of preserving the
fur trade to Canada, and preventing it from falling into the
hands of the Americans.

One point raised by the North-West Company was the in-
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sufficiency of the means of transport for their goods on the
lakes by the King’s ships, private vessels not being suffered to
navigate the inland waters, and in connection with this subject,
General Haldimand submitted the following recommendation
to tlw)ight Honorable Lord Sydney :

“The navigation of these likes by the King's vessels only, is
an object so nearly connected with the entire preservation of
the fur trade, that I have withstood various applications for
building and navigating private vessels and boats upon the
lakes; the rivers and outlets from them to the American States
are so numerous that no precautions which could be taken, in
that case, would be effectual in preventing a great part of the
furs from going directly into the American States, and there
is but little doubt that traders will carry their commodities to
the best market, whatever may be the consequences; indeed
several instances have already occurred since the peace, of
their smuggling furs even from Montreal over Lake Champlain
into the States, notwithstanding the vigilance of the civil and
military officers. What then would be the case upon the re-
mote lakes may easily be conceived. I would, therefore, re-
commend by all means that a sufficient number of King’s
vessels be kept upon the lakes, and all other craft, whatever,
prohibited, not only for the foregoing reasons, but in all events
to preserve a superiority upon the waters in that country.”

The North-West Company, therefore, not only failed in ob-
taining permission to navigate their own vessels on the lakes,
but were also unsuccessful in securing the exclusive privileges

they sought.
Inj1789, Mr. Isaac Ogden, ih a letter written from Quebec to

Mr. David ’Ogden, in London, when giving some account of the
commerce in the North-West, states as follows: “From the
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end of the Portage, at the head of Lake Superior, all the lakes
and waters, as high up as lat. 58°, and long. 124°, set first to
the nortl®west and north, and then take a south-easterly
and south course, and empty into York Faectory (Hudson’s
Bay). These lakes and rivers are almost innumerable. Some
of them are very large, such as the Lake Winnipeg, Lake of
the Woods, and others. The mouth of York River lays in long.
$)4°lwvst, and lat. 57°. It is an extensive, large river, setting
nearly west, and is supplied by the above lakes and rivers,
which fall into it from the north and south. The Hudson'’s
Bay Company have posts several hundred miles west from
them, but none to the northward.”

Thus showing that the Hudson’s Bay Company were then
extending their trading operations far into the interior. M.
Hearne, as we have already shown, had discovered and explor-
ed the Coppermine River, and afterwards, in 1770, established
the post at Cumberland House. From that time the extension
of the Hudson’s Bay Company’s trade in the interior seems to
have been rapid, and their opposition to the North-West Com-
pany strong. During this period of rivalry between the two
powerful associations, the officers of the respective companies
were not unfriendly to each other, although there was keen
competition between them in the way of trade, but socially
they frequently met each other in the most hospitable manner.

While the North-West Company were memorializing the
Government in regard to proposed explorations into the inter-
jor, and offering their services for that object, the Hudson's
Bay Company were not inactive in the same direction. Early
in 1790, we find it stated that Mr. Wegg, the Governor of the
Company, intimated to the Government that the directors had

unanimously determined to send their sloop of about 90 tons
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-

at their own expense, if a proper person were sent in her, to

““Nexamine if any outlet could be found from Hudson’s Bay to

facilitate the communication with the west coast. They also
wished that two proper persons might be sent by Government
to travel inland to ascertain the shortest' communication. by
the lakes and rivers, and offered to defray any reasonable ex-
pense of the undertaking.

Thus the two great fur companies were at this time in the
van of exploration in the North-West, and to them the open-
ing up of that vast region is chiefly due.

In 1798, differences again occurred among the partners of
the North-West Company, which resulted in a number of
them seceding and forming themselves into the X.Y. Com-
pany. The effect of this was additional competition in the
fur trade for several years. In 1799, a strong contest was
entered into by those rival companies for possession of land at
Sault Sainte-Marie, and, from the papers relating thereto, it
would appear that the North-West Company were the first to
construct a canal at that point. The following abstract is
taken from a memorial presented by them in 1802 on the sub-
jeet :—* That, contemplating the advantages of a free and un-
obstructed passage between the Lakes Huron and Superior,
your memorialists, in the year 1797, caused a proper survey to
be made on the British side of the Falls of St. Mary; the
sixth part of the expense of which, amounting to about/forty-
five pounds, was defrayed by the house of Messrs. Forsyth,
Richardson & Co. That in consequence of the report made of
the said survey, your memorialists have, since that period,
actually cut a road forty-five feet wide across the carrying-
place, and opened a canal upwards of three thousand feet in

length, with a lock which raises the water nine feet, and have
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also erected thereon a saw mill, storehouses and other neces-
sary buildings for facilitating the navigatior of said canal.”

Messrs. Phyn, Inglis & Co., the London agents of the XY
Company, opposed the application of the North-West Com-
pany for a grant of land at the Sault, and the Duke of Port-
land, writing on the 13th Maych, 1800, to Lieut.-General Hun-
ter, agreed with them. He says :—“I am strongly inclined to
be of opinion that it must be very much for the benefit of the
fur trade, that about four or five leagues, or, perhaps, the
whole strait in question, should be forever retained in the
hands of the Crown.”

With the formation of the XY Company, the competition
in the fur trade became very bitter, and matters between the
contending parties began te wear a formidable appearance.
Hostilities broke out hetween the agents of the respective
companies ; alliances were formed with the Indians, and the
whole trade was carried on in a reckless and extravagant
manner.

In 1793, the Hudson’s Bay Company’s servants made their

appearance at Red River, an expedition equipped at Albany,
on James Bay, being conducted there by Mr. Donald McKay,

who, on his arrival, built a post alongside of those of the
North-West and XY Companies. About this time, according
to Sir Alexander McKenzie, the Indian tribes in the North-
West were divided about as follows: At Nepowe and South
Branch, thirty tents of Bristineaux, or 90 warriors, and sixty
tents of Stone Indians, 200 warriors, whose hunting-grounds
extended up to the Eagle Hills; at Forts George and Agustus,
80 tents, and, on either side of the river, 200 tents Crees. In
the same part of the country were 140 tents of Stone Indians,

not quite one half inhabiting the west woody section, and
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their whole number being not less than 450. The Surcees, on
the north branch, 35 tents, and opposite to these, on the east-
ward, near the head waters of the south branch, were the
Peigans, numbering from 1,200 to 1,500 men. Next were the
Blood Indians, to the number of 50 tents, or 200 men; and
the Blackfeet, numbering about 800. Then, the Big-Bellied
Indians had about 600 warriors, but the Crees, it is stated,
although their numbers are not given, were the most numer-
ous tribe of Indians in the North-West, and occupied a wider
range of hunting-grounds than any other of the aboriginal
nations. With these large bodies of Indians, the three fur
companies carried on an extensive trade, and in the prosecu-
tion-of it the rivalry became so bitter that outrages on each
other, and bloodshed, ensued. As an instance of this, in the
winter of 1801-2, Mr. John McDonald, who managed the
affairs of the North-West Company in Athabasca, had in his
employ a clerk named King, and in the service of Mr. Roche-
blane, the agent of the XY Company, in the same district, was
a man named Lamotte. During the course of the winter, two
Indians arrived as deputies from a band with which both
companies hagd had transactions, to inform the traders that
they had furs ready at an encampment within four or five
days’ march. King and Lamotte, on learning this, set out im- -
mediately to secure the furs due their respective companies,

and arrived at the Indian camp about the same time. King,

however, having the stronger force, succeeded in getting pos-

session of all the furs except one bale, which fell to Lamotte.

The former, not satisfied with his success, resolved,to take the

one bundle which Lamotte had, and-twent for that purpose

with an armed force to his tent. Lamotte warned King not

to touch the bundle of furs, and, when he persisted, shot him
G
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dead. It was only the interference of the Indians that pre-
vented Lamotte from being killed on the spot by King’s men,
and, although he was afterwards arrested, he was never tried,
but was kept in prison until the coalition of the two com-
panies took place, when he regained his liberty.

This outrageous proceeding gave rise to the" passing of an
Act in 1803, 43 Geo. IIL, Cap. 138, commonly called the
“ Canada Jurisdiction Act.” The professed object of this act
was to remedy a defect of the law, arising from the circum-
stance that some parts of British America were not within the
limits of any British Colony, so that offences committed there
could not be tried by any jurisdiction whatever. In order to

remedy this evil, the courts of law in Canada were allowed to

take cognizance of any offences which might be committed

within certain distriets, termed in the act, the “ Indian Terri-
tories.” The act was very vague in meaning as to the par-
ticular territories to which it was meant to apply, but it
showed that public attention was being attracted to the dis-
turbances taking place between the fur companies.

The first trial under the act in Montreal was, when one
John Mowat, in the employ of the Hudson’s Bay Company,
was convicted of manslaughter for shooting Eaneas MacDon-
nel, a clerk of the North-West Company, in self-defence, but
the circumstances attending this trial showed very clearly
that the North-West Company, in those days, had too much
influence in Canada over bench, bar and public opinion, for
any opponent, of it to obtain a fair trial.

In 1805, a coalition of the North-West and XY Companies
took place, and the whole concern was divided into 100 shares,
of which a large proportion was held in London and Montreal
by mercantile houses which had contributed capital,.the bal-
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ance being held by the wintering partners, some of whom pos-
sessed one, and some two shares. A general meeting of the
Company was held every summer, at the rendezvous at Fort
William, on Lake Superior, where all matters were decided by
a majority of votes, each share giving one vote, and the
absentees voting by proxy. At the general meeting, the
operations to be carried on the succeeding year were arranged,
and the stations to be assigned to each individual determined.
At the same time the accounts of the year were settled, each
partner bringing in a statement of the transactions of the
department he had in charge.

When a wintering partner had served a number of years he
was at liberty to retire from the concern, and, without doing
any further duty, to continue to hold an interest in the capital
of the Company, and also, for seven years, to draw one half
the profits of the share he had held. Upon the retiring of a
wintering partner, the vacancy was filled by the election of
another in his place, each candidate being required to be of
good character, and to have served the Company a certain
number of years, his ability as a trader and manager of a post
being well considered. In this way the clerks of the Com-
pany, in the hope of promotion, were excited to an activity
and zeal hardly inferior to the partners themselves. Nothing,
certainly, could be devised more admirably calculated than
this system to infuse activity into every department of so
extensive a concern, and to direct that activity in the most
effectual manner, and in complete unity of purpose towards
the common interest.

The annual meeting of the Company at Fort William was

an event of great importance to the wintering partners, who,

like chieftains of the olden time, repaired with a retinue of
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servants to the place of gathering. The leading partners from
Montreal travelled to Fort William in sumptuous state, their
large canoes, freighted with every convenience and luxury,
and manned by Canadian voyageurs, who were peculiarly
fitted to overcome the difficulties of such a trip, and make it
Cooks, bakers, and other servants accompanied
these annual trips, and the supplies carried with them in-
cluded delicacies of every kind, and choice wines for the
banquets which attended the great convention.

In a large wooden building at Fort William was the great
council hall of the Company, and near it the banqueting
The house and vicinity swarmed with traders, voy-
ageurs, Indians, half-breeds, etc., who feasted sumptuously and
drank deeply during the time the council was being held.
The deliberations of the partners were, however, conducted
with much dignity, and the business affairs of the Company
well considered and carefully adjusted. But when business
was over and the feasting began, the scene of revelry was be-
They were a hard-living, hard-drinking set

Nor’-Westers ; keen to take advantage

yond description.

where a fur trade was in question, they were ever ready to
extend the hand of friendship and hospitality to their guests.
The annual meeting of the council at Fort William was, to the
wintering partners, a grand holiday season, to which they al-
ways looked forward, as the mariner, after a long voyage, an-
ticipates his home-welcome, and, while the affairs of the Com-
pany were strictly attended to at the council board, the
balance of the time was spent in revelry and feasting.
retainers, in the shape of voyageurs, half-breeds, hunters and
traders, were not slow in following the example of their

superiors, and the scene, therefore, around the council hall
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was sometimes one of pandemonium. The council at an
each wintering partner took his ways accompanied
“people,” to his far-off post, \\'itl)}z:;l instructions
proceed during the next twelve months; and the leac
agents living in Montreal embarked in their canoces for
home on the St. Lawrence, where, they lived in lordly a'
hospitable style, surrounded by all the comforts and luxuries
of the day, while their wintering partners roughed it in the
far-off north.

While the North-West Company were pushing their way
and extending their operations in the wilds of Canada, east of
the Rockies, the Americans south of the boundary line were
not idle, and the Mackinaw Company, American Fur Com-
pany and South-West Company followed each other in quick
succession, having for their object the extension of the fur
trade along the north-west coast, and in some of these enter-
prises, it is said, a number of the partners of the North-West
Company were interested.

Sir Alexander McKenzie had returned from his four years’

journey to the north, during which he discovered and explor-

ed the great river which bears his name, and on his return he
proposed in 1802 (before the coalition of the North-West and
XY Cempanies), the formation of a company to carry on the
fishery and fur trade in the interior, and on the west coast of
America.  In Article 3 of his proposition the following words
appear :—“ To obtain from the Hudson’s Bay Company, if it
has legal power to grant or refuse it, a ‘licence of transit,
irrevocable and unlimited : for all goods, wares and merchan-
dise, the growth, produce and manufacture of Great Britain
and of America, in and outwards thfough all the ‘seas, bays,

ports. rivers, lakes and territories within the limits of its

e e A b g e e
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charter,” showing that the Hudson’s Bay Company were

then upholding their privileges in the interior as well as in
Y

the country bordering on the Bay. Sir Alexander McKenzie's

project, however, came to naught.

The North-West and XY Companies having joined hands,
a keen rivalry, accompanied by outrages and bloodshed, broke
out between the re-organized concern and the Hudson’s Bay
Company. The following instances will give some idea of the
extent to which this lawless conduct was sometimes carried.
In May, 1806, William Corrigal, in the service of the Hudson’s
Bay Company, stationed at Bad Lake, near Fort Albany, had
his house broken into, and, while he and his men were seized
by a force of North-West Company servants, the furs were
stolen. Corrigal’s post was broken into and robbed on several
suhsu(lu’cnt occasions, and about the same t,imcL_John Crear,
a Hudson's Bay Company trader, and his men, occupying a
post called Big Fall, near Lake Winnipeg, were assaulted and

some of them dangerously wounded, while the place was being

robbed of furs and goods. In 1808, Mr. William Linklater,

also in the service of the Hudson’s Bay Company, traded some
valuable furs from the Indians, and was bringing them to the
post at Rein Deer Lake, when a Mr. Campbell, of the North-
West Company, and some men, stopped and robbed him of
all that he had. Instances of the strife that existed between
the servants of the two companies wmil(l,‘(SFﬂl/emselves, fill a

large book, but the few we have given will show the extreme

lengths to which they went. Secluded for years from all.

society, and far removed from the restraints of law, these men

were often guilty of acts of injustice, oppression, and even
-

cruelty against their weaker neighbors, who had no means of

obtaining redress, and the one thought uppermost in their
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minds seemed to be the success of their respective companies
in procuring %largest amount of furs, whether obtained
honestly in trade, or by \'iolen('e. =

The North-West Company’s officers were exceedingly active
and enterprising, even more so than those of the Hudson’s
Bay Company. It is estimated that about this time they had
over 2,000 employés, the average wages of each being about
£40 per annum.  But this was paid chiefly in goods supplied
by the company at a large profit, instead of cash, which re-

duced the total actual amount paid out for wages each year.

Tn “their dealings with the Indians, the North-West Com-

pany pursued the policy of giving credit in advance, a custom
which prevailed also with their rivals, and which, at times,
was advantageous to the natives, although it mostly acted to
their disadvantage. The improvident character of the Indian
caused him to be often in want of the necessaries of life, when
he had nothing to offer in exchange for them and on these
occasions the fur traders came to his rescue, very much,
however, on the same line that the pawnbroker comes to the
aid of the needy, and the Indians were made to pay dearly for
their advance. The worst feature was that the North-West
Company frequently intimidated the Indians to prevent them
from selling to others, but on the whole, if it had not been for
the introduction of intoxicating liquor among the tribes, the
advent of the traders would have been beneficial.

It was at one time suggested by some friends of humanity
in England that an Act of Parliament should be passed to re-
strain the sale of spirituous liquors to the Indians in British
America, and the proposal was communicated to the directors
of the Hudson’s Bay Company, who expressed their concur-

rence in the proposition, as, in answer to queries on the subject
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sent out to their officers in the North-West, the opinion was
expressed that trade would not suffer by the measure. The
North-West Company, it seems, were not so much in favor of
the proposition, and influence was brought by them to cause
the matter to be dropped.

Lord Selkirk, in his sketch of the British fur trade, was
particularly severe upon the North-West Company, and ar-
gued that the national interest of Great Britain would not be
promoted by an adherence to their system of carrying on busi-
ness. He contended that they were opposed to colonization,
because they considered it would injure the fur trade. Furth-
er than that, he held that their only object was to obtain a
great immediate return of furs, without any regard to its per-
manent continuance, and that a war of extermination was
being carried on against all the valuable fur-bearing animals.
Lord Selkirk, at the time, was arguing against free trade in
the North-West, holding that it gave rise to disturbances,
bloodshed, extermination of fur-bearing animals, and injustice
to the Indian tribes, and certainly there was truth in his
arguments. The North-West Company, however, had friends
who replied to his strictures. Sir Alexander McKenzie, in
his able reply, accused the early traders who penetrated into
the country immediately after the conquest of Canada, of
violence and excesses, and showed that the North-West Com-
pany was formed to repress those irregularities and enormi-

ties, and although subsequently scenes of violence were to a

$ . . gy
eertain degree renewed, owing to the opposition of the fur

companies to each other, as soon as a junction of the two par-
ties took place they immediately ceased, and he contended
that until Lord Selkirk appeared upon the scene, tranquillity

and peace were universally established. Sir Alexander Me-
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Kenzie is not borne out, however, in this statement by facts,

as we have shown, as there was more or less disturbance in
the North-West until the amalgamation of the Hudson’s Bay
and North-West Companies took place.

With regard to the proposal to restrain the liquor traffic of
the country by legislation, the friends of the North-West
Company held that it would be extremely difficult, if not im-

. possible, to enforce the provisions of an Act of Parliament

which might be readily obeyed by one class of persons
and evaded by another. They stated, too, that there were
certain Indians, or rather mixed population of Indians and
Canadians-on the plains, on whom the traders were dependent
for food, and with whose habits and custdms it would be dan-
gerous suddenly to interfere. In other wo.rds, the North-West
Company looked upon the restraint of the liquor traffic as im-
practicable, and not desirable from a trade point of view.
They claimed that they had endeavored to restrain the sale
and use of intoxicants without legislation, and had so far sue-
ceeded that in two years time the quantity introduced into
the North-West had been reduced from 50,000 to 10,000
gallons.

About the year 1810, the North-West Company, acting’
upon the suggestion of Sir Alexander MeKenzie, pushed one
or two posts across the Rocky Mountains, into a part of the
country which he had previously explored, but in this enter-
prise they were at a great disadvantage, owing to the distance
they had to carry their goods. They had no good port on the
Pacific where they could obtain their supplies by sea, but they
doggedly persevered in their attempt, until, about the year
1815, they were in complete oceupation of the Columbia river
and its chief tributary streams, holding their posts and carry-
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ing on a trade in United States territory, in defiance of the

prohibitory law of Congress which was then in force,

And now, having reached this stage in the affairs of the

North-West Company, it will be well to take a glance at those

of the Hudson’s Bay Company.
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CHAPTER VIIL

THE HUDSON'S BAY COMPANY.

IN previous chapters we traced the different discoveries in

Hudson’s Bay, and the conflicts between the English and
French for possession of that great inland sea. The result, as
already shown, of the expedition under Captain Zachariah
Gillam in 1668, was the granting of the Hudson's Bay Com-
pany’s charter on 2nd May, 1670, to Prince Rupert and his
associates. Prince Rupert was a most earnest and generous
patron of all promising adventures, and, having given his
countenance and assistance to the expedition of the Nonswh,
it was a natural consequence that he should connect himself
prominently with the enterprise of the Hudson’s Bay Company
and interest himself in obtaining the charter from King
Charles 11 =

The motive assigned for the royal gift was, “ that the cor-
porators have at their own great cost and charges undertaken
an expedition for Hudson’s Bay, for the discovery of a new
passage into the South Sea, and for finding some trade for furs,
minerals, and other considerable commodities, and by such,
their undertaking, have already made such discoveries as do
encourage them to proceed further in pursuance of their said
design, by means whereof there may probably arise very great
advantage to us and our Kingdom.”

The original grantees named in the charter were Prince
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Rupert, Count Palatine of the Rhine, Duke of Bavaria and
Cumberland, &ec., Christopher Duke of Albermarle, William
Earl of Craven, Henry Lord Arlington, Anthony Lord Ashley,
Sir John Robinson and Sir Robert Vyner, Knights and
Baronets, Sir Peter Colleton, Baronet ; Sir Edward Hunger-
ford, Knight of the Bath; Sir Paul Neele, Knight: Sir John
Griffith and Sir Philip Carteret, Knights ; James Hayes, John
Kirk, Francis Millington, William Prettyman, John Fenn,
Esquires ; and John Portman, citizen and goldsmith of London.

The “Rights by Charter” were specified as follows: “We
have given granted and confirmed, and by these presents, for
us, our heirs and successors, do give, grant and confirm, unto
the said governor and company, and their successors, the sole
trade and commerce of all those seas, straits, bays, rivers, lakes,
creeks and sounds in whatsoever latitude they shall be, that
lie within the entrance of the straits commonly called Hud-
son’s Straits, together with all the lands and territories upon
the countries, coasts, and confines of the seas, bays, lakes, rivers,
creeks and sounds-aforesaid, that are not already actually
possessed by or granted to any of our subjects, or possessed by
the subjects of any other Christian Prince or state, with the
fishing of all sorts of fish, whales and sturgeons, and other
royal fishes, in the seas, bays, inlets and rivers within the
premises, and the fish therein taken, together with the royalty
of the sea upon the coasts within the limits aforesaid ; and all
mines royal as well discovered as not discovered, of gold, sil-

ver, gems and precious stones to be found or discovered within

the territories, limits and leY aforesaid ; and that the said

land be from henceforth reckoned and reputed as one of our
plantations or colonies in America, called “ Rupert’s Land: "

P
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successors, make, create, and constitute the said governor and
company for the time being, and their successors, the true and
absolute lords and proprietors of the same territory, limits and
places aforesaid, and of all other, the premises, saving always
the faith, allegiance and sovereign dominion due to us, our heirs
and suceessors for the same ; to hve, hold, possess and enjoy
the said territory, limits and places, and all and singular other
the premises hereby granted as aforesaid, with their and every
of their rights, members, jurisdictions, prerogatives, royalties,
and appurtenances whatsoever, to them the said governor and
company, and their successors for ever, to be holden of us, our
heirs and successors as of our manor of East Greenwich, in our
County of Kent, in free and common soccage, and not in
capite, or by Knight's service; yielding and paying yearly to
us, our heirs and successors, for the same, two elks, and two
black beavers, whensoever and as often as we, our heirs, suc-
cessors, shall happen to enter into the said countries, territories
and regions hereby granted.”

Although the original title to the territory and trade in

question was derived under the charter, the rights of the eom-

pany have in various instances received the recognition of the
British Legislature as follows :

The Act 14 Geo. 3, Cap. 83, entitled “ An Act for making
more effectual provision for the Government of Quebec in

North America,” in deseribing the boundaries of Canada, ex-

pressly refers to their lying northward to the southern
boundary of the territories granted to the Merchants adven-
turers of England trading into Hudson’s Bay.

The Act 43 Geo. 3, cap. 138, entitled “An Act for extending
the jurisdiction of the courts of justice in the Provinces of

Lower and Upper Canada, to the trial and punishment of per- <




122 HISTORY OF THE NORTH-WEST,

sons guilty of crimes and offences within certain parts of
North America, adjoining to the said provinces.”

This Act referred to crimes committed in the Indian Terri-
tories, and, a doubt having arisen whether this provision
extended ‘to the territories possessed by the Hudson's Bay
Company, an Act was passed, 1st and 2nd Geo. 4, cap. 66,
entitled “An Act for regulating the fur trade, and establishing
a commercial and civil jurisdiction within certain parts of
North America,” in which it was declared and enacted that the
provisions of Act 43 Geo. 3, should be deemed and eonstrued
to extend to and over, and to be in full force in and thgough,
all the territories theretofore granted to the Hudson’s Bay
Company. @

This Act distinetly recognized the rights of the company to
exclusive trade within their own territories.

The charter gave the company the power to make, ordain
and constitute reasonable laws, constitutions, orders and
ordinances as to them seemed necessary—to put them in use,
and execute them, and at their pleasure to revoke and alter
them as occasion required, It provided also for the imposing
of pains, penalties, and punishments upon all offenders, and
that “all lands, islands, territories, plantations, forts, fortifica-
tions, factories, or colonies, within the company’s territories,
were to be under the power and command of 'the Governor
and company, their successors and assigns, and they were
empowered to appoint and establish governors, and all other
officers to govern them.”

In pursuance of the authority thus given, the company in-
variably exercised all the powers of government necessary for

the administration of justice in their tyrritory, and for that

purpose appointed proper officers who acted judiciously in all

matters arising therein.
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Several Acts of the British Legislature recognized the gen-

eral rights and privileges claimed and exercised by the com-
pany. Among these may be mentioned an Act passed in the
sixth year of the reign of Queen Anne, c. 37, entitled “ An
Act for the encouragement of the trade to America,” which
expressly provides that nothing therein contained should
extend or be construed to take away or prejudice any of the
estates, rights or privileges of or belonging to the Governor
and Company of Adventurers trading into Hudson’s Bay.

The same proviso was also made in an Act passed in 1745,
18 Geo. 2, cap. 117, for granting a reward for the discovery of
a north-west passage through Hudson’s Straits ; and by 7 and
8 Wm. IIL, cap. 22, the proprietary plantations, such as
Rupert’s Land, were regulated in such terms as expressly
involved a parliamentary recognition of all royal grants of
colonial dominion.

The validity of the Hudson’s . Bay charter has been ques-
tioned on several occasions, but the opinion of some of the
highest authorities in England and the United States has
been pronounced in its favor. The Hudson’s Bay Company
on the 10th June, 1814, sought an opinion respecting the Red
River territory from the learned counsel, Samuel Romilly, G.
S. Holroyd, William Cruse, J. Scarlet, and John Bell, who re-
plied as follows: “ We are of opinion that the grant of the
soil contained in the charter is good, and that it will include
all countries the waters of which flow into Hudson's Bay ;
that an individual, holding from the Hudson’s Bay Company
a lease or grant, in fee simple, of any portion of their terri-
tory, will be entitled to all the ordinary rights of landed pro-
perty in England ; that the grant of civil and criminal juris-
diction is valid, and to be exercised by the Governor and
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Council as Judges, who are to proceed according to the laws
of England; that the company may appoint a Sheriff to
execute judgments and do his duty, as in England ; that all
persons will be subject to the jurisdiction of the Court, who
reside or are found within the territories over which it ex-
tends, and we do not think that the Act 43 Geo. 3, ¢. 138,
(commonly called the Canada Jurisdiction Act), gives jurisdic-
tion within the territories of the Hudson’s Bay Company—
the same being within the jurisdiction of their own Govern-
ors and Couneil.”

Mr. Greenhow, after reciting the Royal Charter of 1670,
acknowledges “ that from thence it will be seen that the Hud-
son’s Bay Company possessed by its Charter almost sovereign
powers over the vast portion of Awmerica drained by streams
entering Hudson’s Bay.”

Earl Grey, in a letter to Sir John Pelly, Governor of the
Company, dated June 6th, 1850, concludes as follows :—* Lord
Grey, therefore, on behalf of Her Majesty’s Government,
adopted the most effectual means open to him for answering
the requirements of the address, has been obliged, in the ab-
sence of any parties prepared to contest the rights claimed by
the company, to assume the opinion of the law officers of the
Crown in their favor to be well founded.” Daniel Webster
says: “I entertain no doubt that these companies have a
vested proprietary interest in these lands. Their title to its
full extent is protected by treaty, and, although it is called a
possessory title, it has been regarded as being, if not an _ubﬁo-
lute fee in the land, yet a fixed right of possession, use and
occupation, as to prevent the soil from being alienated to
others.” John Van Buren declared : “That the oceupation by
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petual,” and Edwin M. Stanton states: “ For not only was the
possession of the Hudson’s Bay Company recegnized by its
Government, but also their absolute right to grant and convey
vast and unlimited portions of territory to others.”

The grounds of complaint which furnished the long-con-
tinued and embittered opposition to the company were:

“1. That the charter was granted by royal prerogative
without ratification.

“2. That it Was illegal for the Crown to grant a monopoly
of trade to a favored company of subjects.

“3. That the obligations imposed by the professed objects
of the company, to search for a passage to the South Sea, and
also to explore for mineral wealth, had been wholly neglected
by the company, which sternly discountenanced and withstood
all such enterprises when prompted by others.

“4. That a part at least of the territories claimed by the
company was really exempted from' the grant made to it,
which recognized a possible possession by the subjects of some
other ‘ Christian Prince.””

It was claimed that a portion of the region had been pat-
ented in 1598, by Henry IV. of France, to Sieur de la Roche,
and that, on the ground of this claim, an dating Prince
Rupert’s charter, the Chevalier de Troyes, N\p 1684, had
taken and destroyed the posts of the company on Hudson and
James Bays, on the plea that the territory belonged to his
Sovereign. .

According to the report of the commissioners appointed in
1687 to consider the rival claims of England and France to
Hudson’s Bay, the following is the French case as presented :—
They claimed “ that in 1626 their King conveyed by charter

to the Company of New France, the region now known as
H
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Canada and the whole region of Hudson’s Bay. The country

(North-West) was also confirmed to France by the treaty of
St. Germain-en-Laye, 38 years before Prince Rupert’s charter.
From the treaty of Utrecht in 1713, to the peace of Paris
in 1763, there was no distinet boundary between the French
in Canada and the territnryvcluinw(l by the English in the
Bay. In 1763, in the cession of Canada by France, there was
no western boundary assigned to Canada, although the French
claimed to the Pacific. By the eighth article of the treaty of
Ryswick, in 1697, the whole of Hudson’s Bay was recognized
as belonging to the Crown of France. By .the treaty of
Utrecht, in 1713, a portion of the shores-of Hudson’s Bay was
ceded to England. The French, by assaults in 1682 and 1686,
destroyed all the forts except Albany, and held possession of
York Factory, which they named Fort Bourbon, from 1697 to
1714, and in 1699 the French ambassador to England asserted
the claim of his sovereign to the whole of the Bay on the
north.”

The English claimed :—* That the northern part of America,
wherein Hudson’s Bay is comprised, was discovered .in the
year 1497, by Sebastian Cabot, by particular commission from
King Henry VII. In the year 1610, Henry Hudson, His
Majesty’s subject, sailed into the Straits and Bay of Hudson,

took possession thereof, giving names to several places therein,

E by which they have been since called, and known in the maps

of those parts, as well foreign as English: " In‘the year 1612,
Thomas Button, an Englishman, sailed into the said straits
and bay, took possession of several‘places, particularly of the
river ‘of Port Nelson and territories thereunto belonging, in
the name of his master, King James the First, and called the

said river and port, wherein they theén wintered, by the name
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of Port Nelson, from the commander of the ship wherein
he sailed, whose name was Nelson. In the year 1631, Capt.
Luke Fox, by c(\)mnmmlj of King Charles the First, made a
voyage to Hudson’s Bay, and, amongst other places within the
said bay, he entered the river of Port Nelson, and finding
there a cross which had been erected by Sir Thomas Button,
with an inseription defaced, he set up the said cross again
with a new inseription, declaring His Majesty’s right and pos-
session, and then named the adjacent countries upon the said
river, New North Wales, as it is called to this day in the maps
of America. In the year 1667, unother voyage was made to
the said bay, by one Zachery Gillam, an Englishman, who
sailed into a river in the bottom of the bay, calling it Rupert
River, in honor of Prince Rupert, who was principally con-
cerned in that expedition with other adventurers, built a fort
there, which he called Charles Fort, in honor of his late Ma-
jesty,and taking possession of the river and lands thereabouts,
entered into a good correspondence and trade with the natives.
In the year 1669, Capt. Newland entered Port Nelson, and

declared His Majesty’s right thereto by setting up His Ma-

jesty’s Arms, as the ensigns of his sovereignty. In the year
1670, His Majesty was pleased, by his Royal Charter, to in-

corporate the said adventurers, granting them power to trade

exclusively to all others within the said straits and bay, and
within all the lands and territories, rivers and islands, in and
about the said straits and bay. In the year 1673, Charles
Bayley was sent by the company as governor of the Factories
within the said bay, with whom Monsieur Frontenac, then
Governor of Canada, kept a good ecorrespondence, without
complaining of any injury done by the company, or their
agents, in settling ofAcommerce, or building of forts, in the
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hottom of the bay. In 1680, Capt. Draper, in one of the

company’s ships, entered the river of Port Nelson. .In the

year 1682, the company’s agents and factors built a fort, and
were settling a factory in Port Nelson, when they were first
disturbed by the French, the adventurers having expended
near £200,000 for twenty years last past,in building forts and
factories, within the limits of their charter. His Majesty’s
right to Hudson’s Bay and territories thereunto belonging,
being thus deduced without any interruption or dispute until
the year 1682.” ( :

The foregoing claims of the French L(n(l English to Hudson's
Bay are taken almost verbatim from' the papers connected
with the transactions between England and France relating to
Hudson’s Bay in 1687. On that occasion, each side presented
its view of the question, and the commissioners, the Earl of

Sunderland, Earl of Middleton and Lord Godolphin on the .

part of England, and Barillon D’Amoncourt, the Marquis de
Branges and Sieur Francis Dusson de Bourepaus on the part
of the French, agreed that it should not be lawful for the ser-
vants of either King to commit any act of hostility against or
invade the subjects of the other in America.

This treaty of peace between the two governments did not
last long, as will be seen by reference to the conflicts which
took place between the English and French in Hudson’s Bay.
In 1697 and '98, the company presented petitions to the Lords
Commissioners of Trade asking that the French might not be
allowed to travel or trade beyond the midway betwixt Canada
and Albany Fort. But it was not until 1782 that the French
flag waved for the last time over the forts in Hudson’s Bay.

+ It will be observed that in the grounds of complaint urged
against the company, one was that they had wholly neglected
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to search for a North-West passage in accordance with the
provisions of the Charter, but the following list of expeditions
fitted out by them will show that the complaint was un-
founded.

Vessels fitted out by the Hudson’s- Bay Company on dis-
covery of a North-West passage :

1719. Albany, frigate.—Capt. Geo. Berley, sailed from Eng-
land, 5th June. Never returned.

Disecovery.—Capt. David Vaughan, sailed from England, 5th
June. Never returned.

Prosperous.—Capt. Henry Kelsey, sailed from York Fort,
June 19th. Returned 10th August following.

Success.—John Hancock, Master, sailed from Prince of
Wales Fort, June 26th. Returned 2nd September.

1721. Prosperous.—Capt. Henry Kelsey, sailed from York
Fort, June 26th. Returned 2nd September.

Success—James Napper, Master, sailed from York Fort,
June 26th.  Lost on 30th June.

Whalebone.—John Seroggs, Master, sailed from Gravesend,
31st May. Wintered at Prince of Wales Fort. Sailed from
thence 21st June, 1722. Returned July 25th following.

1737. Chwrehill —James Napper, Master, sailed from Prince

of Wales Fort, July 7th. Nappef died 8th August, and the
vessel returned on the 18th.

Musquash.—Robert Croy, Master, sailed from Prince of
Wales Fort, July 7th. turned 22nd August.

The Charter, howe¥er, retained its vitality for fully two
centuries, and the /only instance where a confirmation of it
was asked was in 1690. In 1847, there appeared for the first
time in print, a document which was found in the Rolls of
('lmt}ceﬂry,. and which proved to be this very same confirma-

g
.
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tion, by Act of Parliament, passed nearly two hundred years
before. The existence of this document was not even suspect-
ed by the British Government, and is the only instance on
record where a ratification was granted.  Parliament strictly
limited its confirmation to a period of seven years, and the
company refrained from seeking a renewal of it.

In 1749, when Mr. Arthur Dobbs, the promoter of the
Dobbs-Galley expedition, and his associates, presented a peti-
tion to the English Government for incorporation with certain
privileges, somewhat similar to those enjoyed by the Hudson's
Bay Company, Messrs. D. Ryder and Wm. Murray being
appointed by the Committee of the Privy Council to consider
and report upon the said petition, mhde the following state-
ment :—“ As to the supposed forfeitre of the company’s
charter by non-user or abuser, the charge upon that head
is of several sorts, viz:—That they (the Hudson’s Bay Com-
pany) have not discovered, nor sufficiently attempted to dis-
cover, the North-West passage into the South seas or West-
ern Ocean:; That they have not extended their settlements
through the limits of their charter; That they have design-
edly confined their trade to a very narrow compass, and have,
for that purpose, abused the Indians, neglectpd their own forts,
ill-treated their own servants and encouraged the French.
But, on consideration of all the evidence laid before us by
many affidavits on both sides, we think these charges are
either not sufficiently supported in point of fact, or in a great
measure accounted for from the nature or circumstances of
the case.”

The charter, it will be observed, constituted a very small

body of directors, and the number required to form a quorum

was, therefore, small. It was, indeed, a corporation of the
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closest kind, and guarded its secrets carvefully. The organiza-
L

tion in London provided for the administration of its local
business within its chartered territory, and for some years the
company sent a superintendent to each of its posts. The ex-
pansion of the business, however, soon resulted in an admirably
managed system. A local resident Governor was appointed,
who presided at a council which was held*annually, or oftener,
if necessary, for the purpose of directing all the management
down to the minutest details for the carrying on the affairs of
the company throughout its vast territory. This local Gover-
nor and council was, of course, subject to the Board of Diree-
tors in London, and, years afterwards, when the com-
pany procured its licence for “exclusive trade” over the
whole North-West, extending to the Pacific Ocean, the task
of administrating its affairs becafne one of great responsi-
bility.

When Canada was ceded by the French in 1763, the Eng-
lish, following in the line of their predecessors, endeavored to
push the fur trade to the far west, irrespective of any claims
on the part of the Hudson's Bay Company. The continued
interest in the finding of a new passage into the South Sea,
which prevailed in England, had also induced several parties
to undertake expeditions to Hudson’s Bay, and these com-
plained of lack of sym]mth._v,t?.ml even opposition, on the part
of the company’s officers t;m’?t‘rd their enterprises, which, in
1749, resulted in a petitioh to the Lords-in-Council against
the monopoly and policy of the company.

This action on the part of their opponents, and the subse-

quent competition of the fur traders in the interior, led the
Hudson’s Bay Company, in 1769, to send Samuel Hearne to
explore the north, who, during that expedition, discovered the
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Odppermine River, and was the first European to look into
the Arctic circle. This was followed up by the North-West

Company sending Alexander McKenzie out, who followed the

river which received his name for 800 miles, and was the first
explorer to pass the Rocky Mountains. In 1820 and 1825, Sir

i o .
John Franklin was sent by the British Government, ‘and ad-

vanced the exploration of McKenzie. In 1829, the British -

Government sent Sir John Ross, and, in 1832, aided by private
subscriptions, despatched Sir George Back to search for him.
The Hudson’s Bay Company, which had rendered aid in these
and other expeditions, then took up the work of exploration
at its own charges, and in 1836 sent Thomas Simpson and
Peter William Dease, who, in 1838-9, discovered what was sup-
posed to be the longed-for water opening. It will /thus be
seen that the Hudson's Bay Company played no inconsider-
able part in North-Western exploration.

At the risk of being accused of repetition in our narrative,
we will now recapitulate the different phases of opposition
offered to the company from the time when it obtained its
charter. While the company had as yet planted its posts
only on the shores of James Bay, and at the mouth of Chur-
chill and Hayes Rivers, the French, by assaults in 1682 and
1686, destroyed all the posts, except Albany, on the former
bay, and held possession of York Fort from 1697 to 1714.
In 1682, the company petitioned Charles II. for protection
against De le Barre, Governor of Canada, who threatened to
assault its posts. Again, in 1697 and 1698, it petitioned the
Lords Commissioners of Trade to prevent the French from
travelling or trading beyond the midway betwixt Canada and
Albany Fort, which it reckoned to be within the bounds of
its charter. In 1699, the French ambw&dor, in answer to a
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memorial, asserted the claims of his sovereign to the whole
bay on the north, wh\ich he insisted was comprehended within
the limits of the grantg to. hi€ subjects, as in the previous ex-
peditions of the French, with Indian allies, against the early
bay posts, the assailants had ecx the height of land be-
tween Canada and James Bay. mexwlition of La Perouse
in 1782, and his capture of the forts of the company, was a
bhold and effective blow, which there seems to have been no £t-
tempt to parry or avenge, and we have seen how the French
penetrated the interior of the North-West in the prosecution~
of the fur trade, and were succeeded, after the cession of
Canada in 1763, by English adventurers and traders, who be-
came the bitter opponents of the Hudson’s Bay Company in
its efforts to establish itself in the North-West.

The French had traded under “licenses” granted by the
authorities, but the English declared for free trade and, as a
result, sharp practices, jealousies, feuds, and, worse than all,
sad demoralization among the Indians at once ensued. This
state of affairs led to the formation of the North-West and
other companies for self-protection, and thus a powerful and
organized opposition to the Hudson’s Bay Company was
formed.

In the meantime, the company extended its operations and
built numerouseposts throughout the North-West, the supplies
for which came chiefly i« Hudson’s Bay. There were usu-
ally two ships employed annually to make the voyage, and
they were timed to arrive there about 10th or 15th August,
and, after changing cargo, to leave for home about Sept. 15th
or 20th ; but owing to the difficulties of navigation through
ice, the vessels experienced all the difference in their succes-
sive voyages between four days and five weeks. The two
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vessels generally endeavored to keep together on the outward
passage, parting, after entering the Bay, the one for York Fac-
tory, the other for Moose Factory on James Bay. Two years
supplies of goods were kept at York Factory to guard against
the failure of arrival of the ships, from which it would appear
that the company had not the fullest confidence in the navi-

gation of the straits.

In order to facilitate the transport of goods, the parcels im-

ported and the bundles of furs exported were done up so as
not to exeeed one hundred pounds each in weight. These
were conveyed inland in canoes, and a strong man would carry
two of them over a portage by a strap passing either over his
forehead or-across his chest. In winter, a sled without run-
ners, and drawn by four or eight dogs, was, substituted for
the canoe, and in this manner the supplies were transported to
the inland posts, from thirty to sixty miles per day being the
rate of speed at which they were conveyed.

The posts of the company, being planted at the confluence
or the parting of streams, offered opportunities in long routes
of travel, for occasional intercourse and hospitality. Often a
travelling party might rely wholly or largely upon the game
—animal, bird or fish—to be found on the route, but the staple
food at the posts and in travel was pemmican, of which the
company gathered in its storehouses thousands of bags.
Most usually prepared- from the buffalo, pemmican might be
made also of moose meat, deer or mountain sheep. The two
yearly hunts of the natives were busily turned to the account
of the manufacture of pemmican, and during the hunt, hun-
dreds or even thousands of the animals were dropped on the
plains, and then the squaws began their work. The carcasses

were skinned and the hides passed through the processes of
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drying, tanning and softening for many uses. The meat was
torn into strips, dried by the sun or by fire, and then pounded
into erumbs and packed in a close bag made of the hide, after
which a quantity of hot fat, in proportion of four to five of
the lean, was poured into the bag, stirred into a mixture and
then carefully closed from the air. This food, which was the
main-stay of the company’s people when travelling, would
keep perfectly good for years, if stored in a dry place and was
transported at wide distances for men and dogs.

The rations of food dealt out to the voyageurs and to those
at the posts varied according to the nature of the supplies.
On the shores of the bay, a wild goose was a day's ration—so
were ten. pounds of buffalo meat; at Athabasca, eight pounds
of moose meat ; on English river, three large white fish ; high-
er to the north, reindeer; west of the Rocky Mountaius, eight
rabbits or a salmon. One of the most niggard regions for
food was on the route between Lake Superior and Lake Win-

nipeg. There, fish were scarce, and though rabbits were some-

times innumerable, they were most innutritive. The most

faithful companions of these wilderness travellers, their own
horses and dogs, were necessarily put to the uses of the kettle
when there was no alternative resource. The great drink of
the north-West was Souchong tea, and traders and Indians
alike, were very fond of ‘this gentle stimulant. After passing
a threatened peril, or accomplishing some extreme effors. of
daring or endurance, a full solace was always found in starting
a blaze, putting on the kettle and drinking the effusion as
strong as it could be made, and almost at the boiling point.

In the prosecution of the fur trade, the question of food was
often a difficult one to manage, The Indians were naturally
wasteful and improvident, and unfortunately held to the belief
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that the more game they slaughtered the more rapidly would
the animals multiply. Traders and hunters were scarcely less
improvident, and the extinction of the buffalo on the plains,
and the diminution in the supply of larger game in the woods,
is the result to-day of this wastefulness. In the hunts, the
plains would be strewn with carcasses far exceeding their
needs or means of transportation, and in the woods, deer,
moose and other game would be left to rot. Yet, both Indians
and hunters often suffered terribly, in their journeyings, from
hunger.

The goods, imported by the company having been deposited
at the various posts, the Indians would soon appear upon the
scene laden with furs, or the company’s officers would under-
take expeditions to distant camps, taking with them the
necessary supplies for trading with the natives. When the
Indians moved in companies, for a visit to a post with their

furs, they had to bring with them their food and all their

household goods—their lodge poles and coverings, their pans

and kettles, and their whole families. The visitors were re-
quired to keep at a respectful distance from the precints of
the post, and, while camp was being formed, the employés of
the company would make the necessary arrangements for
carrying out the well-prepared methods of trade. Liquor too
often played a conspicuous part in the trading operations,
although the company did not encourage its use as much as
has been laid to its charge.

In trading, the beaver skin represented the unit of value,
and the tariff of other skins was regulated thereby. The
Indians would receive. little sticks prepared for the purpose,
each one representing the value of a beaver skin, and these

sticks were the currency used and accepted by the company
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in dealing with the Indians. When the latter had disposed
of their furs they proceeded to purchase their supplies, trin-
kets, ete., and paid for what they bought in the sticks which
they had received in exchange for their peltries.

It has often been charged against the company that they
supplied liquor to the Indians for the purpose of taking ad-
vantage of them in trading. But the absence of any serious
outbhreak on the part of the Indians, or discontent, shows that
no undue advantage was taken of them by this means. It
may even be said that as a general thing no trading between
the servants of the company and the Indians took place if the
latter were under the influence of firewater. In fact, the com-
plete control or monopoly of trade, which the Hudson’s Bay
Campany held for years, was a security for the preservation
of the Indian tribes, because without them the trade could not
have been carried on.

The furs having been secured from the Indians, the packing
of them for the English market required great skill and
knowledge, so as to ensure their proper preservation en route.
The bales had to be guarded from heats and damps, ete., while
on the voyage, as a trifling blemish would reduce theiz/ value.
The company, therefore, ran great risk in carrying on their
trade, and the fidelity of their employés, in the discharge of
their duties, was of vital impo‘rtance to their success. That
the servants of the company were faithful to their trust, and
devoted to the interests of their employers, is well known, and
the profitable results of the business transacted in those early
days is the best proof of this.

From the date of the charter in 1670, for twenty years, to
1690, the returns of the company had been £118014, and
this, notwithstanding the losses to their establishments by
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B

the French in 1682 and 1688. During this time, the cap-
ital stood at £10,500. In 1684, there was a dividend of fifty
per cent., and the same in 1688. In 1689, the dividend was
twenty-five per cent., and in 1690, the stock was trebled with-
out any call being made on the shareholders. So the twenty-
five per cent. dividend of that year was really seventy-five
per cent. From 1692 to 1697, the damage done by the French
in the capture of its establishments subjected the company to
a loss of £97,500. This compelled the directors to borrow
money temporarily at six per cent. Yet, notwithstanding
this, in 1720 it again trebled its capital stock, with a call on
its shareholders of only ten per cent. Again the company
suffered a severe loss from the French, in 1782, through the
destruction of its posts by La Perouse. Then it paid, for a
while, dividends of from five to twelve per cent., averaging
nine per cent. In 1690, the capital stock of the company was
£31,500. It was trebled again in 1720, and became £94,500.

In 1749, the following were the posts belonging to the Hud-

son’s Bay Company : Moose, Henly, East Main House, Albany,
York and Prince of Wales Fort, and in 1793, according to a
map puhlinhe«l at that time, the following posts and forts were
established by the different fur companies throughout the
North-West.

Between latitude 50° and 60°, the following were situated.

East Main Factory, Brunswick House, Albany Fort, Glou-
cester House, Moose Fort, Osnaburgh, Galt Lake, Red Lake,
Swan River, Somerset House, Brochet, Marlboro’ House, Cum-

berland, Carlton, Hudson’s House, South Branch, Grant’s,

Thorburne, and Manchester House.

Between latitudes 60° and 70°, were the following :
York Fort, Churchill Fort, Severn® House, MecLeod’s Fort.
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Fort Chipewyan, on Elk River, at that time the most norther-
ly post established by any of the fur companies.

It will be seen from the above list that the traders from
Montreal had extended their operations far into the interior
before the Hudson's Bay Company began to establish posts
there, as it was not until 1793 that the company’s servants
appeared on the Red River for the first time.

Then succeeded a period of keen competition between the
rival fur comp&.nies—the erection, in quick succession, of new
trading posts throughout the country, the amalgamation of the
North-West and XY Companies, and their united efforts

" against the Hudson's Bay Company.

This continued until the Earl of Selkirk appeared upon the

scene, when lhe conflicts between the two companies assumed

such proportions that the attention of the Home and Colonial
Governments was called to the scenes of bloodshed and distur-
bance attending them.

In the beginning of the present century, Lord Selkirk
was cxtensively engaged in colonization projects in British
North America, and in connection with them visited the City
of Montreal. He then had an opportunity to enquire into the
operations of the North-West Company through the attentions
of the agents and partners of that corporation, in their efforts
to entertain him, and the information he received at the time
created a profound impression upon his mind as to the great
possibilities of the North-West.

On his return to England, His Lordship continted his en-
quiries in relation to the\gubject which so much interested
him, and it was not long untifyhe recognized the superior ad-
vantages possessed by the Hudson's Bay Company over those

of their rivals in the prosecution of the fur trade. He saw
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that the over-land route from Montreal to the trading stations
in the North-West was several hundreds of miles longer than
the one from Hudson’s Bay, and that the exclusive commerce
and navigation enjoyed by the Hudson’s Bay Company in that

inland sea made them really masters of the situation.
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CHAPTER IX.
THE FUR TRADE ON THE PACIFIC COAST.

THE agents and officers of the fur companies penetrated the
country beyond the Rocky Mountains in all directions, and
established posts in New Caledonia, now British Columbia, on
McLeod Lake, in 1805: on Stuart Lake, in 1806: on the
Jackanut (now the Fraser) Fort George; in 1807, am'l in

- 1808 an expedition started to trace the Jackanut to the sea.

They discovered the Thompson River in 1808, and in 1811
traversed the Columbia from its extreme northern bend to its
mouth.

The North-West Company in fact outstripped its chartered
rival from Hudson’s Bay in the establishment of trading posts
everywhere in the interior, and its officers, being stimulated by
the hope of becoming partners, showed more zeal and activity
than their opponents in extending the fur trade to all parts of
the North-West. The Hudson’s Bay Company presented no
such inducements to extra exertion on the part of its officers
each individual having a fixed salary without any prospect of
becoming a proprietor,and so long as he did his duty he did
not feel himself called upon to do more. This was one advan-
tage the North-West Company had over it$ rival, and another
was the employment by it of French Canadians as canoe-men,
trappers and traders. These, although wild and reckless at
times, were remarkable for obedience to their superiors, and

, ¢
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their skill in managing canoes, capability of enduring hardships
and facility of adapting themselves to the habits and peculiar-
ities of the various tribes, rendered them more popular in the
eyes of the Indians than the men from Orkney, employed by
the Hudson’s Bay Company. The men from the north of
Scotland, although hardy, were stubborn, unbending and
matter-of fact in their intercourse with the natives, and, added
to this, no idea of supererogation ever entered their minds.
They were, therefore, not so popular with the Indians, or so
successful in trade as the rollicking, reckless French Cana-
dians ; and, as a result of this, the latter penetrated regions in
the prosecution of trade far ahead of the former.

The North-West Company, indefatigable in its efforts to
extend its trade, after establishing posts adjoining the different
factories of the Hudson’s Bay Company wherever they were
built, continued its progress to the northward and west-
ward, and formed numerous trading stations at Athabasca,
Peace River, Great and Lesser Slave Lakes, New Caledonia,
the Columbia, etc., ete. No officer was more active or more
successful in this work than Mr. John Stuart, one of the
partners of the North-West Company, who discovered and
named the lake which bears his name. He and his associates
were 8o active that their influence with the natives became all
powerful, and they in fact enjoyed a monopoly of trade in the
far west, which for a long time was left undisturbed by the
officers of the Hudson’s Bay Company.

While this was going on in the north, fur companies weie
established south of the American boundary line, and carricd
on an active trade in peltries in that region. First,the Mac-

kina Company was formed and held a monopoly until the
American Fur Company was established by Mr. Astor in 1809,
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when the two became amalgamated into one under the name
of the South-West, in contradistinetion to the North-West
Company.

Mr. John Jacob Astor of New York, a German by birth, but
a citizen of the United States, raised himself by his adventur«
ous and enterprising spirit from small beginnings to be one of
the most eminent merchants in America. Soon after his ar-
rival in the United States in 1784, he commenced his commer-
cial career in the traffic of furs; at first on a narrow scale, but
gradually expanding as his means incrgased. In this way he
made visits to Canada, purchasing furs and shipping them
direct to the London market, and it is supposed that at this
period his buoyant and aspiring mind conceived the vast pro-
ject of grasping in his own hands at some future day the
whole fur trade of North America.

Mr. Astor, when he'saw himself at the head of a great fur
company (the South-West), formed the idea of penetrating
through the barriers of the Northern Company, so as to come
eventually into possession of. all the fur trade east of the
Rocky Mountains. As a stepping-stone to the accomplishuient
of this grand scheme, he turned his attention to the trade on
the coast of the Pacific, which at the time was chiefly in the
hands of the Russians. A few American coasting vessels also
carried on a lucrative trade, apd Mr. Astor perceived that if
such limited and desultory traffic produced large profits, a
well regulated trade supported by capital and prosecuted with
system, would result in immense gains.

The first step taken by him was the formation of a branch
of the fur trade, which he styled the “ Pacific Fur Company,
the grand central depot of which was to be at the mouth of
the Columbia River He thus contemplated carrying off the
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furs of all the countries west of the Rocky Mountains, and by
forming a chain of trading posts across the continent from the
Atlantic to the Pacific, he hoped by means of his South-West
Company in the east, and the Pacific Company on the west, to
capture the entire trade of the country. It was a grand com-
mercial scheme, and attracted much attention at the time,
especially in the United States, but Mr. Astor did not suffici-
ently take into consideration the power, influence, and activity
of the North-West Company when laying his plans. He did
not caleculate upon the untiring energy of such men as John
Stuart, McGillivray, McTavish, and others, to upset his
schemes, and here is where he did not show his characteristic
foresight, for when he made a proposition to the North-West
Company to join him, and it was rejected, he should have ar-
ranged for a better protection against the wiles of the Nor'-
Westers than he did.

He was certainly warned by friends and others that the
British would take umbrage at his attempts on the Pacific,
and endeavor to checkmate them. Astor’s reply was that he

intended chiefly to employ British subjects in his undertaking,

and by thissmeans would be able to hold his own. About this

time there happened to be some disagreement among the part-
ners of the North-West Company, and several of them left
that concern in disgust. These were just the men Mr. Astor
had in view ; men of influence and experience among savages,
and who, from their earlier days had been brought up in and
habituated to the hardships of the Indian trade. Five of
them, named McKay, McKenzie, Mc‘)ougall, and Messrs. David
and Robert Stuart, joined the Pacific Fur Company, and soon
afterwards, five others, namely Messrs. Hunt, Crooks, Miller,
McLellan and Clarke, were added to the number, when a joint
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stock concern was formed with a capital of $200,000, which
Mr. Astor furnishefd. The shares were 100 of $2,000 each,
with power to increase the capital to $500,000, and the asso-
ciation was to last for a period of twenty years, with a pro
viso, however, that at the end of five years it was to be dis-
solved, if found to be. unprofitable or impracticable. The
allotment of shares was as follows :

Mr. Astor 50 shares. Mr. Hunt, who was appointed chief
manager, 5 shares.

The other partners 4 shares each, and the remainder were
reserved for the clerks, who joined the company as adventur-
ers without any other renumeration than their chance of sue-
cess at the end of the five years trial.

The company being thus formed, a vessel called the Tonquin
was fitted out in 1810, and Captain Thorne, a lieutenant in the

service of the United States, placed in command. A party

consisting of four partners, McKay, McDougall, and the two
Stuarts, with nine clerks, and a number of voyageurs,
mechanies, ete., embarked on this ship, the whole being in
charge of McKay, and on the 6th September set sail from
New York bound for the Pacific. Previous to this, an overland
party under command of Mr. Hunt, was partly organized at
Lachine, near Montreal, and left there on 5th July to go across
the continent vie St. Louis and the Missouri. McKenzie, who
was with this expedition, wanted to engage only French Cana-
dian voyageurs for the trip, but Mr. Hunt, who was.of a grave
and steady character detested the volatile gaiety and seeming-
ly reckless manner of these men, and declined to employ more
than a few of them, preferring Americans. This, asit turned
out, was agreat mistake which Mr. Hunt afterwards acknow-
ledged, for the Canadians were voyageurs of the first class, and
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hardy veterans who thought of nothing but to toil and obey,
while the men who were engaged in their place proved to be
broken down, unreliable, and in many cases utterly unfit for
the hardships of the journey. At Mackina the rioting and
carousing of the trappers and adventurers assembled there made
it impossible for Mr. Hunt to secure any number of good men,
and being joined by Mr. Crooks, another partner in the com-
pany, the party made their way to St. Louis where they arriv-
ed on the 3rd September. Here several Americans engaged
with Mr.- Hunt, and received their advance in money for the
trip, but becoming dissatisfied with the rations served to them,
deserted in a body. Not only did they leave in this manner,
but they also gave the expedition a bad name, so that it was
found impossible to secure men to fill their places, and Mr.
Hunt was at a stand-still, bitterly repenting his refusal to take
McKenzie's advice at Lachine to employ Canadians. Soon
after this, however, Mr. Miller, another partner in the company,
Jjoined the expedition, and he being well known as a tradémon
the Missouri succeeded in inducing a number of men to join it.
It may be stated here also that the opposition of the Missouri
Fur Company to the undertaking proved a gret;.t obstacle in
the way of Mr. Hunt, but at last after a vexatious delay of
forty-eight days the party left St. Louis on the 21st October,

»_ just one month and a half later than the sailing of the Tou-

quin from New York.

The expedition moved slowly, and on the 16th November
went into winter-quarters at Nodowa, about 450 miles up the
Missouri, where they were joined by Mr. McLellan, another
partner, who had the reputation of being oné of thé best shots
in Armerica. During the winter, numerous desertions took

place, and when, on the 22nd April. the party made a fresh
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start on the journey, they were sadly decreased in numbers,
but Mr. Hunt, notwithstanding this, pressed forward, and on
the 14th September reached the heights of the Rocky Moun-
tains.

From this time the real troubles of the expedition com-
menced. The first mistake made was when they decided to
abandon their horses, which:- they turned loose to the number
of one hundred and eighty, and embarked in fifteen canoes for
the purpose of descending the rugged and boiling channels of
the south branch of the Columbia. They had not gone far
however, until the impracticability of proceeding by water be-
came apparent, and the canoes were next abandoned, and an
attempt made to travel by land. Men were sent out to recover
the horses, if possible, but were unsuccessful, and then most of
the goods and baggage were placed in caches to preserve them,
and lighten the burdens of the travellers. As they proceeded,
provisions became scarce, the country being destitute-of game,
so that starvation stared the unfortunate party in the face, and
several disasters, following with the loss of three or four
of the men, placed the expedition in a deplorable condition.
It was then that two parties were formed, one under Mr.
Hunt, and the other in charge of McKenzie, and in this way
they proceeded along the river, enduring every hardship it is
possible to conceive, sometimes going without food as many
as five days at a time. Cheered on, however, by the example
and endurance of their leaders, the two bodies of adventurers
managed, after untold privations, to reach the mouth of the
Columbia, McKenzie’s party arriving on the 10th January,
1812, and Hunt’s on the following 15th February, having

been about nineteen months in making the journey from La-
chine.
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The party on board of the 7'mquin, although not subjected
to such trials and privations as those who undertook the over-
land expedition, were not altogether free from discomfort and

hardship. Their voyage was full of adventure, and through

the arbitrary and disagreeable conduct of the captain of the

ship, their lot was far from being a pleasant one. On one oc-
casion, while several of the party were on land during the
time when the ship was taking in a supply of fresh water, the
captain sailed and left them to their fate on a desert shore,
and if it had not been for the determined conduct of Mr.
Robert Stuart, one of the partners, who threatened to blow
. the captain’s brains out if he did not stop, the luckless men
would have been abandoned. The captain’s conduct to both
passengers and crew fostered a spirit of mutiny, and desertions
from the ranks of the sailors took place on several occasions:
men were put in irons, and others abused, so that altogether,
the voyage was a most disagreeable one, made so through the
imperious and harsh disposition of the man whom Mr. Astor
had placed in command of the ship.

When nearing the Columbia River, the first mate, Mr. Fox,
was drowned while obeying the unreasonable orders of the cap-
tain, and in a few days afterwards the third officer of the ship
was lost in the same way. At the mouth of the Columbia,
which is remarkable for its sand bars and high surf at nearly
all seasons, the Tonquin had a narrow escape from being lost,
but on the 26th March succeeded in entering the mouth of the
river. The foolhardiness of the captain on this oceasion is re-
ferred to in the following words by one who was on board
the ship at the time.

“ Here are two points for consideration: first, the time of
sounding ; and, secondly, the time chosen for entering the
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breakers. In respect to both there was an unwarrantable
precipitation—a manifest want of sound judgment. We made
the land in the middle of a storm, the channel and coast both
unknown to us, and without either pilot or guide ; under such
circumstances it was evident to all that no boat could live on
the water at the time (to take soundings), far less reach the
shore ; and our entering the breakers at so late an hour, the
sun at the time not being fifty minutes above the horizon, the

channel also being unexplored, was certainly a premature and

forlorn undertaking ; but there existed such disunion—such a
spirit of contradiction on board—that the only wonder is how
we ever got so far.”

Some time was spent after this in examining the shores,
with the view of choosing a suitable place to build on. At
last it was settled that the new establishment should be erect-
ed on the south side, on a small rising ground named Point
George, distant twelve miles from the mouth of the inlet or
bar. and here, on the 12th April, 1811, the whole party, con-
sisting of thirty-three persons disembarked, and on the 18th
May following, the foundation of the town of Asteria was laid,
the place being so named in honor of Mr. Astor.

In June, the Tonguin sailed from Astoria on a trading ex-
pedition to the North, and not long afterwards the ship was
lost, thus leaving Astoria without any means of protection
against the Indians, or proper meéans for carrying on trade.
With not a single gun mounted, or a palisade raised, the party
sent out by Mr. Astor was left without the least precaution
being taken to secure life or property, and this state of things
and the many mishaps that befell the expedition, showed a
lack of proper management somewhere in the organization of
the enterprise. :




?
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It may be interesting at this S*,uge, before proceeding with
our account of Astoria, to give a few particulars relating to
the fate of the Tonquin. That vessel sailed from the mouth
of the Columbia on the 5th June, 1811, on a trading specula-
tion to the northward, and on the eve of starting, the captain,
stubborn and unreasonable as ever, discharged his second
mate, who refused afterwards to rejoin the ship. Mr. McKay,
one of the partners, went in charge of the expedition, and soon
* succeeded in operiing a smart trade with the natives, in which,
however, he was seriously hampered by the harsh and unbend-
ing manners of the captain, whom the Indians disliked very
much. On one occasion, Capt. Thorne having struck one of
their principal men whom he had caught in a petty theft, a
conspiracy was formed to surprise and cut off the vessel, but
this design was discovered by the interpreter, who lost. no
time in acquainting Mr. McKay of it. The Indians then, sus-
pecting that their conspiracy was known, endeavoured to
throw the whites off their guard by visiting the ship unarmed.
On the day before the ship was to leave New Whitby, the place
where McKay was carrying on his trade, a couple of large
canoes, followed by others, came alongside offering furs for
sale, and the occupants were allowed to come on board. The
interpreter, however, saw signs indicating that their visit was
with hostile intent, and again warned McKay and the Captain,
but the latter treated the caution with contempt, until the
number of Indians on board obstructed his efforts to get the
ship ready for sailing. Then he ordered, them off, and threat-
ened if they did not go, to foree their departure. This was a
signal for the attack of the savages, who, with frightful yells,
fell upon ‘the unsuspecting erew with knives, bludgeons and

short sabres whicl’} they had concealed under their robes. Mr.
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McKay was the first one attacked, and being stunned by a
blow from one of the bludgeons, was thrown overboard into a
canoe. Capt. Thorne made a determined stand against his as-
sailants, but being armed only with a knife, he was finally
overpowered and cruelly butchered on the deck, after which
his mangled body was thrown overboard. The resistance
made by the captain and crew maddened the savages to such
an extent, that they then seized upon Mr. MeKay and batter-
ed his brains out. In the meantime, thrée of the devoted
crew managed to gain the cabin where the firearms were
stored, and, seeing little hope of escape, resolved upon taking a
terrible revenge, by blowing up the vessel. They first, how-
ever, proposed to the savages who stood in awe of the firearms
which they now had, that if they were allowed to leave the
ship without being molested, they would give up quiet posses-
sion of it. This the Indians agreed to, and the three sailors,
having laid a train to the magazine, fired it and left the vessel,
whereupon, the savages, eager to obtain possession, clambered
upon the deck and the next moment the explosion took place,
hurling upwards of two hundred of them into eternity and
dreadfully injuring as many more. The first impression
among the surviving Indians was that the Evil Spirit had
taken reveng‘v on them for attacking the whites, but this idea

wore off as their terror subsided, and they quickly discovered

that human agency had caused the explosion. The three sail-

ors were followed, and, being discovered asleep at a point not
far distant, were ruthlessly murdered by the avenging natives.
Thus ended the voyage of the Tonquin, and the melancholy
fate of her hapless crew might have been averted if a more
amiable and sensible man had been placed in command. The
loss of the ship was a severe blow to Mr. Astor’s enterprise
on the Pacific. ‘
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When the Tonquin left the establishment at Astoria on her
last apd ill-fated voyage, the Indians at once began to be
troublesome, and for a time great anxiety was felt by the set-
tlers about the safety of their position, exposed as they were.
About this time, too, an unexpected visitor, in the person of
Mr. Thompson, a partner in the North-West Company, made
his appearance, and, to the surprise of every one in Astoria,
was received with great hospitality by McDougall, Mr. Astor’s
representative, who showed him everything there was to be
seen about the establishment. There is no doubt that he was
sent for the purpose of spying out the land, and of discouraging,
if possible, the Astor people in their attempt to establish a fur
trade on the Pacific. There is even reason to suppose that his
intention was to take possession of an eligible spot, at the
mouth of the Columbia, with a view of forestalling the plan
of Mr. Astor. But on his way some of his men had deserted
him, and this delayed him, so that on his arrival he found
Astoria established, and the Amerit%an flag hoisted as a token
of possession. ’

Previous to the coming of Mr. Thompson, two Indians ap-

peared, who showed a letter addressed to Mr. John Stuart,

Fort Estekatadene, New Caledonia, and who turned éut to be
also in the service of the North-West Company. The visit of
these Indians, and afterwards of Mr. Thompson, showed that
the Nor'-Westers were not asleep or unmindful of the inten-
tions of Mr. Astor. Indeed, Mr. Thompson unburdened him-
self to McDougall and others of the party, by saying that the
wintering partners of his company had resolved to.abandon
their trading posts west of the mountains, and not to enter
into competition with the Pacific Fur Company, if the latter
would engage not to encroach upon the trade on the east side.
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He then gave a description of the interior of the country, not
calculated to impress his hearers with a very favorable idea of
it, and altogether acted a part evidently meant to deceive the
Astorians. When he left, Mr. D. Stuart and a party of voy-
ageurs left at the same time and in his company, for the
purpose of exploring that interior which Mr. Thompson had
deseribed so unfavorably. But, had the Astorians been wise
they would have given Mr. Thompson the cold shoulder, or if
Mr. Astor had foreseen the wiles of the Nor'-Westers suffi-
ciently, his enterprise might have succeeded better. Be that
as it may, the colony at the mouth of the Columbia encounter-
ed many difficulties which, it woéuld seew, a little foresight
might have prevented. . Undoubtedly Mr. Astor was to a

great extent in the hands of his partners, but, knowing as he

must have done and of which he was warned, t:hm the North-

West Company would frustrate his designs if possible, he
should have been the more careful in the selection of some of
the men to whom he entrusted the care of the enterprise, and
bound thein so as to have prevented the disagreements, jeal-
ousies and desertions which afterwards took place.

On the 17th October, 1811, Mr. Astor sent the Beaver, a
vessel of four hundred and eighty tons, to the Pacific coast, in
command of Captain Cornelius Sowles, with additional sup-
plies for the people in Astoria, and with her went a partner of
the company, six clerks and a number of artisans and voy-
ageurs. The voyage was a much more pleasant one than that
of the Tonguin the previous year, and in six months and
three weeks the vessel arrived at the mouth of the Columbia,
where it was met by Mr. McDougall and some of his men,
who safely piloted it over the bar.

From this time the Astorians made every effort to extend

LN
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their trading operations on the Pacific slope, but with indiffer- expect to
ent success. Skirmishes with the natives, and losses through there, an
the duplicity of Indians on whom they were frequently obliged on the es
to depend when travelling in the interior, caused them much La Roeq
diseouragement and disappointment. A trading post with Mr, that the

David Stuart in charge had been established in the Okinagan tion also

country, and soon after the arrival of the Beaver, a large party Mr. Astor
ascended the Columbia, and from it MecDonald, McKenzie, and ation to |
a few others were detached and sent to a point on the Lewis had actua

River, to open a station among the Snake Indians. made for

The main party then continued on to the Spokane country, pointed {
where at a junction of the river of that name, and one called arrival of
the Pointed Heart, they established a post. Alongside of them . affairs, m

was a station of the North-West Company who had several entered |

SR

others in that district, and the Astorians at once set to work Northern
to oppose the Nor’-westers by establishing stations in different (M‘ th
parts of the country, so that a lively competition ensued,  Trom the

/

which in one instance resulted in a duel between an officer of organized
the Pacific Company and one of the Nor'-Westers. On the been reso
whole, however, the relations, socially, between the two sets of dured by
traders were amicable, although in trade they were bitter were not
rivals. t North-W,
On their return to Astoria, on June 11th, 1813, this party of fer. He |
Pacific Fur Company traders found that a total revolution had Astor’s i
taken place in the affairs at headquarters. The North-West ~ that he w
Company ever on the alert to dispossess the Astor Company. the furs
had sent two of their chief men, Messrs. John George McTavish, North-W;
and Joseph La Rocque, to negotiate for the purchase of the it would
property. They represented that as war had broken out dissatistie
between Great Britain and the United States, and the former ceived to
powe%zhad blockaded all American ports, the Astorians could Westers, ¢
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expect to receive no supplies from New York, or ship any furs
there, and that therefore they would not be able to carry
on the establishment. Previous to the visit of McTavish and
La Roeque, word of this nature had been received, and also
that the Beaver was blockaded in Canton. Much dissatisfac-
tion also existed among the partners at the policy pursued by
Mr. Astor in regard to the Columbian Colony,and a determin-
ation to leave the Pacific Fur Company, and abandon Astoria,
had actually been arrived at. In fact, preparations were being
made for an overland journey from the Pacific, and everything
pointed to a dissolution of Mr. Astor's enterprise, when the
arrival of the Nor'-wester envoys altered the complexion of
affairs, and after some deliberation an agreement to sell was

entered into by McDougall,. and the representatives of the
Northern Company.

(A}h the furs, and such supplies as could be bought in

S r.nﬁ the interior, had been collected in Astoria, and some

organized means by which the place could be abandoned, had
been resolved upon. But the hardships which had been en-
dured by the overland party in crdssing the continent in 1810,
were not forgotten, and when the overtures came from' the
North-West Company to buy, McDougall agreed to the trans-
fer. He has been blamed in some quarters for sacrificing Mr.
Astor’s interests, and that gentleman is reported to have said

that he would sooner have taken nothing than to have sold

the furs at the prices McDougall agreed to. No doubt the
North-West Company made the best “bargain they could, but
it would appear as if both principals to the transaction were
dissatisfied. Mr. Astaor,' on the one hand, thought that he re-
ceived too little, and Mr. John Stuart, on behalf of the Nor'-
Westers, declared that McTavish had paid too much. So on the
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whole it may be concluded that McDougall made the best
arrangement he could under the circumstances. The transac-
tion -was fully agreed to on the 16th October, 1813, the
whole sales including furs and merchandise, amounting, it is
said, to $80,500, for which bills on the agents of, the com-
pany in Canada were to be given.

But McTavish expected the arrival of an armed ship, the
Isuae Todd at any moment, and in that case Astoria would
be captured as a prize, and his bills of exchange saved.
So he, for one reason or another, put off completing the bar-

gain made with McDougall, the dissatisfaction of Mr. John /

Stewart at the price agreed upon, having no doubt something
to do with his indecision. MecDougall on the other hand had a
squadron of boats ready to convey the furs into the interior,
should the Jsuac Tedd arrive, and matters went on in this way

for nearly a month, when McKenzie, Mr. McDougall’s colleague,

suggested a measure likely to bring McTavish to terms. The

latter and his party were practically without arms or pro-
visions, and being camped under the guns of the fort, were
therefore at the mercy of the Astorians. McKenzie's plan was
to man the bastions, load and point the guns, and with the
gates shut, give the Nor'-Westers two hours to decide either to
sign the bills of exchange, or break off the negotiations alto-
gether, and remove to other quarters. This suggestion was
acted upon, and the Nor’-Westers were brought to terms—the
bills were finally and formally signed, and Astoria passed into
the hands of the North-West Company on the 12th Novem-
ber, (another account says the 23rd October), 1813.

A few of the Astorfans joined the service of the North-
West Company, amongst. others, McDougall, and this cireum-

stance gave rise to'a suspicion that he had been acting all
)
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along in the interests of the British and against the Ameri-
cans, but judging from the man’s reputation for honesty, this
is not at all likely. Mr. John Stuart, soon after the transfer,
started in company with McKenzie for the interior to take
over the posts of the Pacific Fur Company, which was accom-
plished in December, and from that timew&e North-West
Company reigned supreme west of the mountains, with Fort
(ieorge, the name by which Astoria was re-christened as their'
head-quarters. ' ¢
The long-wished-for ship, Isauc Todd, did not arrive as ex-
pected, and Mr. John Stuart with a party went again to the
posts of the interior with such merchandise as he could collect
at the fort, for the purpose of supplying goods for the winter’s
trade. On ‘that trip a great deal of opposition was exper-
ienced from certain tribes of Indians along the Columbia, and

it required much firmness and courage on the part of Mr.

Stuart and his companions to accomplish their mission.
When goods were stolen, which they were on several occasions,
the savages were compelled to return the articles, and until
this was done the women and children of the tribe were seized,
and kept as hostages. By such means, and presenting a well-
guarded front to the enemy night and day, the Nor'-Westers
succeedl®d in pushing through without any bloodshed of im-
portance. But these trips to the interior at that time were
always fraught with much danger and hardship, so much
80, that carrying on the fur trade on the west of the moun-
tains was a most difficult and expensive matter. Indeed to
Judge from the following letter written by Mr. John Stuart in
.April, 1815, it would appear that the operations of the North-
West Company on the Pacific were not of a satisfactory char-
acter, ever after they had succeeded in getting rid of the op-

position of\the Astorians.
J
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\ The following is the extract from Mr. Stuart’s letter :—* 1
| find that the affairs of the Columbia appear to be getting from

ad-towarse ; and the many difficulties and hardships, added
to(the dangers peculiar to that unfortunate department, are hard
o
result ()Tt?\' expedition of this spring to and from Fort George.

Although tlje various encounters you ha\'e had with the natives

ar, and will keep me particularly anxious until 1 hear the

should havé taught them to res ect the whites, and convince
them that nothing is to be gained by force: yet as the attack
of last autumn was both daring and premeditated, I am afraid
it is but the forerunner of greater aggression. You will, how-
ever, have one great advantage in the spring, which is, that if
the natives be at that season numerous along the communica-
tion, it must be with a hostile design, and, perhaps, by begin-
ning the assault yourselves, you will be able to counteract its
effects. Plausible, however, as this may appear in theory, it
might probably have a very different effect in' practice. |
shall, therefore, leave off my advice, lest you might say to rhe
what Hannibal did to the pedant.”

Mr. Stuart was at that time in charge of New Caledonia, a
very extensive district, extending from 52° to 55° nerth, and
communicating with the Athabasca department by Peace
River. From his letter it would seem as if affairs in that part
of the country were carried on more peacefully a:d satisfac-
torily than on the Columbja.

The North-West Company, howevér, continued to meet with
many difficulties, and instead of trying to conciliate the In-
dians, they adopted a high-handed course which made matters
worse. Added to this, the Hudson’s Bay Company comme.ced
to use more energetic measures to extend their trade, and,

taking a leaf out of the Nor’-Westers’ book, they began to em-
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ploy Canadians in place of their Orkney men, the result be-
ing that they soon pushed their trade into districts hitherto
monopolized by the North-West Company. Forts were taken
by assault; the Indians bribed to take part in the war;

bloodshed and cruelty to ‘prisoners ensued, and every species

of barbarity used to each other by men who, in any other
itives course of life, or under different circumstances, would have re-

R

vinee
ttack
fraid

garded such deeds with abhorrence. Such a state of affairs
{could not last long, and in 1821 the long and violent opposi-
tion between the North-West and Hudson’s Bay Companies

how- ceased by their coalition, when all the results of the Nor'-

hat if

Westers’ efforts on the Pacific passed under the management
mica-

and was carried on afterwards in the name of the Hudson’s

egin- Bay Company.

In 1839 the Hudson’s Bay Company entered
into an arrangement with Russia for the lease of Alaska, and
their trading posts were established at all eligible points from

Behring Sea on the north to San Francisco to the south.
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wy, it
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Thus the Hudson’s Bay Company as the inheritor and repre-
sentative of all previous fur companies, played an important
part in the early history of the western territory, within the
limits of the Dominion.
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The adventurers and explorers in the
PO&('*‘

service of the company undertook the most fatiguing jour-
neys, and evineed the greatest fortitude in exposing themselves
to hardships, privation and danger. It was they who held
possession of the territory on both sides of the Rocky Moun-
tains. They were for many years the only civilized occupants

of both banks of the Columbia, from its sources to its mouth,
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and it was not their fault that this region is not noy-part of
the Dominion. They held their ground in Oregon and Wash-
ington T erritory, under the British flag, until they were com-
pelled to relinquish their hold by the treaty of 1846, and, but
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for the discoveries made under the authority of the fur com-
panies, New Caledonia or British Columbia would never have
existed, and Canada would be shut out from access to the
Pacific. It was only in 1860 that the Hudson’s Bay Company
finally abandoned its various establishments in Oregon and
Washington Territory, and the movable property not disposed

of was transferred to Fort Victqrig, on Vancouver Island, the
point at which, as headquarters, the operations of the company
west of the mountains have since been centred and carried on.

THE }
Scoteh, v
ceiving t
pective re
and this,
with a w
the exeit
resulted i
in their I
of the co
prineipall
that there
When thé
officers an
decessors
among the
ed in proj
outnumbe
de bois an
being larg
mixed, in
\'i\‘ucity, 1
these Fren



com-

have
o the
\pany

1 and

posed

d, the
\pany

ed on.

CHAPTER X.
THE SELKIRK SETTLEMENT.

THE youths employed by the North-West Company, chiefly
Scotch, were articled as apprentice clerks, for seven years: re-
ceiving their subsistence and one hundred pounds. The pros-
pective reward of their toil and fideligy was to become partners,
and this, as we have slt;en.dy shewn, induced them to work
with a will, while the life of adventure which they led, and
the excitement and novel scenes incident to the fur trade
resulted in attaching them firmly to it, Indian maidens cast
in their lot with those clerks, and with the wintering partners
of the company, and it was the offspring of these and others,
principally Canadians, French fathers and Indian mothers,
that there came to be such a numerous progeny of half-breeds.
When the Hudson’s Bay Company entered the country, their
officers and servants followed the course pursued by their pre-

decessors Of the North-West Company, in having wives from

among the natives, and the popylation of mixed blood increas-
ed in proportion. The half-byeeds, of French parentage, far
outnumbered those of the English and Scotch, the coureurs
de bois and voyagew:s, who were chiefly of Canadian origin,
being largely in excess of other nationalities, and from their
mixed, inherited, and transmitted qualities, their abandon,
vivacity, recklessness and ready affiliation with Indian ways,
these French half-breeds were held to be superior for the ser-

2
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vice required by the fur trade. At one time, the North- West
Company, and later on the Hudson’s Bay Company, had over
two thousand of this unique class of employés, going and
coming; toiling after a rollicking fashion, paddling and rowing
the canoe or the boat, threading the reedy marshes, running
the cascades, crossing the portage with their burdens, trailing
along the cataracts, bearing all the stern severities of winter
in the woods, driving dog-sleds, camping in snowdrifts, ready

on their return for wild carousals and dances, parting with

the year’s gains for finery or frolic, wild and improvident in

their nature, but faithful to their employers.

In the rivalry and strife between the two great fur com-
panies these half-breeds played a prominent part, and were
often the tools of their superiors in the many lawl 38) deeds
committed about that time. It was not, however, intfl Lord
Selkirk appeared upon the scene that any s outrages
were perpetrated by the companies upon each other, and it is
about that period in the history of the North-West that we
are now about to speak.

When the Earl of Selkirk came to the conclusion. that the
Hudson’s Bay Company were masters of the situation, in the
fur trade, he set to work to purchase a controlling interest in
its stock, and ultimately succeeded in obtaining about £40,000
in shares, the capital of the company, at that time being less
than £100,000. This, combined with the fact that near rela-
tives and friends of his were placed on the Board of Directors,
practically gave him unlimited control, and he hastened to
take advantage of it in favor of a scheme of colonization
which he had in view.

At a general court of the company, convened in May, 1811,

the proprietors were informed that the governor and commiit-
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) ’
West ™ tee recommended a grant, in fee simple, of 116,000 square

o,

‘miles of territory to the Earl of Selkirk; on condition that he

should establish a colony thereon, and furnish, on certain terms

. over
r and

wing such laborers as were required by the company in their trade.

This was opposed by a number of the proprietors, but, not-
withstanding their protest, Lord Selkirk succeeded in obtain-
ing the grant which is described as follows :—*“ Beginning at
the western shores of Lake Winnipeg, at a point on 52° 30’
north latitude, and thenee running due west to Lake Winni-
pegoosis, otherwise called Lake Winnipeg ; thence in a south-
erly direction through said lake, so as to strike its western
shore in latitude 52°; thence due west to the place where the
were parallel 52° intersects the western branch of the Red River,
deeds otherwise called the Assiniboine River:; thence due south

Lord
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from that point of intersection to the heights of land which
separate the waters running into the Hudson’s Bay from those
of the Missouri and the Mississippi Rivers; thence in an Rt
erly direction along the height of land to the sources of the
River Winnipeg, meaning by such last named river the pyjn-
cipal branch of the waters which unite in the Lake Saginagas:
thence along the main stream of those waters, and the mi«id!e
of the several lakes through which they flow, to the mouth of
the Winnipeg River, and thence in a northerly direction
through the middle of Lake Winnipeg to the place of begin-
*rela- ning, which territory is called Assiniboia.”

setors, The grant of land having been obtained, Lord Selkirk issued
a prospectus, which, being well calculated to quicken the spirit
of emigration prevailing at that time, was circulated in Ire-

land and in the highlands of Scotland. The scheme was to
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nmit-

induce a number of the people in those parts to join the
colony which it was proposed to establish in the North-West,
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and the man appointed to. carry it out was Captain Miles
Macdonell. Stornoway was the place selected for the assem-
bling of the colonists, and there, in May, 1811, a number of
Irish and Scotch congregated to await the coming of the ships
in which they were to embark for Hudson’s Bay. The vessels
did not arrive until June, and by that time a number of the
emigrants had become dissatisfied with the prospect before
them, and were prepared to desert. When, therefore, the day
came for them to embark, a number refused to go, and others,
after going on board, demanded to be put on shore.

In a’letter addressed by Captain Miles Macdonell to Lord
Selkirk, on the 4th July, 1811, he complains of the high wages
promised to some of the colonists by the captain of the ship,
and on the 25th, writing again to his Lordship, he gives some
account of the dissatisfaction existing among them, and the
causes that gave rise to it. He blames an article in the In-
verness Journal, which was circulated in the Orkneys and
Highlands, and which he deseribes in the following words:
“ If that piece originated in London, I should expect to find in
it more candor, knowledge of the country, and regard to
truth than it contains: but some part is not unlike the lan-
guage that was held out there to discourage and dissuade
people from embarking in the enterprise.”

An attempt had evidently been made by interested parties

on shore to sow discontent in the mimln of the emigrants, the

result being that a number refused to go, and a certain Capt.
McKenzie, whom Macdonell desceribes as a mean fellow, visited
the ships, and endcavoured to induce others to return to shore.
But he was not allowed on board, and, as his boat lay along-
side one of the vessels, a sailor, it is said, dropped a nine-

pound round shot through the bottom, causing the gallant
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captain to return to land to avoid sinking. The irritated Me-
Kenzie sent a challenge to Capt. Roderick, the commander of
the ship, who paid no attention to it, and a fair wind spring-
ing up in the night, he set sail. Miles Macdonell, in his letter
to Lord Selkirk, blames the customs authorities for the
trouble that took place, but there is very little doubt that
those opposed to the colonization scheme were at the bottom

of it. Maedonell writes: “ This, my Lord, is a most unfor-

tunate business. I cannot now state what number we may be

able to take along, the delay for these last two days by the -
customs house has occasioned all this, and the manifest part
taken by the collector, his friends and adherents, against this
business.” In another letter, he says: “ Mrs. Reid, wife of the
collector at Stornoway, is aunt to Sir Alexander McKenzie,
and he called Captain McKenzie, is married to a daughter of
the collector ; these, with all their adherents, are in a united
opposition to Mr. Robertson, and perhaps influenced, in some
degree, from London to act as they did.” It would seem,
then, from this that the North-West Company had even thus
ecarly in the day endeavoured to put obstacles in the way of
Lord Selkirk’s enterprise.

The expedition, however, sailed from Stornoway on the
26th July, 1811, and arrived at York Factory on the 24th
September, after a passage of 61 days, at that time the long-
est and latest ever known to Hudson's Bay. In a letter to
Lord Selkirk, dated the 1st October, Miles Macdonell writes :
“1 forward a general return of the number of men, effective
and non-effective, according to the lists which have reached
e ; by this your Lordship will see our strength at one view,
and deficiency from non-appearance and desertion : our total
numbers on board all the ships amount only to 90 laborers
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and 15 writers, including Mr. Bourke ; making a grand total be resort
of 105, exclusive of us who embarked at Gravesend.” This conduet |
band was composed of people from Ireland, Orkney and Glas- on our g
gow, the latter, it appears, being the most turbulent and dis- The G
satisfied. ‘ most troi

In November, Miles Macdonell, with a number of the emi- was oblig
grants, moved to a point on the Nelson River, about fifty the 19th
miles from its mouth, and wintered there and from all ac- “1 am h
counts they suffered from many hardships, through insuffici- have at |

ency of provisions, disease, and other causes. ' Insubordination have thr

and discontent among the colonists appeared, and the leaders tee, so th
of the expedition had much difficulty in quieting them. It is of the 12
evident also from letters written at the time that Macdonell tory on 2
looked forward to troublesome times ahead, and he does not Mr. Auld
/conceal his opinion that the North-West Company would do provision
all in their power to destroy the proposed settlement on the cisive con
Red River. He thus writes on 25th December to Mr. William writers, (
Auld, the Hudson’s Bay Superintendent at York Factory : river, as |
“Were we to form a judgment of all Indians by the present themselve
inoffensive and docile state of the natives in the vicinity of to a prop
the shores of Hudson’s Bay, a full security mig};t be reposed far well ;
in their friendship; but the Ossineboine lmtionl, into whose taking an
country we are going, are represented as among the most Thus e

warlike Indians of North America. We have already been fore leav

R e e

threatened in London with those people by a person that sent to [

knows them well (Sir Alexander McKenzie), and who has found the

s
pledged himself in the most unequivocal and decisive manner may justl

to oppose the establishment of this colony by all means in his be of the

et

-

power. The London merchants connected with the North- and gold

West Company are inimical to it, and I have reason to expect sis, immed

that every means the N. W. Co. can attempt to thwart it will ship migh
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be resorted to—to what extent their influence may direct the

conduet of the nations is to me uncertain, and justifies being

on our guard at all points.”

The Glasgow colonists seem to have given Macdonell the
most trouble during the winter and following spring, and he
was obliged to resort to harsh measures with them, but on
the 19th June, 1812, he writes to Lord Selkirk as follows:
“1 am happy to inform your Lordship that the insurgents
have at length come to terms, acknowledged their guilt, and
have thrown themselves entirely at the mercy of the commit-
tee, so that none of them shall now be sent home for the affair
of the 12th February. They crossed from here to the Fac-
tory on 24th May, and thought the ice too unsafe to return.
Mr. Auld turned them out of the factory, and refused them
provisions until they surrendered their arms. By this de-
cisive conduet towards them, having no leader, the Glasgow
writers, Carswell, Fisher and Brown, being on this side the
river, a8 likewise Mr. Finlay, who had remained behind, find-
themselves destitute and unsupported, they immediately came
to a proper sense of their situation and submitted. This is so
far well ; they are, however, lost to us, as 1 cannot think of
taking any of them to Red River settlement.”

Thus ended the insubordination for the time being, and be-
fore leaving their quarters on the Nelson River, Macdonell
sent to Lord Selkirk, samples of stone and sand which he
found there and which he thus deseribes: “ Mr. Bourke, who
may justly claim the merit of the discovery, supposes them to
be of the most valuable kinds. .Diamonds, rubies, ete., ete.,
and gold dust. Should they be found valuable on their analy-
sis, immediate advantage ought to be taken of it. Your Lord-
ship might obtain a grant of the Nelson with a mile on each
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side of it, from the H. B. Co. I have enjoinkd the closest for their
secrecy on Mr. Bourke, and no person here has the least idea to which
of the matter. We may make further important discoveries Accordin
in gning up.”  Nothing however, came of this, as the dia- with fat
monds and rubies did not prove to be genuine. almost i

For several months the colonists remained at York Factory, after mu
having returned there from their winter-quarters, and early tance, the
in July, the party, now much diminished in numbers from one in tents
cause or another, made a start for the Red River country, May, 181

arriving there early in August. The men who composed this and bein

band of pioneers, were picked from the party of emigrants For some
who left Stornoway, in July, 1811, on account of their good and they
behaviour and faithful discharge of their duties. They were post, whi

chiefly men from the island of Lewis, who, although not in procuring

any way exempted from the trials and privations undergone husband
by their companions, yet, throughout all these trying times, voluntari
exhibited an unconquerable spirit of patient endurance and Early i
were ever ready to obey their supériors. Mr. Auld, the super- of recruit
intendent, did not overlook this exemplary conduct, for on the in June,

first-opportunity that offered, he representéd these men’s good Company

i e

behaviour to the committee, and that honorable body present- young my

ed, through their agents in Stornoway, each of their parents No deser

e

with the sum of five pounds sterling, as a substantial token of during tk
their approbation of the young men’s merits. mutineers

On the arrival of the first batch of Lord Selkirk’s colonists the ship a
at Red River, in August, 1812, they were met by a party of them, but

e = e

employés of the North-West Company, disguised in the dress ment was

of Indians, who warned them that they were unwelcome vis- ship reacl

= e

itors. The appearance and manner of the Nor'-Westers seem- August.

ed to be so hogtile and menacing, that the settlers became Yy
frightened and ready to adopt any proposition made to them - i:'m:hu‘:

B T =
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for their safety. It was then resolved to move on to Pembina,
to which place the disguised Indians offered to conduct ti’nem.
Accordingly, the Scotch colonists, already nearly worn out
with fatigue, were obliged to undertake another journey,
almost immediateis' 1 their arrival at the Red River, and
after much suffering?through having to walk the entire dis-
tance, they arrived at Pembina, where they passed the winter
in tents and huts, and lived on the products of the chase” In
May, 1813, they returned to their colony on the Red River,
and being undisturbed, commenced the labors of agriculture.
For some time the North-West Company did not molest them,
and they succeéded in erecting buildings and establishing a
post, which was named Fort Douglas, but, the difficulty in
procuring sufficient food, dread.of the winter, and a desire to
husband .their seed for another year, caused them to return
voluntarily to Pembina, in the Autumn of 1813,

Early in 1813, Lord Selkirk visited Ireland, for the purpose
of recruiting colonists for his settlement on the Red River, and
in June, a party of Irish emigrants for the Hudson's Bay
Company’s service, with several newly married couples and
young men from the western islands of Scotland, left Sligo.
No desertions took place this season, but a mutiny occurred
during the voyage, which came near being successful. The
mutineers intended seizing the captain and crew, and taking
the ship and cargo to some port for the purpose of disposing of
them, but their conspiracy being discovered, its accomplish-
ment was prevented, the conspirators overpowered and the
ship reached York Factory in safety, during the month of
August. A Mr. Owen Keveny® had been placed in charge of

* Mr. Keveney returned to the North-West from Ireland, in the fall of 1815, and the follow-

ing year, was killed by an Indian, his brutal conduct to the men under his charge, being the
cause which led to the murder.
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this party by Lord Selkirk, and he, it is said, was somewhat
of a martinet in dealing with the’ colonists, but, judging from
the condict of a few of them during the voyage, it would ap-
pear as if the strictest discipline was necessary.

We must now refer to Mr. or rather, Father Bourke, whom
we have already mentioned as the individual who found the
supposed diamonds and rubies at ihe Nelson encampment, in
1812. It seems that he did not accompany the first party to
Red River, but returned to Ireland, when Miles Macdonell
wrote of him as follows: “To Mr. Bourke, I have granted
leave to go home at his own desire and enclose his letter. He
was only an encumbrance to me, irregular and eccentrie in his
conduct as a clergyman. He has no sway over his flock, and
religion is turned to ridicule among strangers. If he can do
any good to the colony in Ireland, it is well; as a priest, he
can be of no service here, particularly in the infancy of the
settlement ; and I hope Your Lordship will not be in haste to
send him out to us.” ;

But it would seem as if Father Bourke accompanied the
second party of emigrants in 1813, and it is said married a
couple on that occasion at York Factory. He however re-
turned in the ship that brought him out, and never went
further inland than the encampment on Nelson River, yet he
had the credit of being the first minister of religion from the

British Isles who ever set foot on the shores of Hudson Bay.

It is a

singular coincidence that the second batch of emigrants had to

his party and consigned his charge to Miles McDonell.

In October, 1813, Mr. Keveney arrived at Red R'\\"vr with

make their way to Pembina like the first, almost immediately
after their arrival at Fort Douglas. Provisions Jhad been

scarce previous to their coming, but their presence rjade mat-
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p

ters worse, and so the whole colony proceeded south to their
winter-quarters. The winter proved a hard one, and although
in justice to the officers of the North-West Company, it must
be said that they assisted the settlers with food, and in other
ways the sufferings of the new comers weré very great. So
much so, that they‘ resolved never to ret@rn to Pembina again.

In the meantime, Lord Selkirk was busy at home securing
fresh emigrants for his colony, and about that time the Duch-
ess of Sutherland commenced the cruel policy of driving many
of her tenants from their Qe happy homes to make room for
extensive sheep-tracts. A number of these unhappy people
were induced to join the Selkirk colony, and in the Summer
of 1813, sailed from Stremness for Hudson’s Bay. During the

voyage, fever broke out among the passengers, and when

they arrived at their destination, the party of Scotch emi-

grants were in a dreadful condition, and utterly unfit to
undergo the overland journey to Red River, many of them
dying before and after landing, and the remainder being so
worn”out with sickness, were obliged to remain at t)lj; Bay
the whole of the following winter. From all unts it
would appear that these poor people were not pmzfly cared
for by the agents of Lord Selkirk, and that the food and shel-
ter provided were totally inadequate for. their comfort or pro-
tection from the severities of the weather. After spending a
wost miserable winter at Churchill and York Factory, the sur-
vivors of this third batch of emigrants started in the summer
of 1814, for Red River, arriving there early in autumn: A
few days after their arrival, each head of a family was put in
possession of 100 acres of land, but there were neither imple-
ments to till the soil, nor a sufficiency of food to be had.
Added to this the settlement was on the eve of a series of
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disturbances which shortly afterwards resulted in the destruc-
tion of the colony by the servants of the North-West
Company.

It seems that a few months before the arrival of this last
batch of emigrants, Mr. Miles McDonell, who had been appoint-
ed Governor by Lord Selkirk, issued the following proclama-
tion :

Whereas the Right Honorable Thomas Earl of Selkirk i<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>